DISSERTATION

APPLYING MODEL-BASED SYSTEMS ENGINEERING IN SEARCH OF QUALITY BY DESIGN

Submitted by Andrew R. Miller Department of Systems Engineering

In partial fulfillment of the requirements For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Colorado State University Fort Collins, Colorado Spring 2022

Doctoral Committee:

Advisor: Daniel R. Herber

Thomas Bradley Erika Miller Steve Simske Azer P. Yalin Copyright by Andrew R. Miller 2022

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

APPLYING MODEL-BASED SYSTEMS ENGINEERING IN SEARCH OF QUALITY BY DESIGN

Model-Based System Engineering (MBSE) and Model-Based Engineering (MBE) techniques have been successfully introduced into the design process of many different types of systems. The application of these techniques can be reflected in the modeling of requirements, functions, behavior, and many other aspects. The modeled design provides a digital representation of a system and the supporting development data architecture and functional requirements associated with that architecture through modeling system aspects. Various levels of the system and the corresponding data architecture fidelity can be represented within MBSE environment tools. Typically, the level of fidelity is driven by crucial systems engineering constraints such as cost, schedule, performance, and quality. Systems engineering uses many methods to develop system and data architecture to provide a representative system that meets costs within schedule with sufficient quality while maintaining the customer performance needs. The most complex and elusive constraints on systems engineering are defining system requirements focusing on quality, given a certain set of system level requirements, which is the likelihood that those requirements will be correctly and accurately found in the final system design.

The focus of this research will investigate specifically the Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) in use today to establish and then assess the relationship between the system, data architecture, and requirements in terms of Quality By Design (QbD). QbD was first coined in 1992, Quality by Design: The New Steps for Planning Quality into Goods and Services [1]. This research investigates and proposes a means to: contextualize high-level quality terms within the MBSE functional area, provide an outline for a conceptual but functional quality framework as it pertains to the MBSE DoDAF, provides tailored quality metrics with improved definitions, and then tests this improved quality framework by assessing two corresponding case studies analysis evaluations within the MBSE functional area to interrogate model architectures and assess quality of system design. Developed in the early 2000s, the Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) is still in use today, and its system description methodologies continue to impact subsequent system description approaches [2]. Two case studies were analyzed to show proposed QbD evaluation to analyze DoDAF CONOP architecture quality. The first case study addresses the analysis of DoDAF CONOP of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) ground system for National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) satellite system with particular focus on the Stored Mission Data (SMD) mission thread. The second case study addresses the analysis of DoDAF CONOP of the Search and Rescue (SAR) navel rescue operation network System of Systems (SoS) with particular focus on the Command and Control signaling mission thread. The case studies help to demonstrate a new DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) as a means to investigate quality of DoDAF architecture in depth to include the application of DoDAF standard, the UML/SysML standards, requirement architecture instantiation, as well as modularity to understand architecture reusability and complexity. By providing a renewed focus on a quality-based systems engineering process when applying the DoDAF, improved trust in the system and data architecture of the completed models can be achieved. The results of the case study analyses reveal how a quality-focused systems engineering process can be used during development to provide a product design that better meets the customer's intent and ultimately provides the potential for the best quality product.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thank all who contributed, supported, and motivated (removed 'for') the creation of this work. Of note, are Mrs. Ashley L. Miller PMP., Mr. Russell F. Miller, Mr. Kirk Moen, and Mr. Brian Rosa. Mrs. Miller serves as the Director of Missile Defense Agency (MDA) Programs Teams Contract for the Modern Technologies Solutions Inc. (MTSI) Company. Mrs. Miller provided motivation and technical engineering evaluation of this works methodology in application. Mr. Miller serves as Sr. Technical advisor to MDA for the Parson Corporation, and provided technical guidance and motivational support to complete this work. Mr. Moen serves as Sr. System Engineering Team Lead / Architecture Lead at the Boeing Company, and helped provide case studies for analysis within this work. Mr. Rosa serves as Sr. Engineering Manager for Ground Based Midcourse Defense (GMD) program at the Boeing Company, and without his early approval embarking on this journey would not have been possible.

The author would also like to thank Dr. George Collins, members of the committee, and staff of the system engineering department at Colorado State University for expert guidance and quality responsiveness. The author would like to thank Dr. Daniel Herber for picking up where Dr. Collins left off by providing technical guidance allowing the author to complete this work. Finally, the author would also like to thank his spouse and children, whom with their love, support, and sacrifice have made this amazing opportunity possible for the author to achieve.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this dissertation work to my loving family Ashley, Parker, Payton, Piper, and Paxton. Without your love, encouragement, support, and sacrifice I could never have completed this amazing accomplishment.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT iii ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv DEDICATION v LIST OF TABLES v LIST OF FIGURES x			
Chapter 1 1.1 1.2 1.2.1 1.2.2 1.2.3 1.3 1.4 1.5	Introduction1Background2Literary Review2Literary Review Methodology2Literary Analysis Results7Literary Review Conclusion20Problem Statement21Purposed Solution23Chapter 1 Summary25		
Chapter 2 2.1 2.1.1 2.1.2 2.1.3 2.2 2.2.1 2.2.2 2.2.3 2.2.4 2.2.5 2.2.6 2.2.7	Overview of Approach27Systems Engineering, MBSE, and DoDAF Views28Systems Engineering28MBSE29DoDAF Framework32Conceptual Approach39Logical Model40Define Quality by Design for Framework43Metrics Development and Definition45Addressing Subjectivity of Approach to Analysis46Assumptions for Performing Analysis47Approach to Analysis Methods51Statistical Analysis Methods55		
Chapter 3 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6	Conceptual Framework and Overview 70 Framework Development Methodology 70 Framework Design for Modularity Evaluation 71 Framework Defined Profile 81 Framework Plugin and Model Integration 84 Framework Application 86 Framework Complete Roll-up 94		
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2	Joint Polar Satellite System Case Study 98 CONOP for JPSS 98 Key JPSS Terms 106		

4.3	Definition of QbD for JPSS
4.4	DQCF Application to JPSS
4.5	JPSS Element Sampling
4.6	JPSS Analysis Results
4.6.1	Normality Testing And Descriptives
4.6.2	Multicollinearity
4.6.3	Principal Component Analysis
4.6.4	Ordinal Logistic Regression
4.6.5	Modularity Calculation
4.6.6	JPSS Conclusions
Chapter 5	Search and Rescue Case Study
5.1	CONOP for SAR
5.2	Key SAR Terms
5.3	Definition of QbD for SAR
5.4	DQCF Application to SAR
5.5	SAR Element Sampling
5.6	SAR Analysis Results
5.6.1	Normality Testing And Descriptives
5.6.2	Multicollinearity
5.6.3	Principal Component Analysis
5.6.4	Ordinal Logistic Regression
5.6.5	Modularity Calculation
5.6.6	SAR Conclusions
Chapter 6	Summary and Conclusion
6.1	Synthesis of Results
6.2	Summary of Case Studies
6.2.1	Case Study One Summary
6.2.2	Case Study Two Summary
6.3	Conclusions
6.4	Preliminary Validation
6.5	Future Work
6.6	Disclaimer
Appendix A	Quality Characteristic Categories
Appendix B	Joint Polar Satellite System Case Study Additional Data
Appendix C	Search and Rescue Case Study Additional Data
Glossary	
Acronyms	
Bibliography	

LIST OF TABLES

1.1 1.2	Steps of Evaluation. 3 Critical Problems Facing Architecture [3] 21
2.1 2.2	DoDAF Views
3.1 3.2	Elements and Relations Created for Miller's Method [5]
3.3	DoDAF View Weights of Importance
4.1	JPSS DoDAF CONOP Element Counts
4.2	JPSS DoDAF Element Evaluation Count
4.3	JPSS Descriptives
4.4	JPSS Tests of Normality
4.5	JPSS Factors Eliminated due to VIF
4.6	JPSS VIF Calculations
4.7	JPSS Correlation Matrix
4.8	JPSS KMO and Barlett's Test
4.9	JPSS Total Variance Explained
4.10	JPSS Total Variance Matrix Adjusted 2 factor
4.11	JPSS Component Matrix Adjusted 2 Factor
4.12	JPSS Model Fitting Information
4.13	JPSS Goodness-of-Fit
4.14	JPSS Pseudo R-Square
4.15	JPSS Clustering Arrangements
4.16	JPSS Description Length and Ratio for Clustering
5.1	SAR DoDAF CONOP Element Counts
5.2	SAR DoDAF Element Evaluation Count
5.3	SAR Descriptives
5.4	SAR Tests of Normality
5.5	SAR Factors Eliminated due to VIF
5.6	SAR VIF Calculations
5.7	SAR KMO and Barlett's Test
5.8	SAR Total Variance Explained
5.9	SAR Component Matrix
5.10	SAR Model Fitting Information
5.11	SAR Correlation Matrix
5.12	SAR Goodness-of-Fit
5.13	SAR Pseudo R-Square
5.14	SAR Clustering Arrangements
5.15	SAR Description Length and Ratio for Clustering

6.1 6.2	JPSS Quality and Degree of Modularity
B .1	National Polar-orbiting Operational Environmental Satellite System (NPOESS) Acronyms
	List
B.2	JPSS Correlations Matrix
B.3	JPSS Component Matrix
B.4	JPSS Total Variance Explained Adjusted 3 Factor
B.5	JPSS Component Matrix Adjusted 3 Factor
B.6	JPSS Parameter Estimates
B.7	Probability for JPSS Response
C .1	SAR Abbrevations
C.2	SAR Correlations Matrix
C.3	SAR Parameter Estimates
C.4	Probability for SAR Response

LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	Percentage Cost of Each Phased Doc-Based Approach [6]	10
2.1	DoD 5000 Life-Cycle Model Development Standard [7]	29
2.2	Systems Engineering Life-Cycle Model [8]	30
2.3	Systems Modeling Language (SysML) to Department of Defense Architecture Frame-	
	work (DoDAF) Diagram Mapping	34
2.4	Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) Development Timeline [4].	35
2.5	Framework Logical Model.	41
2.6	QbD Concept Mapping to DoDAF	43
2.7	DoDAF Quality Assessment SME Model	48
2.8	Methodology Metric Data Extraction	52
2.9	Simple DoDAF Quality Assessment Activity Flow	54
2.10	Dependent and Independent Variables for Analysis	58 65
2.11	PCA Loading Plot Example [9]	63
3.1	Network Diagram Understanding for DoDAF Example	74
3.2	Requirement Transformation Analysis of Elements and Relations	76
3.3	DoDAF CONOP Modularity Clustering Approach	78
3.4	Modularity Design Structure Matrix Example	80
3.5	Functional Requirement Volatility Over Life-cycle [10]	81
3.6	Systems Engineering Life-Cycle Standard Comparisons	82
3.7	DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile Relation to Standard	83
3.8	Conceptual Framework DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile	85
3.9	Plugin Execution Activity Diagram [11]	86
3.10	DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) Activity Outline	93
3.11	DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile Applied Example	94
3.12	Dissertation Outline to Formulate DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework Development	95
4.1	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Operational View OV-1	99
4.2	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Operational View OV-2/OV-5a Combined .	100
4.3	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Capability View CV-1	101
4.4	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Capability Taxonomy View CV-2	102
4.5	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF System Functionality Description SV-1	104
4.6	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Conceptual Data Model or DIV-1	105
4.7	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF QbD Mapping	109
4.8	DoDAF Conceptual Framework as Used Project in JPSS Model	110
4.9	JPSS DoDAF CONOP Element View Percentage	113
4.10	JPSS Eigenvalue Scree Plot	124
4.11	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Two factor Loading Plot	126
5.1	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Operational View OV-1	142
5.2	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Operational View OV-2	143

5.3	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Operational View OV-5a	144
5.4	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Capability View CV-1	145
5.5	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Capability Taxonomy View CV-2	146
5.6	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF System Functionality Description SV-1	147
5.7	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Conceptual Data Model or DIV-1	148
5.8	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Logical Data Model or DIV-2	148
5.9	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF QbD Mapping	152
5.10	DoDAF Conceptual Framework as Used Project in SAR Model	153
5.11	SAR DoDAF CONOP Element View Percentage	155
5.12	SAR Eigenvalue Screen Plot	168
5.13	SAR DoDAF Two factor Loading Plot	170
B .1	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF OV-5b SMD Diagram View	209
B.2	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF SV-4 Functional Flow SMD Diagram View	210
B.3	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF CONOP Element Counts for Stored Mis- sion Data (SMD)	211
B .4	IPSS DEO Mean Histogram	211
B.5	JPSS Normal O-O Plot DEO Mean	212
B.6	JPSS Detrended Normal O-O Plot DEO Mean	212
B.7	JPSS LEO Mean Histogram	212
B.8	JPSS Normal Q-O Plot LEO Mean	213
B.9	JPSS Detrended Normal O-O Plot LEO Mean	213
B .10	JPSS REQ Mean Histogram	213
B .11	JPSS Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Mean	214
B.12	JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Mean	214
B.13	JPSS DEQ Median Histogram	214
B .14	JPSS Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Median	215
B.15	JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Median	215
B.16	JPSS LEQ Median Histogram	215
B .17	JPSS Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Median	216
B .18	JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Median	216
B.19	JPSS REQ Median Histogram	216
B.20	JPSS Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Median	217
B.21	JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Median	217
B.22	Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF QbD Three factor Loading Plot	219
C.1	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF OV-5b Sample Diagram View	237
C.2	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF SV-4 Sample Diagram View	238
C.3	Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF CONOP Element Counts for Command and Con-	
	trol Signal	239
C.4	SAR DEQ Mean Histogram	239
C.5	SAR Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Mean	240
C.6	SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Mean	240
C.7	SAR LEQ Mean Histogram	240
C.8	SAR Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Mean	241

C.9	SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Mean
C .10	SAR REQ Mean Histogram
C.11	SAR Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Mean
C.12	SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Mean
C.13	SAR DEQ Median Histogram
C.14	SAR Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Median
C.15	SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Median
C.16	SAR LEQ Median Histogram
C.17	SAR Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Median
C.18	SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Median
C.19	SAR REQ Median Histogram
C.20	SAR Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Median
C.21	SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Median

Chapter 1

Introduction

As systems engineering exists today, difficulties exist in the reasoning to justify the application of using MBSE for the system design process. It is impossible to overstate the speed with which the fourth industrial revolution Industry 4.0 is gaining pace as a growing and increasing component of information with an emphasis on merging the physical-to-digital and digital-to-physical worlds is gaining momentum [12]. According to an article, recently published January 2022 in An Introduction to Cyber Analysis and Targeting stated the Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) is still in use today, and its system description methodologies continue to impact subsequent system description approaches [2]. The struggles stem from the many interpretations of the Unified Modeling Language (UML) and Systems Modeling Language (SysML) base languages, application to system design, and evaluation methods. Even with many frameworks or architectures following the same general design process, there is still a lack of understanding of a system's model "good" quality design. Additionally, questions arise on how the design team knows if the design is good? What are some of the contributing factors for driving quality? And what methods exist for trend evaluation of the system design process? The lack of tying systems engineering quality methodologies to analyze the design development process lacks an MBSE application to DoDAF architecture's. Quality tie in the MBSE environment and provide a unique ability to interpret how well a model design meets the customer expectations. This dissertation aims to provide a methodical, researched, re-contextualized technical approach to DoDAF architecture quality within MBSE architecture practices. The dissertation provides validation quality and confidence in the system design to all stakeholders. This initial chapter provides background context to frame the content of the study and dissertation work.

1.1 Background

The re-contextualized concept mapping of Quality By Design (QbD) includes a high-level definition of terms, outline for conceptual framework, tailored quality metric definitions, and corresponding case study evaluation within MBSE practices providing a proven validation of the quality of the system requirements and ultimately the design. The technical approach enables engineering teams to truly understand where quality comes into play for the system design in developing a model. The high-level definition of terms helps to understand the technical data needed to meet the QbD [1]. The QbD phase was first coined in the 1992 publication of Juran on Quality by Design: The New Steps for Planning Quality into Goods and Services [1]. The paper describes a method for understanding knowledge-based decisions associated with quality, systematic approaches to process development for quality, and continuous process improvement [1]. The dissertation outlines a conceptual framework consisting of model-based delineation of Juran's quality ontology mapped to the DoDAF architecture ontology. A tailored quality metric definition process illustrates how to define metrics in terms that identify quality aspects for DoDAF Architecture. Case studies illustrate the practical application of a quality-based conceptual framework application to designed systems for evaluation purposes. The primary elements of the dissertation include literary review supported by practical application of the conceptual framework to DoDAF architecture case study models evaluating quality.

1.2 Literary Review

The following section contains the literary review conducted to investigate solutions to the problem presented in this dissertation.

1.2.1 Literary Review Methodology

The literary review was conducted following a systematic review process designed by Denyer and Tranfield tailored to fit the author's need [13]. The research was driven by research questions formulated during the preliminary exam process and presented to the dissertation committee during the formal presentation. The review process followed a pre-established protocol for analyzing each document or material to provide a broad scientific basis of the current state of academia and industry around model-based systems engineering within the context of quality. The methodology consists of several steps described in Table 1.1 located in this section and attempts to answer research questions using a formulated step process through the collection of data sources, a selection evaluation process, a data recording template, and a results area where the details of the literature review will be discussed.

Step Number	Description
Step 1	Formulation of research questions. Guiding research ques-
	tions were formulated. (Section 1.2.1)
Step 2	Selection of data sources. A set of reference materials
	were selected from various DoD sources, Libraries, and
	Databases were selected for the search. (Section 1.2.1)
Step 3	Selection and evaluation of literature. An initial evaluation
	to confirm that the selected material met the inclusion cri-
	teria was performed. (Section 1.2.1)
Step 4	Data recording. Relevant papers identified in Step 3 were
	evaluated, extracting and recording data addressing MBSE
	benefits and the potential benefits provided by quality met-
	rics. (Section 1.2.1)
Step 5	Reporting of results to contextualize the Problem State-
	ment. (Section 1.2.2)

Table 1.1: 5	Steps of Evaluation
--------------	---------------------

Research Questions

The literary review and research questions were established to understand the existing evidence about quality related to MBSE with a particular focus on the DoDAF architectural framework. Three central research questions help to guide the context of the literary review. The questions are as follows:

- Research Question 1: How does DoDAF relate to systems engineering methods of analysis for a quality-based design for a weapon system? The question reaches into the multiobjective comparisons of related MBSE architecture data.
- Research Question 2: What are the main factors in developing an MBSE conceptual framework that provides good systems engineering analysis? Establish the link between design methodology for a conceptual framework and how it relates or can relate to quality.
- 3. <u>Research Question 3:</u> What are the metrics that are significant in assessing an approach that correlates quality of design with an MBSE architecture? Systems engineering and programmatic are critical to the establishment of effective quality management. The quality metrics help translate stakeholder needs into acceptable measures of both products and processes for a system design.

The literary review's primary focus was to survey current literature to evaluate the extent of evidence about quality related to MBSE and DoDAF (see Section 1.2.2).

Data Sources

For the literature review, several different data sources focused on systems engineering, architectural design, systems engineering quality, and architectural design quality. These areas helped to narrow the focus for digital database searches, library reference material, DoD manuals, and military standards specifications and are described as follows:

- Journals, Articles, and Conference Proceedings: Journals and conference proceedings were selected based on search criteria associated with keywords and phrases listed in Section 1.2.1 related to quality literature. Some sources include Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics (AIAA), International Council on Systems Engineering (INCOSE), etc.
- Military document and standards: Military standards are typically referred to as a means for the Department of Defense to standardize information associated with a particular cat-

egory. Some of these articles are released by various military branches, including Army, Navy, Air Force, and Marine Corps. These documents help ensure Department of Defensegenerated products meet certain commonality, reliability, compatibility, and other aspects of the design of the system.

• **Databases:** Several databases, including the Colorado State University library, were accessed to obtain materials for reference. These databases include Springer link, Wiley online, and many others.

This election does not cover all the potential outlets where the material is published surrounding the topic for this dissertation. The author did consider Government Accountability Office (GAO) reports, PowerPoint presentations, books, and other miscellaneous data sources containing applicable information and cited throughout the dissertation. The data represented in this review is merely a sampling of the overall collective knowledge available within the industry and academia. The author does recognized that some outlier proceedings such as company or organizational private data may exist, but for this literary review, only open-source material or material to which the author had access and permission to use was considered for literary analysis. No proprietary information or other such type-controlled information was analyzed for this literary review.

Selection and Evaluation

To perform a broad search of the material available, the author used keywords to help scope the return result for the documents and materials to be analyzed. The following phrases were used to provide the return result from database searches, Department of Defense (DoD) libraries, and journal articles. The phrases are as follows:

- Model-Based Systems Engineering (MBSE) methods for quality
- DoDAF models system architecture quality
- Department of Defense (DoD) architectural quality
- Model-Based (MB) quality metrics

- Systems engineering quality metrics
- Design Quality
- Department of Defense (DoD) System Requirement Generation

Once an article was selected, the author performed a read of the body of the paper. Papers used contain closely related information directly to the critical phrases identified above which provided substantial detail relating to the topic of this dissertation. Papers excluded from the literary analysis did not contain any information relating to the understanding of quality within an architectural development understanding. No restriction was placed on the type of architecture quality or associated claim of a quality evaluation. Additionally, no exclusions were based on differentiation of definitions or understanding or context interpretation of what quality means in model-based systems engineering architecture. The author believes that the data sources referenced in the paper contributed the dissertation's overall topic and proof.

For this literary review, the author specifically focused on data related to developing modelbased systems engineering DoDAF architecture, in an un biased environment free from tool implications that might have been used for the development of the architecture, and specifically focused on the Concept of Operations (CONOP) requirements (one of several typical DoD requirements categories used) developed within the architecture to narrow the scope of analysis for each article during the literary review. For the overall development of the CONOP, the CONOP development standard used by the DoD to outline the development of a DoDAF architecture was used to analyze each of the quality understandings for the presented material.

Data Recording

The author, in order to perform a thorough analysis of each paper, a literary template was created, and each document or research material was used to fill out the corresponding template. The criteria that the template help to capture included the following:

• **Research Article:** the research article section included the name, author, title, and a citation for later use within this dissertation.

- **Problem addressed/identified:** this section contained a summary of the problem that the paper attempted to address for later reference by the author.
- **Research contribution:** a research contribution section helps to identify what contributing factors the article or research material provided to academia or industry relating to the topic.
- Aim and objectives: the aim and the objective section helped to better describe what the authors were attempting to accomplish with the article.
- Novelty/rationale and significance: this section helps to capture the critical reasons for understanding the research and focusing on answering why the research was conducted.
- Limitations and weakness: the limitations and weakness section help to describe where the authors found any weakness within the article presented.
- **Finding and conclusions:** defining a conclusion section help to provide a summary of the article's overall findings and includes any significant conclusions that the author reached.
- **Future work:** the section of the template included a future work area to understand the potential benefit for future research that was suggested to continue as described in the article.

1.2.2 Literary Analysis Results

The following section of Chapter 1 provides an synopsis of current literature in academia and industry to provide a contextual framework for the problem statement in section 1.3. The literary review outlines topics related to quality to provide context and overall understanding of how this dissertation's DoDAF conceptual quality framework meets the needs of defense industry system engineers. The literary review covers various topics associated with quality for MBSE related to engineering practices specifically addressing DoDAF and the development of Concept of Operations within the DoDAF framework to scope and scale data analysis for the case study applications. The topics associated with quality and addressed within the literary review include: 1) Quality of Models, 2) MBSE Benefits that Drive Quality, 3) MBSE Quality in Defense, 4) MBSE Architectural Frameworks and Quality, 5) MBSE Quality Role in DoDAF Application, 6) MBSE Metrics

and Quality, 7) MBSE Modularity Addressing Quality, 8) MBSE Quality Architecture, and Literary Review Final Conclusion. These topics help to outline understandings and critical concepts the conceptual framework needs to address for DoDAF quality analysis, which are discussed further in Chapter 2.

Quality of Models

Models and their quality have been a significant part of the systems engineering paradigm for many years. Models allow engineering teams to analyze complex problems and develop representative expansive solutions. For several decades, the systems engineering paradigm has relied heavily on computer-based models to provide the analysis and documents to capture the complexity and mathematics associated with system performance and model development. For the most part, the document based data captured resided in disparate locations which made it difficult for engineers and customers to follow the implementation or translate customers' design requirements from one to the other [14]. Quality of the document based models often does not provide a clear picture of how quality engineering of the model is captured or accurately reported. With the advancement of computer technology, modeling the engineering task became easier and was able to graphically relate and connect the disparate data. Even with the advancement of MBSE, maintaining cost still affects how detailed a model can be to capture the complexity of systems or their quality. The American Society for Quality translates a Cost of Quality (CoQ) for development as usually around 15 - 20% of product development cost, often as high as 40\% in some cases [15]. CoQ is defined as reflects the financial burden that an organization has as a result of the creation of inferior goods and services [15]. CoQ deals with four aspects of quality 1) prevention, 2) appraisal, 3) internal failure, and 4) external failure [15]. The first two aspects are proactive in nature, in that they work to prevent the faulty items from ever being produced [15]. The latter two aspects are reactive in nature and entail the management of faulty items after they have been produced [15]. In addition to CoQ an inherent problem exists in the establishment of a Configuration Managed (CM) baseline for a systems engineering program digital model. How to maintain the complexity of baselines while giving the customer control without completely stifling the ability of engineers

for rapid analysis or development as well as maintaining quality. Typically, the ability to meet the complexity of system's performance while maintaining cost and schedule is difficult for engineering teams [16]. Handling changes can be simplified by an MBSE approach and was formalized to provide that capability for requirements, analysis, design, verification and validation as early as the conceptual design phase [16]. Model-based methodology developers sought to integrate software, system understanding, and architecture into one tool that would be convenient for engineers and customers [16, 17]. The integration efforts helped to provide an increased rigor to engineering activities essential to improving quality model-based centric approaches [16]. However, even with the combination of Digital Engineering (DE) integrated activities and increased design rigor, adequate model quality can still be lost in the complexity of architecture [16]. Navas continues to state that even with MBSE methodologies being able to connect disparate data in a digital engineering environment, improved quality understanding still needs to be addressed within academia and industry [16].

MBSE Benefits That Drive Quality

As MBSE advanced, many benefits were noticed by the systems engineering academia and industry. These benefits include several advantages over that of typical document basis engineering. The reliance on bookform documents scattered throughout a program with varied interpretations of text can be avoided by the MBSE approach to requirement iteration. Parth Shad research into US defense spending found that nearly 60% of all United States Defense Acquisition Programs are either over budget or have schedule delays [18]. Shad's analysis found that the Government Accountability Office (GAO) found that 61 of 86 programs evaluated showed cost growth of 62.4% or \$542.1 Billion and schedule overruns of 35 months on an average [18]. The remaining 25 programs observed a cost growth of 2.1% or \$5.3 billion and schedule overruns of 9 months [18]. To better understand the disadvantage of traditional systems engineering, the Madni and Purohit paper provides industry knowledge surrounding costing aspects. Typically, document centric approaches to systems engineering traditionally have hidden costs associated with them [6]. Madni and Purohit showed that document based systems engineering methods had a considerable amount of cost developed over time [6]. The savings delivered via MBSE are approximately a 55% reduction in development costs of the typical bookform development [6]. The application of visual and semantically rich modeling language to the systems engineering challenge reduces cost by reducing the effects of system complexity and engineering productivity. The typical concept, design, and development phase were mostly below 10% of the total cost; however testing, and operation of a system through disposal comprised of nearly 80% of the total cost of the program in development [6]. Figure 1.1 below shows the average percentage cost of these engineering phases of a system development over time.



Figure 1.1: Percentage Cost of Each Phased Doc-Based Approach [6]

MBSE has shown a trend of cost savings for critical areas of programs as they are developed [19]. One keynote showed that a small investment in a model-based approach could have saved a large amount of money over the systems life [20]. Understanding MBSE cost savings is just part of the triad of systems engineering triangle. The next disadvantage of document based systems engineering is the inability to fully understand complexity. According to the phasing in system life-cycle processes in IEEE 15288, MBSE can be used to address complexity in system design processes [21]. The phases include technical processes, technical management processes, organizational and agreement processes [21]. The sub processes of the technical management and organizational processes include a quality assurance and management processes [21]. The Submarine Warfare Federal Tactical System (SWFTS) averaged an increase of element material by approximately 30% each month by utilizing the MBSE approach [22]. Additionally, the complexity of an average system, in quantity of requirements and defined interfaces, has grown by 7.5% each year [22]. MBSE has allowed an increase in scope of engineering teams to bring more into the model and bring interconnected data to the finger tips of designers and stakeholders [6].

Even with cost savings and complexity reduction of an MBSE approach over document based systems engineering one of the more difficult areas is quality understanding or application for both MBSE and Systems Engineering. Traditionally, document based systems engineering is difficult to maintain synchronization and assess terms associated with quality, correctness, completeness, and consistency [23]. Traditional document based systems engineering everything is located in different documents and hard to flow the material together. In MBSE the complexity reduction helps to bring the data together in one visible model but still is still vulnerable to quality when describing what is to be integrated or produced by the model. In the Sandia National laboratory literary review of case studies on the justification for model-based systems engineering, some of the case studies showed early improvement in overall quality objectives by enabling early fixes or preventing rework [24]. Even with preventing rework, Carroll showed that the apparent low quality exhibited in the studies presented, should be interpreted with caution and that further investigation or research is needed to fully understand the implications of quality in the systems engineering of model based approaches [24].

MBSE provides advantages over traditional document based systems engineering, but with the benefits, limitations still exist. This section focused on the benefit of MBSE over the traditional document-based systems engineering paradigm and provided views into the complexity of the disadvantages in cost, complexity, and quality. Madni, Mitchell, and Carroll showed that even with the benefits that MBSE provides, quality struggles within modeling paradigms needs to be addressed to meet the need of all stakeholders.

MBSE Quality in Defense

As was illustrated in the previous Section 1.2.2, there are extensive benefits of MBSE but also it is difficult to quantify the application of quality in MBSE. 1.2.2. As defense organizations have started to evolve, MBSE has been at the forefront of development. To better understand what was needed to address the complexities of new defense systems, defense organizations investigated Information Age Warfare (IAW) [25]. The IAW included understandings of information superiority in network-centric warfare [25]. For DoD to address the complexity of new defense systems, several understandings had to be developed. Modern systems are now more softwareintensive, and typically most of the data does not exist in isolation [26]. Knowing that data does not exist singularly, new approaches were developed to capture data in a more meaningful way to make better informed decisions [26]. The un-isolated data led to a fundamental understanding of the development of architectural frameworks discussed in Section 1.2.2. The development of these architectural frameworks come from increased economic pressures to increase the quality of requirement's frameworks and thereby reduce the cost of defense system development [26].

Using MBSE, the Department of Defense (DoD) saw an opportunity to develop a framework to allow commands, services, and defense agencies to have corresponding data across operational, systems, and technical aspects, including international boundaries [27]. The framework approach allowed for a clear and audible trail of measurable characteristics to be populated within the architecture. It also related the operational understandings for new system development [27]. The DoDAF standard was created to provide a means for presenting architectural descriptions integrated for understanding, comparison, and integration in interoperability System of Systems (SoS) concept [27]. It is notable that in 2013, the Department of Defense (DoD) mandated the submission of DoD Architecture Framework (DoDAF) models during a program's Materiel Solution Analysis Phase (MSPAP), where a CONOP is developed, occurs early in the system life cycle and has historically been marked by a lack of system specification and parametric estimation [28]. Standardizing a common architectural development approach ensures inter-organizational cooperation for operational concepts and capabilities [27, 29]. Standardizing helps implement archi-

tectural style in a consistent set of architecture rules for element creation [30]. It also allows for the DoD to anticipate and understand changes in capability needs of currently fielded systems and the need for new systems [27]. The architectural approach allows system designers to simplify, logically, comprehensively, and structurally understand a systems design [27]. By using an architectural framework standard, developed in conjunction with academia and industry for system model development, clear and concise practices can be established. Typically, the translation of architectural standards and traditional systems engineering documentation into the digital engineering model elements introduces ambiguity and programmatic risk to quality of the model is not emphasized [5]. In summation, Kobryn and Sibbald stated that economic pressures help drive the creation of standards for architectonic models to increase quality. Griffin stated that standardization helps to provide approaches and simplification to the development of System Architecture or System Model. However, Miller and Herber stated that even with standardization and simplification for model architecture development, the translation from textual context of document in systems engineering into digital engineering often introduces ambiguity and programmatic risk effecting quality of models developed [5].

MBSE Architecture Frameworks and Quality

As we saw in the previous Section 1.2.2, DoDAF is used to standardize the DoD approach to interoperability of modeling for defense systems [26]. The standardized DoDAF framework provides guidance, ontology, taxonomy, and rules for developing architectural descriptions for defense systems [26]. In addition, the DoDAF standard defines what working products relate directly to architectural development with descriptive views to communicate the intent of the architecture [26]. The DoDAF architectural descriptions have many terms which are associated with descriptive artifacts within the model. The specific terms and views are what convey specific aspects of the architecture to an intended audience [26]. The architecture is based on both UML and SysML languages which provides the associated relationships and stereotypes within the model elements. Views consist of operational, system, standard, and many others [26]. The Operational View (OV) typically evaluates the degree of interoperability between various detailed information exchanges

of the system [26]. In contrast, a system view (SV) identifies how the system can support operational requirements and translates those requirements into system data exchanges related to functions or required operational capabilities [26]. Many other views exist within the DoDAF architectural standard and will be discussed later in Chapter 2 to better scope the focus for analysis purposes of this dissertation. Generally, quality is thought to be implied if the process is followed in the application of the standard. Specifically, within the DoDAF standard, there is no view that directly relates to quality. Quality is simply a byproduct and relies heavily on subjectivity or the expertise of the team applying the standard. The subjectivity in application of the standard occurs and our experiences or perspectives influence decisions in the application [31].

Overall, the DoD has begun the implementation of a standardization of processes to develop a system architectures. However, the processes fall short and fail to address quality and the importance that quality can have on the development of an architecture. The DoD developed standard does not address quality but simply assumes as it is implied if the standard application processes are followed. By taking this approach to quality, the DoD has removed objectivity or logical application and introduced a large amount of subjectivity. As Noxolo stated, subjectivity can be based on individual perspectives and influence decision making process removing the point of standardization. The approach is problematic and needs a methodology to assess quality.

MBSE Quality Role in DoDAF Application

A few fundamentals must be established first to understand the application process for MBSE within the context of DoDAF standard and quality. There is a critical need for skilled system engineers, systems engineering and MBSE [24]. Carroll made the simple observation for the need for MBSE skilled system engineers. If programs are to reap the benefits of the modeling approach using the DoDAF standard, engineers must have a basic understanding of DoDAF and quality to utilize the information generated and integrate the data throughout the developed models [24]. System engineers and members of the design team, including stakeholders, need a MBSE understanding in order to leverage their knowledge in a meaningful way during the development of

the models and resultant system [24]. It is critically important to resist traditional thinking and embrace new knowledge in order to reap the benefits that MBSE provides [24].

As the transition to MBSE takes place, necessary perspectives, roles, and competencies are critical to understanding the standardization for a model-based approach [32]. In applying a model-based approach, it is critical to have staff with the knowledge and application experience of MBSE [32]. Several frameworks exist which discuss role competencies for engineers to understand systems engineering. The frameworks include the INCOSE systems engineering competency framework [33], NASA systems engineering competencies [34], and the MITRE systems engineering competency model [32,35]. Other competencies exist but only the previous list will be addressed. The roles described in each model are defined through a varying methods but include identification, categorization, and association to the appropriate stakeholder responsibility [32].

The MBSE approach highlights an essential role associated with engineering: the Subject Matter Expert (SME) [32]. The SME can provide multiple disciplines within an overall system model and apply detailed decomposition for system elements within a model architecture [32]. Understanding the inter-element dependencies is critical for the quality assessment of models being developed or models that have been developed. Additionally, understanding inter-element dependencies helps to remove the subjectivity and focus on objectivity in a framework application. Without understanding the quality competencies required of system engineers and the MBSE implementation approach, a quality design framework application of DoDAF architecture may lead to ambiguous data or lost context [32]. Highlighting the SME role competencies and relative responsibilities are fundamental to activities necessary to assess quality within a DoDAF architectural model [32].

Engineering competencies relating to systems engineering, quality, and MBSE are critical in implementing a quality DoDAF model architecture. The understanding of interdependent relations between data in a model helps to reduce the amount of subjectivity associated with architecture development. Solely relying on standardization without the knowledge base can lead to volatility or ambiguity in the architecture development process thereby reducing the quality of the architecture.

MBSE Metrics and Quality

While some architecture aspects are difficult to quantify, metric definitions help to provide a sense of where model development is headed [36]. MBSE stems from the adaptation of models in the systems engineering environment. What makes these models worthwhile is their ability to provide a quantitative or qualitative assessment within their application. By utilizing metrics in an MBSE environment, tools can be better utilized to assess the suitability of a system and its models to quantitatively address quality.

Structure diagrams such as a Block Definition Diagram (BDD), Internal Block Diagram (IBD), and requirements diagrams are some of the MBSE system architecture models that are difficult to validate in the typical construct of model validation but are crucial to MBSE and DoDAF architecture. One of the biggest hurdles in applying validation metrics to these models is that the architecture associated with them is based subjectively on the developers' sense of inclusion [37]. Additionally, the tested concepts of verification and validation approaches are not possible in MBSE descriptive models as there is no output data to compare with actual data [38]. Ways to navigate this include conversion of SysML behavioral models into executable models and then performing the V&V, or evaluation of the model using syntax and semantics; however, these techniques generally address the verification of the model, ensuring that the model is appropriate or follows modeling language standard. To evaluate the model, one must look at the international standard ISO/IEC 9126 adopted by the software engineering community and evaluate six attributes in a model [39]. The six attributes are functionality, reliability, usability, efficiency, maintainability, and portability [39]. Although the criteria can be highly subjective, the criteria can be used to establish the validity of the model used in a measurable form [37]. By using MBSE tools with the criteria established, we can verify that in the requirements definition process, the requirement is defined and utilizes the ISO/IEC 9126 or ISO/IEC 25010 standards to determine how well the modeller is addressing quality [40, 41].

Understanding how to measure the maturity of a system is a trait that must be modeled appropriately to understand the system's readiness. In engineering, the Technology Readiness Level (TRL) is one such measurement tool that program managers utilize to assess the technology maturity [42]. The TRL rating is determined using subjective analysis from experts' analyses of how and whether criteria are fulfilled. The main issue in the non-MBSE analysis is that the experts' analysis is largely subjective. TRL metrics are often considered soft measures, which are qualitative, subjective, and based on subjective data. These metrics can be biased due to the reviewers' biases and interpretations of each TRL level. These maturity artifacts are identified and mapped to the system architectural element by identifying a set of DoDAF models suitable for maturity assessment [42]. The introduction of DoDAF and its fit-for-purpose (FFP) models helped solidify the use of MBSE metrics for decision-making and utilization of readiness assessments [42]. The use of a Conceptual Data Model (CDM) to define the higher-level data constructs is helpful in that it enables the decision-makers to understand the data included in the Architectural Descriptions [42]. By incorporating the CDM, the maturity elements that have been utilized have better characterization.

The use of MBSE tools in defining readiness levels provides a more structured documentation process. With the increased availability of data and transparency, the outcome is more informed and reliable decision making. However, this understanding for TRL fails to address the model quality or aspects of the model quality.

MBSE Modularity Addressing Quality

Complexity in systems engineering architectural development is problematic to manage for the systems engineering team [43]. The decomposition of system architecture into various buckets of data; however, can be accomplished through a modular approach. A modular approach is a means to divide the system into smaller chunks while maintaining their interdependencies [44]. Modularization of system elements into more manageable segments helps to reduce the complexity of the system and the DoDAF standard allows for this through view types [44]. The views for DoDAF provide a means to put elements and key relationships in patterned design diagrams with specific standardized ontology for DoDAF. Ontology is the structure and knowledge sharing between various aspects during design process [45]. Typically, in traditional systems engineering, quality for models is managed through processes or cycles of design, build, and review. The quality management processes mentioned in Section 1.2.2 focus on systems engineering meetings, team approvals, or SME determination for content to move forward into the design. In these processes, materials would be reviewed, feedback provided and comments adjudicated prior to design implementation. The cyclical approach to quality management processes uses various methods to provide analysis prior to entering the material for review. The various methods include functional, impact, or requirement analysis to analyze content as well as meta-data within elements. Modularity comes into play in the understanding of how granular or to what level decomposition has occurred including where lines of demarcation exist between lower levels of a system [44]. Specifically, modularity is a means to cluster system elements into a larger more manageable chunks to reduce complexity [44]. Typically, decomposition of requirement specification in to the appropriate architecture is very difficult and modularization can assist with complexity reduction [46]. Modularity can allow for ease of reconfiguration or assembly, improved field performance, or customization [47, 48]. The benefits of modularity are due to the ability to decouple elements of architecture and hide unnecessary information [49, 50]. Even with the bucketing of data into specific views within DoDAF architecture, considering modularization or understanding what level of granularity is needed is a difficult task in the representation of quality in the architecture [44].

While complexity exists in architectural development system design, standardization can assist as a starting point for addressing modularity. However, according to Chiriac and his team, understanding how and to what level modularization granularity occurs in the system architecture needs further research [44].

MBSE Quality Architecture

Recent case studies suggests that the non-functional quality of a system is of little use to the end-user and is more relevant to the design of the architecture [51]. Non-functional requirement types include licensing issues, availability of support, and organizational policies, whereas quality attributes include performance, usability, interoperability, etc [52]. In contrast to functional requirements derived from the customer, non-functional requirements are most often developed

from the architect's perspective viewpoint. The implications of this alignment are profound. The ability to model the non-functional requirements from the customer's point of view is most important. Otherwise, the functional aspects of the model overrule the non-functional allocations [52]. Architects must find a balance between the functional and non-functional requirements that support end users' goals and demands but are also supportable from a financial perspective [52].

Within NASA's Safety and Mission Assurance (S&MA) group, MBSE tools are being evaluated in their application on how they relate to quality assurance, reliability, and maintainability, safety, and software assurance [53]. In the utilization of modeling languages, the ability to consolidate information for ease of use in decision-making has become an important factor in understanding the usefulness of MBSE tools [53]. Performed correctly, the requirements of the system and all applicable quality and -ility concerns can be stored in a centralized repository. The goal is to provide overlap between NASA's existing S&MA group and the MBSE community in the establishment of policies and standards that enable the totality of their goals [53]. Requirements definition, V&V, etc., can be represented in SysML, while other areas, such as Radiation Testing and Analysis, requires additional interface tools but can be modeled and captured in SysML [53]. After completing the process activity diagrams, it is apparent which actions have been completed, and metrics can be determined from thorough analysis [53]. Another process for consideration is that of non-conformance tracking [53]. Similar to quality assurance processes, metrics can be developed, and Boolean values can indicate the most updated information [53]. In the upcoming years, the NASA Model-Based Safety and Mission Assurance (MBMA) project will evaluate prototypes to implement S&MA use cases and provide the associated gate products.

From functional to non-functional requirements, the MBSE approaches to quality deal with the overall System of Systems (SoS) approach to quality of MBSE models focusing on the SysML and less on parts of defense aspects of the model quality [54]. One of these methods is Quality Attribute Balancing (QAb) by Nelson, Borky and Saga or quality characteristics design configurations [51, 55]. While the QAb method addresses the quality of the SoS architecture, it fails to address the DoDAF specific framework and instead focuses on the SysML stereotypes [51]. Another method

evaluation of the SoS architecture for the trade study process is by Bankauskaite, Morkevicius, and Butleris [56]. Their research focuses primary on the Unified Architecture Framework (UAF) and trade study quality evaluation process [56]. UAF is a domain specific language used to represent an architecture for a system design [57]. While Bankauskaite, Morkevicius, and Butleris addresses trade study process, their methodology focuses less on defense and more on agnostic domains [58].

1.2.3 Literary Review Conclusion

Many topics associated with MBSE, DoDAF, and quality throughout industry and academia were addressed in the literary analysis Section 1.2.2. The topics covered show how quality across the modeling paradigm has been an issue in systems engineering from the very beginning. As technology has improved, model development has had a general improvement, helping system engineers inch closer to benefits for architecture development, but is still lacking in quality comprehension. The lack of quality metrics led industry and academia to formulate different standardizations with unique taxonomy and ontology to meet the growing need to improve quality. While standardization helped to address the deficiency of quality in a standardised architecture, engineering application of developed standards proved problematic for system designers. The insufficiency of the quality engineering knowledge basis for the application of developed standards resulted in introduction of subjectivity into how standards were applied in system development and the quality of architectures suffered. As the knowledge base increased, deficiencies in how to quantify quality began to emerge in industry and academia. The attempts to address metric definitions led to new concepts for data collection or modularity within model environments. The modularization of data provided a cleaner way to view or develop data in model architectures, but still lacks a true rigor in addressing aspects of quality. With modularizations of architectures, a new means to provide different views into data began to emerge with different frameworks focused less on defense applications and more towards general practice leaving defense to address topic of quality alone.

1.3 Problem Statement

Throughout the dynamic systems engineering industry, many questions surround the approach to architecture quality within MBSE, particularly with in the DoD. The DoD, as well as leading engineering companies, are quick to embrace the use of MBSE, with its standardized development of models, but run into problems as timelines grow. Most common questions focus on the quality surrounding the models being developed. Major defense programs have suffered from problems surrounding model quality leading to directly to increased costs and expanding schedules [18]. The Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences conducted an analysis of papers over a 15 year period and found some interesting information when it come directly to DoDAF architecture quality [3]. Table 1.2 show two of the critical findings from the 15 years of analysis.

 Table 1.2: Critical Problems Facing Architecture [3]

Problem	Description
Modeling	Use of formal models and/or tools to describe and analyze the Architecture.
	Architectures must be modeled to present a clear, coherent, and concise pic-
	ture of the baseline and target Architectures and to communicate this pic-
	ture to the stakeholders. The Architecture must be good enough, but does
	not have to be perfect. Key sub-problems are: Business View Presence and
	Alignment, Modeling Tool Availability and Quality, Stakeholders Perspec-
	tives, Handling Dynamics
Managing	Use of practices and procedures – formal or otherwise – to develop the Ar-
	chitecture and manage the Architecture team. An Architecture framework,
	such as described in, TOGAF, DoDAF, etc., along with portfolio manage-
	ment processes, can guide the development. Key sub-problems are: Assess-
	ing Technical Architecture Maturity, Assessing Infrastructure Stress, The
	System Architect's Value Proposition, Virtual Enterprise, Scalability, Ar-
	chitecture Metrics, Best Practices
Challenge	Modeling Quality Attributes: Modeling systems, including languages, are
	required to facilitate assessment of Architectures according to quality at-
	tributes

One of the critical takeaways from the study was: "Modeling assessment encompasses two key areas: quality attributes and metrics. These subareas encompass both evaluation and measurement of methodological practice with its associated artifacts" [3]. The problems stem from the lack

of quality knowledge in MBSE frameworks and evaluation means for the above quoted concepts. Additionally, some of the questions posed are:

- "How do we know the model is complete?"
- "How do we know we have modelled sufficient detail in order to represent the system design accurately?"
- "How do we know what we have modelled can be clearly and unambiguously translated into a suitable design?"

The responses to these questions are critical to programs and their understanding of what is trying to be accomplished. Many of these questions have been asked by DoD for programs as large as Acquisition Category (ACAT-1) level programs with Research, Development, Test, and Evaluation (RDT&T) budgets greater than \$2.79 billion per Fiscal Year (FY) [59]. The implications of quality or completeness for MBSE models architectures are critical to avoid significant cost overruns or slips in the schedule. Industry-wide, the amount of rework or lack in quality of designs can lead to a yearly average of \$15B in cost overruns across the U.S. DoD programs [60]. The average cost of rework for a project is around 2-20% of the total contract amount [60]. Systems engineering presents a suitable method for system design, but with the application of MBSE, many avenues exist that confuse or cloud what is a quality representation for the architecture of a system. By providing clear evaluation criteria at critical phases of a program, avoidance of rework and the ability to provide the best quality product can be accomplished for all stakeholders.

Regarding the first question, "*How do we know the model is complete?*", this question reaches into the depth of what should be represented in the model. Should a production element be part of the system model? Should the link between the system and production be the schedule elements? Should we have a system model only and rely on document-based production understanding? Should the production model use the system model even when the system model does not know the production model exists? The research question associated with this development is addressed in (RQ1) in Section 1.2.1.

The next question, "*How do we know we have modelled sufficient detail in order to represent the system design accurately*?",this question seeks to understand what is being represented in the model. The understanding of "need to know", with the appropriate level of detail, should show the system being designed. The framework referenced in evaluating the Quality of Design can be linked to a metrics development process. The methodology was presented and instantiated in the conference proceeding, "Digital Engineering Transformation of Requirements Analysis within Model-Based Systems Engineering" presented at 10th Annual World Conference of the Society For Industrial and Systems Engineering [5]. The research question associated with this development is addressed in (RQ2) in Section 1.2.1.

The final question, "How do we know what we have modelled can be clearly and unambiguously translated into a suitable design?", this question speaks to the conceptual framework developed in addressing (RQ2) and applied to the quality of the models that already exist. The conceptual framework applied to the system being designed shows a trend analysis for the project in determining the quality of a model at a given time. Through case study evaluation, models that were developed by third parties were used to remove the bias and provide evaluation results using the developed conceptual framework. Metrics, based on the evaluation of the third party models, can represent an understanding and a graphical analysis to illustrate the quality of the model design. The research question associated with this development is addressed in (RQ3) in Section 1.2.1.

1.4 Purposed Solution

The proposed solutions means to address that no standard exists for the quality process development in systems engineering after the actions of the Defense Acquisition Reform in 1990's [61, 62]. The egregious error by the Defense Acquisition Reform in the 1990's led to reinstatement of most processes for government acquisition, but only rolled a few aspects into already existing standards to address quality [63]. To address the methodological gap and research questions, the author introduces the theory of "Quality by Design" (QbD) in a re-contextualization mapping of
terminology to the quality of CONOPs in an MBSE DoDAF architecture [64,65]. Particular focus is given to the DoDAF architecture framework surrounding the CONOPs because of the prevalent use across the defense industry in both private and public sectors. Based on the experiential knowledge and literary review, the simple questions in Section 1.3 were derived to better understand quality in MBSE DoDAF architecture frameworks. The very broad questions were used to formulate research questions in Section 1.2.1 helping to narrow the scope to a more manageable means of quality in MBSE DoDAF architecture frameworks. In response to these questions, tasks were outlined as discussed in the research proposal presented to the advisory committee and approved prior to the development of this dissertation. The undertaking helped break new ground in the field of quality MBSE DoDAF architecture frameworks through a new procedural conceptual framework application approach. The research has yielded a promising approach to mapping QbD theory to the DoDAF architecture structure through the inclusion of definition of terms, quality metric definitions specific to DoDAF CONOPs, and practical application to case study DoDAF models.

The primary research methodology approach is blended between qualitative and quantitative analysis. By using the blended approach, an in-depth evaluation of the DoDAF CONOPs' content can be represented. The qualitative data involves comparing third-party applications of DoDAF and MBSE concepts to the case study models. The quantitative data analysis evaluates the application of framework analyzing model metrics for each of the case study models. The quantitative data includes definitions of terms associated with the DoDAF architecture of each of the case studies within that model concerning CONOPs. Data analysis provides statistical evaluation methods onto the values collected from each of the case study models to provide insight into quality meaning. The case study models used for research purposes come from current open-source models and are developed by the NASA and Dassault Systems. The use of third-party models removes bias of the conceptual framework application evaluation because the author's development can not be a factor in their interpretation.

The literary review methodology and analysis results show various methodological gaps that exist in the current state of quality perception within MBSE and DoDAF architecture framework. The literary review methodology in Section 1.2.1 helps to cover the breadth of data in industry and academia while providing a narrowed scoping on the available data for this dissertation. The overview of approach in Chapter 2 captures a generalization on MBSE relating to DoDAF. The generalization is important for allowing the contextual mapping of QbD to the DoDAF architecture in Section 2.2. The literary analysis shows that starting with a good technical as well as quality approach can provide substantial cost savings for programs and taxpayers by eliminating and/or lessening costly rework. Understanding the linkage between quality variables to architecture elements can be customized to the customers' satisfaction, but agreed upon use of standardization on the technical approach is critical. The metric definition provides a means for model quality to be quantified and presented. The literary review shows that metric definitions and a common understanding of the metric representations must be performed early in the model design process to ensure quality metric integrity. Establishment of processes and the use of conceptual framework helps to provide rigor to critical quality factors that are needed to address architecture quality. The research developments confirm that systems engineering quality has a considerable impact on system design and must have solid footing early in development of the model. Several novel developments were observed in the creation of the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) and its application to the case study models.

1.5 Chapter 1 Summary

The preceding sections represent the contents of Chapter 1. The chapter discusses the background associated with the MBSE and quality of the design. The chapter also presents a literary review surrounding the dissertation topic from both academia and industry. The literary review within the chapter includes a methodology approach, outlines research questions, provides an understanding of data source selection including the evaluation of material data sources, provides a data recording methodology, with analysis results. Following the literary review, a formulated problem statement helps to establish the relevant importance of this research. The problem statement provided early sets the stage for later chapters by helping to shape a potential solution that is presented in the dissertation.

The overall problem statement summarized in Chapter 1 helps to establish a better understanding for the following chapters for the dissertation topic; in Chapter 2, a discussion on the MBSE overview is provided with the focus on the DoDAF architecture including the design of a CONOPs. A detailed understanding of the DoDAF architecture framework is identified within Chapter 2. In Chapter 3, the developed framework is covered in great detail so that the application can be well documented. In Chapter 3, discussion on the development approach methodologies for each concept are discussed within the framework developed to analyze a DoDAF architectural model. Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 show how applications of the framework described in Chapter 3 can be applied to DoDAF architectural models. In each case study, discussion on the framework's application, the CONOPs associated with the particular model, key terms and application of the quality analysis framework, sampling understanding of elements from the model, and the overall analysis result are provided. The discussion in Chapters 4 and 5 contains a summary of the model and the application of the proposed framework solution. Fundamental principles to be considered and understanding of the strategies needed in the application for the proposed framework are also provided.

In Chapter 6, a summary of the results from both Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 is provided. Additionally, in Chapter 6, an overall conclusion of the dissertation is provided. The chapter also discusses the advantages provided by applying the new framework developed within this dissertation. A future work section discusses how the framework can provide additional information and provide an additional capability to be used in conjunction with other methods as MBSE technology progresses. Finally, disclaimers are included for the dissertation paper.

Chapter 2

Overview of Approach

Chapter 2 is outlined in a logical process flow of Sections to detail a methodical approach and provide means to evaluate analysis of each case study model. The outline of Chapter 2 includes Sections developed with context to assist with model analysis that will be applied to case studies in Chapters 4 and 5. Chapter 3 links all of content of Chapter 2 with additional data to evaluate the quality of modularity for case studies in Chapters 4 and 5. Chapter 2 includes development of systems engineering understandings, Model-Based Systems Engineering (MBSE) concept, DoDAF architectural framework, Logical model context, Quality By Design (QbD) mapping, metrics development, addressing subjectivity, assumptions for analysis, approach to analysis results, and statistical methods to provide insight into collected data for quality. Additionally, the Chapter conveys theoretical applications in detail to address the problem statement discussed in Section 1.3 of Chapter 1. To better understandings for systems engineering, MBSE, and DoDAF. The methodology will be validated through the application of the resulting conceptual framework to DoDAF coNOP model architectures in case studies as direct analytical evaluation justifying the proposed solution.

The case study approach will be used to evaluate methods presented in this Chapter 2. Case studies methodology has a number of advantages, such as of allowing researchers to look at a phenomenon in its natural environment, rather than in a controlled laboratory or experimental setting, which is essential for gaining a deeper understanding of the developed framework application [66, 67]. Case studies present the author with a chance to get a comprehensive grasp of the research topic, and they may also aid in the description, comprehension, and explanation of a research problem or circumstance [68, 69]. The purposed logic that connects the theories in this Chapter to data in the case studies with the evaluation conclusions is derived to answer the original research questions in Chapter 1. For this purpose it is possible to think of Chapter 2 design in

the context of an action plan execution of the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) for moving from the questions through methods to the conclusions [66]. A case study approach has been used in many research areas in many different disciplines, provided an individual with proper competencies conducted the evaluations, this is discussed further in Section 2.2.5 [70].

2.1 Systems Engineering, MBSE, and DoDAF Views

2.1.1 Systems Engineering

Many different prominent system life cycle models exist which include the DoD model or DoD 5000 [7] and Systems Engineering Life Cycle Model [8]. The DoD 5000 series of documents and the Systems Engineering Life Cycle Model will be discussed to highlight engineering process understandings. When applying the DoD Model, the formulation and validation of mission requirements are critical to the systems engineering process that guides the product development process [7]. The DoD 5000 acquisition or development model is segmented into four phases which require the systems engineering process through all phases and/or stages. The four phases of the DoD 5000 model are 1) Concept and Technology Development, 2) System Development and Demonstration, 3) Production and Deployment and 4) Operation and Support [7]. Figure 2.1 shows the DoD 5000 model.

The Systems Engineering Life Cycle Model has three stages, which are 1) Concept Development, 2) Engineering Development, and 3) Post Development. Specifically, the Production and Deployment phase and the Operation and Support phase are encompassed in the Post Development phase in the Systems Engineering Life Cycle model [8]. The system concept is definitized and formulated to meet a need in the Concept Development stage of the Systems Engineering Life Cycle model [8]. The level of effort in the Concept Development stage is less than in the subsequent stages but is of critical importance. The main objectives of this stage are validating: the item's need (requirements) and development risk for the new system, (ensuring that its development is feasible, both technically and economically), different system concepts to formulate system performance requirements, and then selecting the best system concept to meet the desired requirements



Figure 2.1: DoD 5000 Life-Cycle Model Development Standard [7]

and feasibility [8]. Requirements analysis conducted within the Concept Development stage include the formulation and validation of system performance requirements [8]. Figure 2.2 shows the Systems Engineering Life Cycle Model.

The NASA definition of Requirements Analysis is encompassed in the definition and refinement of the system, system elements, and associated functional and performance requirements analysis [71]. In the Concept Development stage, the functional performance or operational requirements analysis can be instantiate in an architecture and was demonstrated in the paper "*Digital Engineering Transformation of Requirements Analysis within Model-Based Systems Engineering*" [5]. Due to the importance of systems engineering in the Concept Development Stage, the author will focus on this stage and its quality of work to scope the area of analysis for the research questions in Section 1.2.1.

2.1.2 MBSE

Model-Based Systems Engineering (MBSE) can provide increased quality in the Concept Development Stage discussed in Section 2.1.1. MBSE also enables the use of data-centric modeling as



Figure 2.2: Systems Engineering Life-Cycle Model [8]

discussed in Section 2.1.3 [4]. MBSE meta-data allows for optimization providing a better opportunity to interrogate the system design much earlier in the Concept Development Stage as discussed in Section 2.1.1 [72]. MBSE also provides for unparalleled levels of system understanding and behavior through the integration of analytics linked to one or several model-centric baseline(s) [4]. As stated in Section 2.1.3, Unified Modeling Language (UML), and Systems Modeling Language (SysML), are the initial foundational base language(s) that are typically used to reflect the design of the system. MBSE graphical representations known as "diagrams" are data rich graphics combined with meta-data to enabled connections with elements and relationships [72, 73]. The following list are the SysML diagrams and are depicted on Figure 2.3.

- Requirement diagram (REQ): A SysML Requirement diagram is a static structural diagram that shows the relationships among Requirement («requirement») constructs, model elements that Satisfy («satisfy» Dependency) them, and Test Cases that Verify («verify» Dependency) them [74].
- Use Case diagram (UC): A Use Case diagram shows communications among system transactions (Use Cases) and external users (Actors) in the context of a system boundary (Subject; notation: rectangle). Actors may represent wetware (persons, organizations, facilities), soft-

ware systems, or hardware systems. Defining relationships between the system Subject and the system Actors is an effective informal way to define system scope [74].

- Block Definition Diagram (BDD): A Block Definition Diagram is a static structural diagram that shows system components, their contents (Properties, Behaviors, and Constraints), Interfaces, and relationships [74].
- Internal Block Diagram (IBD): An Internal Block Diagram is a static structural diagram owned by a particular Block that shows its encapsulated structural contents: Parts, Properties, Connectors, Ports, and Interfaces. Stated otherwise, an IBD is a "white-box" perspective of an encapsulated ("black-box") Block [74].
- **Parametric diagram** (**PAR**): An Parametric diagram is a specialization of an Internal Block Diagram (IBD) that enforces mathematical rules (Constraints) defined by Constraint Blocks across the internal Part Value Properties bound by the Constraint Block Parameters.
- Activity diagram (ACT): An Activity diagram shows system dynamic behavior using a combined Control Flow and Object (data) Flow [74].
- Sequence diagram (SD): A Sequence diagram is a dynamic behavioral diagram that shows interactions (collaborations) among distributed objects or services via sequences of messages exchanged, along with corresponding (optional) events model [74].
- State Machine diagram (STM): An State Machine diagram is a dynamic behavioral diagram that shows the sequences of States that an object or an interaction go through during its lifetime in response to Events (a.k.a. "Triggers"), which may result in side-effects (Actions) [74].
- Allocation Table: An Allocation Table is a tabular (matrix) notation for Allocation relationships, but the SysML standard does not prescribe a particular format for these so they tend to be vendor specific [74].

UML and SysML consists of numerous different diagram types respectively and are divided within into two groups of diagrams structural or behavioral diagrams [73]. Structural diagrams show what the system consists of, or are the physical artifacts that make up a system while behavioral diagrams evaluate what the system does (system functions and interfaces) [73]. SysML supports the specifications (requirements) of system, analysis, design, Verification and Validation (V&V) while expanding upon both UML and SysML. Both UML and SysML allow for customized profiles and libraries to expand the capability of modeling languages to capture even further material needs with in a model [73]. MBSE tools provide the extensibility capability to the base UML and SysML structures into the customization realm for an industry areas or domains (i.e., business, aerospace, space & missiles, infrastructure, Information Technology, etc.) [5]. The extensible customization capability will be used later in this paper to develop a profile for use in the DQCF to capture criterion related to quality.

2.1.3 DoDAF Framework

MBSE has presented a completely new approach for systems engineering as a practice. Systems engineering has evolved to realize value from a graphical representation to interconnect related data within a digital environment. Typically, systems engineering is approached by being heavily document-based with disparate data connections that are difficult to find and understand [4]. The multitude of documents within systems engineering includes conceptions of a system's capabilities, interfaces, requirements, and many other features required for the development of a design. MBSE provides a means to connect these disparate data pools using computer environments and inter-connectivity of databases to provide a never-before-seen visualization capability for engineers as a system is developed [4, 75]. In the past, there have been significant issues with the document-based approach in developing a system. Documents referenced other documents and depending on an individual's access or knowledge of the system, consideration for all impacts to the design ended up causing shortfalls found later in development and verification process. Failure to identify issues such as redundant interfaces, untestable capabilities, or even irrational require-

ments could be missed and the program could be subsequently cancelled due to unforcasted cost growth or untenable risks. For example, in 2019, the lack of requirements definition led to the cancellation of the Redesigned Kill Vehicle (RKV) Program with a value in 2018 of nearly \$800 million dollars [76]. Missing these critical data points created errors in the system design such that the proposed design solution failed in tests, evaluations, or customer expectations [60]. Failing to meet these critical points would lead to increased development and deployment risks for systems, increased system costs, lengthy development delays, or ultimately cancellation of the systems. As system modeling techniques and capabilities has progressed, MBSE has become more widespread in industry models used to control technical baselines for programs [4]. MBSE when applied correctly and with focus on quality can help ensure consistency across with crucial but disparate elements of the emerging system and there by significantly reduce risk of cost and schedule growth program development [60].

Typically, MBSE artifacts are organized are engineered using standardized methodologies that help clarify the data necessary for both program management and customers to make informed decisions [4]. One of these approaches is the Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF). The DoDAF framework approach provides a means to organize data and understand various Viewpoints needed to inspect data within a model [4]. The DoDAF models are typically based on two types of modeling languages, the first and the original is UML, the second which is based on UML is SysML as discussed earlier [4]. Figure 2.3 shows how the DoDAF diagrams map to the SysML diagrams. The red text in ovals show the identified DoDAF CONOPs diagrams discussed in DoDAF CONOP Design Process in Section 2.1.3. Not all diagrams map cleanly but this is a very close approximation.

The UML and SysML languages present the graphical representation for connections of data within diagrams throughout the model [73,77]. From each language, a contextualization is applied to develop understandings of the interconnected relationships between these data elements [73]. The original purpose of these elements was to support the design of the software development, and introduce terminology presented to represent coding constructs [73]. Having these coded construct



Figure 2.3: Systems Modeling Language (SysML) to Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) Diagram Mapping

elements within a system model can easily be implemented for data extraction. The elements coupled with an Integrated Development Environment (IDE) can enable solutions that are modular and visible for ease of use in the engineering system designs process. Both UML and SysML modeling languages were used as a foundational part for developing an architecture framework by the DoD to meet the need for rapid visualization and understanding of development efforts within government contracts [4]. Figure 2.4 show the timeline of DoDAF standard development.

The original development that became DoDAF began in the mid-90s with a a directive from the Deputy Secretary of Defense [4] that evolved into the release of DoDAF 2.02 which was released in August 2010 [4]. The original DoDAF was called the Command, Control, Communications, Computers, Intelligence, Surveillance, and Reconnaissance (C4ISR) architecture framework for a period of time from 1996 to 1998 when the government stood up the Architectural Coordination Council Memorandum [4]. The council composed of experts in industry and academia from the United States began development of the first official DoDAF version 1.0 [4]. DoDAF version 1.0 was released in August 2003 and was the first major accomplishment for the working group [4].

Subsequent DoDAF version 1.5 and DoDAF version 2.0 were released [4]. For the most part the Services within the DoD are expected to maximize the extensibility and use of the DoDAF architectural framework during their development programs. The DoD expects that most major weapons systems and information technology acquisitions should use the DoDAF framework to represent the Service's broad requirements that are to be presented by the Government to the supplier [4]. The DoDAF process allows and provides elements for inclusion of other DoD processes including Joint Capabilities Integration and Development System (JCIDS), Planning, Programming, Budgeting, and Execution (PPBE), Defense Acquisition System (DAS), systems engineering, operational planning, and agency capability portfolio management [4].



Figure 2.4: Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) Development Timeline [4]

Ultimately, the architecture profile for DoDAF was developed jointly by the Object Management Group (OMG) and DoD [4]. The architecture profile development began around the 2005 time frame with the motivation to develop a specification dealing specifically with a DoD DoDAF implementation [4]. The first specification was called the UPDM DoDAF 1.0 and spanned through version DoDAF 1.5 [4]. The final profile that was developed by OMG and was released as version DoDAF 2.02 in August 2013 [4]. The formulation of this profile which became the Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) was developed within a MBSE tool [4]]. The developed profile became the standard model ontology and taxonomy for the approach to DoDAF architecture for system acquisition by the U.S. government [4].

The purpose of DoDAF version 2.02 is to provide a comprehensive and conceptual modeling capability to develop architectures for the DoD [4]. The architectural framework was conceived in order to convey a mutual understanding across usually disparate parts of the DoD [4]. Additionally, the DoDAF architectural framework is used to assist DoD of government agencies make key technological decisions about the acquisition of systems for defense [4]. For the most part, DoDAF 2.02 furnishes a means of guiding principles of comprehension for the interconnected relationships between digital data [4]. The term Data-Centric is used rather than product-centric because the connections between the data actually represent the architectural description and are captured within a variety viewpoints or DoDAF views [4]. The DoDAF views provide a means to modularize data-centric information and scope UML and SysML stereotypes to a specific aspect for analysis of quality. Tags and restrictions are the other two forms of extension mechanisms available in the UML, with stereotypes being the third sort of extensibility mechanism [73, 78]. They enable designers to broaden the vocabulary of the UML in order to develop new model components that are derived from current ones but have specific attributes that are appropriate for a certain domain or other specialized application [73, 78].

DoDAF Viewpoints and Views

The DoDAF views are critical part of understanding the architecture standard. As stated in the Section 2.1.3, the views or viewpoints allow for data-centric elements to provide an ontology and taxonomy through an architecture profile to capture technical information for a system.

Table 2.1 shows a high level description of each viewpoint type and each viewpoint's specific views that contain specific data elements for each aspect of the architecture. Specific views will be identified in Section 2.1.3 relating to CONOPs development to scope analysis of case study models in Chapters 4 and 5. Key views will be described in further detail in the Section 2.1.3 that help to instantiate the DoDAF CONOP architecture in the model. The identified views will be critical

Table 2.1: DoDAF Views

Viewpoint Types	Descriptions		
All or AV	The All Viewpoint provides data that is relevant to the entire		
	architecture description [4].		
	The All Viewpoint is comprised of two views the AV-1 and AV-2.		
	The Capability viewpoint captures any taxonomy or capability data		
Capability or CV	as well as capability evolution data [4].		
	The Capability viewpoint is comprised of seven views		
	CV-1, CV-2, CV-3, CV-4, CV-5, CV-6 and CV-7.		
Data and Information or DIV	The Data and Information Viewpoint show operational and business		
	information requirements or rules for system design [4].		
	The Data and Information Viewpoint		
	consist of three views DIV-1, DIV-2, and DIV-3.		
Operational	The Operational Viewpoint describe tasks, activities, operational		
	elements, and resource exchanges and is material independent [4].		
	The Operational Viewpoint		
01 0 V	has eight views OV-1, OV-2, OV-3, OV-4, OV-5a,		
	OV-5b, OV-6a, OV-6b, and OV-6c.		
	The Project Viewpoint		
	identifies how programs, projects, portfolios,		
Project or PV	or initiatives deliver capabilities, the organizations		
	contributing to them, and dependencies between them [4].		
	The Project Viewpoint consists of three views PV-1, PV-2, and PV-3.		
	The Service Viewpoint shows		
	services and their interconnections providing		
	or supporting the program or project [4].		
Service or SvcV	The Service Viewpoint consist of thirteen		
	views SvcV-1, SvcV-2, SvcV-3a, SvcV-3b, SvcV-4, SvcV-5,		
	SvcV-6, SvcV-7, SvcV-8, SvcV-9,		
	SvcV-10a, SvcV-10b, and SvcV-10c.		
Standards or StdV	The Standards Viewpoint maintains a set of rules governing the		
	arrangement, interaction, and		
	interdependence of parts or elements of the Architectural		
	Description [4].		
	The Standards Viewpoint consists of two views StdV-1 and StdV-2.		
System or SV	The System Viewpoint describes		
	systems and interconnections providing		
	for, or supporting, DoD functions [4].		
	The System Viewpoint consists of thirteen views		
	SV-1, SV-2, SV-3, SV-4, SV-5a,		
	SV-5b, SV-6, SV-7, SV-8, SV-9,		
	SV-10a, SV-10b, and SV-10c.		

in recognizing the elements to evaluate in the DoDAF CONOP architecture and understand their quality valuation.

DoDAF CONOP Design Process

As discussed in the previous Section 2.1.1, the Concept Development Stage often starts with the CONOP architecture development in conjunction with operational performance requirements and goes to an ever-increasing level of detail in identifying mission performance assumptions, constraints, deficiencies, and enhancements needed for the system operation to enable mission success [4,79]. Operational requirements and CONOP architecture seeks to identify the missions, capabilities, and operations along with their associated explicit requirements, performance measures, and other metrics for best value using the systems engineering process [79]. Disciplined rigor is required to best address desired mission area deficiencies, threats, emerging technologies, and system improvements. Based on the literary analysis in Section 1.2, early phases of development are typically not very well-funded. Requirements and CONOP architecture that have been derived are often preliminary, incorrect, conflicted, inconsistent, and incomplete; therefore, there needs to be additional in depth analysis of the quality of CONOP architecture [5]. The process of CONOP architecture development includes the identification of stakeholders, requesting and deriving requirements, defining constraints, establishing critical and desired performance of the system from stakeholders' input [4]. The CONOP architecture consists of several viewpoints that specifically outline the system design. These specific viewpoints that the author has selected as key factors to analyze in the DoDAF CONOP architecture are the Operational, System, Capability, and Data and Information. The content covered with in the CONOP should include the following:

- The operational environment and its characteristics [79]
- Major system components and the interconnection among those components [79]
- Interfaces to external systems or procedures [79]
- Capabilities, functions, and features of the current system [79]

- Charts and accompanying descriptions depicting inputs, outputs, data flows, control flows, and manual and automated processes sufficient to understand the current system or situation from the users point of view [79]
- Cost of system operations [79]
- Operational risk factors [79]
- Performance characteristics, such as speed, throughput, volume, frequency [79]
- Quality attributes, such as: availability, correctness, efficiency, expandability, flexibility, interoperability, maintain-ability, portability, reliability, reusability, supportability, survivability, and usability (all relating to the system design) [4,79]
- Provisions for safety, security, privacy, integrity, and continuity of operations in emergencies [4,79]

The viewpoints contain the essential views critical to understanding a DoDAF CONOP architecture, in terms of key factors above. The views contained in Table 2.2 will outline the key terms and definitions used by the quality conceptual framework presented in this paper and specifically in Chapter 2 to guide understanding of lexicon from case studies CONOP architectures.

2.2 Conceptual Approach

The first step in establishing the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) was to understand the logic and context of Juran's QbD concept and then map that logic and context to the DoDAF CONOP architecture through a logical model. A context mapping was done to understand relating Juran's QbD ontology and taxonomy to the DoDAF CONOP architecture framework. The context mapping developed an understanding to scope characteristics for definitions of metrics for quality of architecture elements. A means to analysis was developed to establish the relationships between the elements for data extraction and how quality data would be collected from each case study model. A defined method for alternative application was established to make the DQCF

View Types	Descriptions		
CV-1: Vision	Addresses the enterprise concerns associated with the overall vision for endeavors and thus defines the strategic context for a group of capabilities		
CV-2: Capability Taxonomy	Captures capability taxonomies. The model presents a hierarchy of capabilities		
DIV-1: Conceptual Data Model	The required high-level data concepts and their relationships		
DIV-2: Logical Data Model	The documentation of the data requirements and or structural business process (activity) rules		
OV-1: Operational Graphic	The high-level graphical/textual description of the operational concept		
OV-2: Operational Resource Flow	A description of the Resource Flows exchanged between operational activities		
OV-5a: Operational Activity Tree	The capabilities and activities (operational activities) organized in a hierarchical structure		
OV-5b: Operational Activity Model	The context of capabilities and activities (operational activities) and their relationships among activities, inputs, and outputs; Additional data can show cost, performers or other pertinent information		
SV-1: System Interface Description	The identification of systems, system items, and their interconnections		
SV-4: Systems Functionality Description	A description of Resource Flows exchanged between systems		

Table 2.2: Selected DoDAF	Views for Analy	ysis [4]
---------------------------	-----------------	----------

methods tool agnostic. A method for understanding the analysis results collected from the data was established such that quality interpretations could be projected.

2.2.1 Logical Model

In order to address the context of the research questions in Section 1.2.1 the author developed a logical model. A logical model is typically a graphical depiction that takes the addressed theory and puts that theory in terms of an explicit statement or statements for strategy formulation [80]. The logical model approach supports a means to outline the DQCF theory approach and application [80]. The logical model was developed originally from program theory but can be used for development efforts to identify intended or observed impacts [81]. Logical models have been used to improve development plans by identifying both theoretical and practical gaps while achieving the desired results [82]. The intent of this logical model is to provide clarity of ideas with certain aspects of overall approach to reach and end goal of the DQCF [80]. Figure 2.5 shows the logi-

cal model developed for this dissertation approach to interpret drivers for the development of the DQCF.



Figure 2.5: Logical Model for DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework

First, the logical model development focused on the scenario for why the program change is needed by establishing a problem scenario or situation driven by research questions Section 1.2.1 and problem statement Section 1.3. The scenario or situation here states a "*Need to know that the quality of the DoDAF architecture produced is of substantial quality to address customer need for the system of interest.*" and is indicated by the purple box. From the situation, we have a green arrow that highlights the priorities. The priorities identify high level needs addressed through the execution of the logical model. The priorities help to identify inputs that are the raw materials needed to formulate the design solution space to that situation. Inputs are critical in any logical model, specifically the Implementation Research Logic Model (IRLM) developed by Justin Smith

states that the inputs or determinants part of the IRLM includes factors that prevent or enable implementation [80]. Including all inputs was considered because unforeseen problems that can impact execution later in development may be difficult to overcome later in execution. The inputs for this logical model help to scope the data to answer the research questions in Section 1.2.1 and problem statement in Section 1.3. The inputs are under the light green block and in no particular order include: 1) DoDAF Model, 2) Quality by Design Concept, 3) Quality by Design Analysis Profile, 4) MBSE Conceptual understanding, 5) DoDAF programmatic application understanding. The activities outline what was done with the inputs to formulate a desired output and results. The activities cover a breadth of actions performed to refine data and instantiate an approach solution. The activities under the blue block and in no particular order include: 1) Identify area of DoDAF architecture for analysis, 2) Integrate DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile and Plugin into Model, 3) Identify Viewpoints of DoDAF architecture for analysis, 4) Select Desired Elements as well as the Necessary elements, 5) Stereotype elements, 6) Evaluate DoDAF elements based on Quality Criteria, and 7) Run Quality Analysis plugin to generate data. The outputs are what the activities generate and present a solution to problem statement in Section 1.3. The outputs are located under the orange block and in no particular order include: 1) Individual DoDAF Element quality, 2) DoDAF Element Quality by Category, 3) Average DoDAF Element quality, 4) DoDAF View Quality, and 5) Statically Analyzed Quality of DoDAF Elements. The final results indicate the outcomes of taking the raw inputs, refining the inputs with activities, and collection of outputs that drive the answer to the situation and problem statement. The final results under the pink block in no particular order include: 1) Identification of any individual DoDAF elements that need improvement, 2) Programmatic understanding of DoDAF elements with understanding of where risk exists, 3) Ability to focus program efforts to increase quality of DoDAF elements, and 4) Modular Framework that can be applied to any number of element for evaluation. The developed logical model was used to analyze the research questions in detail and develop a conceptual approach to the theoretical and practical assessment resulting in a DQCF, which will be discussed further in Chapter 3.

2.2.2 Define Quality by Design for Framework

With a logical model developed for high level comprehension, a conceptual mapping was needed to relate the application of Juran's methodology to the DoDAF CONOP architecture. The idea for use of the concept map allowed the author not just to generate spontaneous associative elements but to outline key relationship between intentional terms from each area effectively completing the mapping re-contextualization of Juran's method [83]. Juran's taxonomy is indicated by blue boxes in the orange colored area of Figure 2.6. Concept mapping allowed the author to better understand relations between the Juran's methodology concept and DoDAF CONOP architecture concept bridging the association to the correct domains or translations between the five QbD phase areas [83]. The concept map provided a hierarchical structure with decomposition of ordinate parts relating each QbD phase areas to application of the understanding for DoDAF [83]. The utilization of a conceptual mapping for re-contextualization allowed for an approach of sufficient detail and rigor so as to establish and understanding of the DQCF being proposed [83].



Figure 2.6: QbD Concept Mapping to DoDAF

The first step in creating the conceptual map was taking the decision to apply the Quality By Design (QbD) to a DoDAF model for analysis. Figure 2.6 shows how Juran's QbD methodology maps to the key DoDAF CONOP architecture including MBSE artifacts of SysML and UML base language elements. The decision would come down to the need or want to understand the gap in quality between what the stakeholders think is best and what exists in the model or architecture [1,84]. The decisions typically would be driven from a cost or schedule perspective where overruns or general quality maturity understanding of the model are needed [1]. The processes for Juran's methodology application stems from five major area phases. The five phase areas of Juran's methodology include 1) Define, 2) Discover, 3) Design, 4) Develop, and 6) Deliver [1,85]. The process of doing this mapping would relate to the first area *Define* in Juran's method where the stakeholder's understanding the product are identified as where quality need should be addressed [1]. The translation process for the concept map uses the arrow between the QbD and the DoDAF model to address the quality of the DoDAF architecture, which is desired. Following the identified *Define* phase of Juran's methods, the *Discover* phase is a specific aspect that must be measured [1]. The application understanding of the QbD to the DoDAF CONOPs architecture framework drives the identification of what needs to be analyzed or what needs to be extracted from architecture for the *Discover* phase [1]. Figure 2.6 shows as QbD is applied to the DoDAF model the Quality Target Product Profile (QTPP) arrow illustrates a relationship to the DoDAF architecture and drives more specificity to the CONOPs defined views from Section 2.1.3. The QTPP profile content was tailored through the *Discover* phase to extract the DoDAF CONOP architecture. Now that the QTPP has selected the DoDAF CONOP architecture with specific views additional refinement can be applied to get the specific quality attribute or Quality Control Attribute (QCA) [1, 86]. The QCA breaks down into what is *desired* and *necessary* [1, 86]. The desired and necessary aspect of the QCA directly correlate to the elements of UML and SysML as the base for modeling languages. Throughout the identification process of the desired and necessary QCA, the author has shown the relationship to the Design phase of Juran's method [1]. In Chapter 3, a deeper explanation of the DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) will highlight a

stereotypes that is used to extract UML, SysML, and DoDAF elements are indicated in the purple folder at bottom in Figure 2.6. The *desired* and *necessary* QCA elements are broken down into key characteristics of the model elements that were evaluated through a metric definition and quality characteristics rating scale reaching the *Develop* phase of Juran's method [1]. The *desired* and *necessary* QCA elements are indicated in the thick black lined area coupled with the DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) which will be discussed further in Chapter 3. The metric definitions will be discussed further in Metrics Development and Definition in Section 2.2.3. The rating scale will be discussed further in Statistical Analysis Methods in Section 2.2.7. By establishing the QCA data the control space gives teams an insight that ensures product quality. The approach can help maintain the production development of the DoDAF CONOP architectures on large multifaceted programs [87]. The advantages of MBSE tools can be exploited at this point through the development and collection of metrics from the model. The collection of the *desired* and *necessary* QCA elements in use of the DQAP would bridge to the final step in Juran's method; *Deliver* would be met when metrics would be delivered from the data collected from the model for quality analysis and a verified quality assessment of the DoDAF CONOP architecture established.

2.2.3 Metrics Development and Definition

Metrics traditionally help with systems engineering to understand performance or other different aspects of a system, model, or framework [88]. As MBSE has matured, models have taken a key role in the collection of digital data information and tracking progress or maturity [38]. MBSE, through UML and SysML, uses a descriptive language based in a software environment and provides unprecedented unique capability to collect metric data from models [38]. The metric definition process must effectively deliver the desired information to inform decision makers to adjust execution or effectively understand quality of processes or models [89]. Metrics that were developed provide quantifiable measures of the DQAP framework the author has outlined for collection of data from the case study models in Chapter 4 and 5. The QCAs have been identified in the previous Section 2.2.2 as *desired* and *necessary* elements of UML and SysML in a DoDAF CONOP architecture model to collect. The metrics were defined to understand the data for each corresponding views selected from Section DoDAF CONOP Design Process 2.1.3.

Most of the data elements deal with the operational aspects of the DoDAF CONOP architecture. The process of evaluating each element will provide a measure of quality through the exercise of each evaluation [90]. The exercise of evaluating elements will include interrogation of attributes and their interrelations that exist in the model [90]. Examples are based on a previous outline methodology presented in "Digital Engineering Transformation of Requirements Analysis within Model-Based Systems Engineering" at 10th Annual World Conference of the Society For Industrial and Systems Engineering [5]. Table 3.1 shows what elements are created and are identified by *«text»* modeling language stereotype. For the complete list of various aspect that are collected please see the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) in Appendix A. The author used the criterion to evaluate each element contained in the selected DoDAF CONOP architecture views in previous DoDAF CONOP Design Process Section 2.1.3. The metrics definitions trend to operation analysis because of the nature of the development of the CONOP to instantiate the DoDAF CONOP architecture [5]. The metrics in Appendix A constitute variables that will be collected for statistical analysis. Aspects for each of the variables address application of the DoDAF standard, UML/SysML standards, and requirement instantiation. In total, six aspects for the DoDAF standard are collected; five aspects for UML/SysML standards are collected; and six for requirement instantiation are collected, for 17 aspects to address quality. The variables are discussed further in Statistical Analysis Methods Section 2.2.7 of this chapter.

2.2.4 Addressing Subjectivity of Approach to Analysis

During analysis, subjectivity is always difficult to capture and quantify, typically because not many standardized methods exists for addressing subjectivity [91]. For the most part, subjectivity deals with decision making, so when introducing human factors, to making a multi-attributed choice, such as for the Likert scale evaluation of the QCC variables, introducing bias in to the analysis is almost a certainty [92,93]. With multi-attributed categories, it is important to note they can be deterministic when evaluating for quality [93]. The use of ordinal or Likert scale approach is more acceptable because when using strictly mathematical methods for analysis, the mathematical method is more prone to audit and scrutiny to determine implications of use on a analysis [36]. Any type of decision making can rarely be regarded as independent or purely objective and is likely to be influenced from outside factors [93]. In truth, basic scoring techniques have increased in favor primarily because they are linear, traceable, transparent, and straightforward to utilize [94]. Using subjective attributes such as the QCC which is essentially a Likert scale can assist in both developing and testing substantive theories thereby mitigating as much subjectivity as possible [95]. By using a Likert scale to survey a sample of model elements, system models, elements, and content can be evaluated through the application of numerical ratings, providing a promising approach for quantifying deterministic values of quality [96–98]. Additionally, a Likert scale format may effectively reduce *Acquiescence Bias* without lowering *Psychometric* quality of the data produced from the evaluation to determine the quality [99–101]. The Likert scale will be discussed further in Statistical Analysis Methods of Section 2.2.7 in this chapter.

2.2.5 Assumptions for Performing Analysis

To better understand the approach that is laid out throughout Chapter 2, a few key assumptions need to be expressed to bound the problem space for the case study analysis data collection. The assumptions were arrived at based on an understanding of what is needed to perform an effective evaluation of the case study DoDAF CONOP architectures. As outlined in the literary review in Chapter 1 Section 1.2, understanding the role of quality engineer is key to effectively assessing the quality of model architectures. Research has provides evidence that human architect or SME, with consideration for the competencies provided below, is best to conduct evaluations of architectures [70]. A SME is considered to have between an estimated 10,000 to 20,000 to hours of time or work in any particular area [102]. The 10,000 hours, if using the standard federal contracting hours for a year of 2,088 hours, translate to approximately 4.8 years experience at a minimum [103]. The explanation for this is because even when using an automated or standardized technique, the

architect's subject skills and experience are still essential when describing a problem or analyzing an assessment [70]. Figure 2.7 shows the minimum necessary competencies needed to fully execute effective Quality Management assessment of model architectures. The competencies in red boxes, in the figure, are an amalgamation of the several different frameworks discussed in Chapter 1 in Section 1.2.2 MBSE Quality Role in DoDAF Application. The frameworks included for this collection of competencies are the INCOSE Systems Engineering Competency Framework [33], NASA Systems Engineering Competencies [34], and the MITRE Company Systems Engineering Competency Model [32, 35]. While other competency lists or frameworks exist that outline the expected or necessary competencies for system engineers these were the main one the author considered for this research.



Figure 2.7: DoDAF Quality Assessment SME Model

For the majority of the competencies listed in the figure, they are very similar in knowledge areas, information processing understanding, and recommendations, the basic quality concepts are

broken down into three areas [104]. The three basic areas are preventive measures, recommendation measures, and quality assurance/measurement [104]. The preventive and recommendation measure help to get put in place mitigation strategies for engineering efforts to minimize impact or recommend action plans to address quality. The preventive and recommendation roll up to the means to drive Quality Assurance and Measure impacts to quality. Understanding of the constraints shown in the constraint blocks to the right of Figure 2.7 bound the quality problem space knowledge areas that are needed by a SME when considering skills and experience. The constraints consist of: 1) DoDAF Standard, 2) SysML Standard, 3) UML Standard, 4) Operational Architecture, 5) Functional Architecture, and 6) Writing Requirements. All of these constraints fall under the main systems engineering base knowledge and *«refine»* the knowledge of the DoDAF Quality Assessment SME. The competencies mold the quality engineering SME role to enable the best product through understanding of 1) normative, 2) rational, 3) participatory, and 4) heuristic traits when assessing aspects of the architecture [105]. The meaning of these aspects of architecture include 1) being the codes and standards to follow, 2) system analysis and engineering, 3) concurrent engineering and brainstorming, and 4) simplify and scope [105]. The assumption is that a SME or quality engineer could recommend the DQCF to address quality and evaluate for continued improvement in the architecture. Additionally, the following enumerated items in conjunction with the assumed competencies are key assumptions for collection of data and interpretation of analysis:

- The person performing the evaluation of the DoDAF CONOP architectures is familiar with DoDAF Quality Assessment SME engineering role and exhibits the competencies described in this Section.
- 2. Operational Functional Performance requirements may or may not exist and but will provide more robust analysis of the DoDAF CONOP architecture.
 - (a) This may not be applicable if Government Acquisition process such as JCIDS is followed [106].

- 3. The DQCF Likert scale was used as evaluation criterion for each DoDAF elements with in the CONOP architecture as shown in Appendix A.
- For each case study model only the DoDAF CONOP architecture view elements contained within specific mission threads were analyzed as described in Section DoDAF CONOP Design Process 2.1.3.
- 5. The approach to data collection from each case study model is established in Section Approach to Analysis Results 2.2.6.
- 6. For both case studies, model analysis was conducted using the automation or primary path of execution integrating the Cameo tool through Application Programming Interface (API) and data was interrogated with IBM SPSS covered Section 2.2.6 Approach to Analysis Results .
 - (a) An alternative path of execution is described in in the Section 2.2.6 Approach to Analysis Results but the analysis can be conducted using any other spreadsheet type tool.
 - (b) The author did use IBM SPSS version 26 to conduct statistical analysis but any other statistical software could be used that performs the same functions as described in Section 2.2.7 Statistical Analysis Methods.
 - (c) Case study one focused on the SMD mission thread to bound the amount of elements to analyze in the Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF CONOP model.
 - (d) Case study two focused on the Command and Control signaling mission thread to bound the amount of elements to analyze in the Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF CONOP model.
- 7. Tools and Software
 - (a) The architecture framework standard used is DoDAF 2.02 standard.
 - (b) Both Case study model are contained in Cameo Enterprise Architecture 19.0 Service Pack 3 Model-Based Systems Engineering (MBSE) tool.

- (c) The tool for automation is Cameo Enterprise Architecture 19.0 Service Pack 3 with Unified Profile for DoDAF/MODAF (UPDM) DoDAF profile [58].
- (d) The Java based plugin is designed specifically to work with Cameo Enterprise Architecture 19.0 Service Pack 3 [107].
- (e) The Java base library for API calls is the jdk1.8.0_231 (64x) version.
- (f) Intellij IDEA ideaIC-2021.2.3 is the Java Integrated Development Environment (IDE) for automated data extraction.
- (g) Microsoft Office Excel 2013 or later is used for the template of data collection.
- (h) IBM SPSS Version 26 for IDE data interrogation and development of plots.

2.2.6 Approach to Analysis Results

With the supporting theories outlined, a logical model defined, QbD concept map for key terms established, and with metric definitions established, the next step is to illustrate a means to obtain analyze data or how that data is extracted from the case study models for use in the data analysis process. Figure 2.8 illustrates how data is extracted and stereotype *«DoDAF Quality View»* applied to the case study model elements for evaluation purposes. First, an MBSE model with DoDAF architecture has been established or provided for evaluation. From the DoDAF model architecture, the CONOP views prescribed in DoDAF CONOP Design Process Section 2.1.3 are identified and abstracted out of the main model for analysis. The identified views are indicated in the yellow box and are dependent on the DoDAF architecture model.

While the views can be addressed individually, the overall context of what the CONOP provides in context maybe lost by evaluating the views this way; however, depending on what the analysis is trying to determine this could differ for one user to another user when using the DQCF. Each of the views contains elements on the diagrams with attributes and inter-relations that consist of UML,SysML, and DoDAF standard stereotypes. These stereotypes related directly to the *desired* and *necessary* aspect of the QCA discussed in the Define Quality by Design for Framework Section 2.2.2 of this Chapter. Each element on a diagram will have an additional stereotype added which



Figure 2.8: Methodology Metric Data Extraction

is the *«DoDAF Quality View»* or DQV stereotype. The *«DoDAF Quality View»* contains the QCC *«definitionTags»* related to the Likert rating scale for quantitative data collection for each element to which the stereotype is applied. The developed plugin automated capability within the DQCF or standardized method through a dataframe tool like Microsoft Excel can be used to collect the data values from the model.

In order to understand the approach to data collection from the case study models, Figure 2.9 illustrates a simplified possible execution activity of the developed framework. Parts of the process can be automated through the application of developed plugins to collect data or collect data using spreadsheet based tool. The plug-in tool for Cameo and the Microsoft Excel Template are available upon request. Initially, a key decision will be made to use the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) including some of the assumptions made in Section 2.2.5. One key question includes "*Start with Requirements or Not*" as seen in Figure 2.9. The implications of this decision

drive critical understanding as the foundational part of systems engineering and provide context for how the architecture was instantiated. The author acknowledges this not always the case to have the requirements available but is preferred. The requirement driven instantiation of the architecture was addressed in "Digital Engineering Transformation of Requirements Analysis within Model-Based Systems Engineering" and has shown how functional performance requirement can drive architecture development [5]. Factors from the DQCF that contribute to this portion of the activity include Figure 2.2.1 Logical Model and Figure 2.7 SME Quality Assessment knowledge areas. The next step in the execution would be that a quality SME would tailor or select the QCA identification as defined in the Section 2.2.2 that are in need of evaluation in the model. The the QCA identification allows the SME to focus quality understanding on critical areas of DoDAF architecture model. The DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) stereotype «DoDAF Quality View» could then be applied to elements of the model. After the application of the profile stereotype the evaluation of elements could occur with in the model or exterior with in a spreadsheet type tool to collect data. The data collection would provide a quantitative means to assess the quality of each element in the model then help to assess the overall quality of the model content. The selected element would be evaluated along the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) provided in Appendix A for the Likert scale questions.

The automation can be done at this point where data is extracted from the model and analyzed with a tool that provide statistical methods described in Section 2.2.7. Additionally, the spreadsheet tool could be populated manually and used as an alternative means to collect data from the model. By providing an alternative means to collect data from the model, the application of the proposed framework is both modular and tool agnostic. The statistical techniques will be discussed further in Statistical Analysis Methods of Section 2.2.7. The final step in the activity execution is to statistically interpret the data to understand the quality of the DoDAF model. A feedback loop exists in the activity to reapply data to assess different areas of model content or increase the sample of model elements evaluated. If an increase in model elements for evaluation is necessary



Figure 2.9: Simple DoDAF Quality Assessment Activity Flow

that will be reflected in the Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test measure of sampling adequacy which is discussed further in Section 2.2.7.

2.2.7 Statistical Analysis Methods

The DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) stereotype «DoDAF Quality View» was used to collect data from the case study models through both automated or manual collection. Statistical techniques were used to analyze the data and provide insight to the data with respect to quality for each of the case studies. The data is collected based on the questions for each factors defined in Appendix A. The questions or statements are presented as a Likert scale questionnaire to collect data on each DoDAF model element. The Likert scale was invented by Rensis Likert in 1932, and used to determine degrees of agreement or of disagreement based on criteria applied when assessing a particular topic area [108]. The Likert scale was used for each question based on an agree or disagree common construct used to help generate greater detail about the evaluation of each case study model quality [109]. Typically, the data generated from the Likert scale is ordinal in nature and reports the ranking/ordering of the data without actually establishing the degree of variation [110]. Medical education research techniques have shown that parametric tests may be utilized to examine ordinal data in medical education research [109, 111]. Additionally, when examining ordinal data, such as that which is found in Likert scales, parametric tests are often more resilient than nonparametric tests even when statistical assumptions such as the normal distribution of data are broken [109, 111]. The reliability of the seven point Likert scale has been shown empirically to be approximately $\sim 90\%$ reliable and approximately $\sim 89\%$ valid [112]. While these are not a 100%, the author considers this acceptable for analysis purposes. For the purpose of the analysis a seven point Likert scale will be used and is shown below.

- 1. "= Strongly Disagree"
- 2. "= Disagree"
- 3. "= Somewhat Disagree"
- 4. "= Neutral"
- 5. "= Somewhat Agree"

6. "= *Agree*"

7. "= Strongly Agree"

The seven point Likert scale provides adjacent options that are most commonly used in the scale design construct [113, 114]. The step wise spectrum offers independence to an element component factor evaluation for a participant to select the best choice for the evaluation [114]. In many cases, the element component factors' questions are rolled up into metric variables that were defined below Section 2.2.7. Additionally, the seven point Likert scale data provides a more reliable result for analysis [115]. Typically, variables are unimportant or correlated with one another, leaving it difficult to construct a proper mathematical model [116]. When it comes to data collection from each case study model, the author is well aware that although conceived variables may be inconsequential or associated to one another, some of the statistical rigor in this part will offer meaning and insight into data received from each case study models.

Dependent and Independent Variables

Now that understanding for the Quality By Design (QbD) has been mapped to the DoDAF framework including where data needs to be collected from within case study models, the following will help to capture and quantify the data needed for interpretation of quality for the developed architecture. To create a quality architecture includes three key aspects which are the DoDAF standard application, the UML/SysML standard application, and the requirement instantiation within the architecture. The following formulated variables represent the Likert scale questions compressed for easier understanding and statistical analysis method application:

- DoDAF Element Quality = DEQ
- Language Element Quality = LEQ
- *Requirement Element Quality = REQ*

The first aspect of DoDAF Element Quality *DEQ* variable takes into account the DoDAF standard aspects of element quality as defined in Appendix A and functions as the dependent variable for analysis purposes for PCA and OLR. The second aspect of Language Element Quality LEQ variable was used to address quality aspects related to the UML/SysML. The LEQ variable is also used as a independent variable for analysis purposes. The final aspect of Requirement Element Quality *REQ* variable takes into account the systems engineering methods of the DoDAF CONOP architecture and relates the element evaluation to requirement instantiation of the architecture in the model [5]. Additionally, the REQ variable looks to establish system contextual meaning for an element in the architecture to understand developed requirements or outline requirement development support for an early stage architecture. The REQ variable was used as an independent variable for the purpose of this analysis. Figure 2.10 shows the construct for the variables. The *DEQ* variable indicated in yellow is the DoDAF Element Quality. The LEO Language Element Quality and REQ Requirement Element Quality variables are indicated in red and are causal factors that will influence the DEQ value. The Single Element Quality or SEQ has three aspects that can be shown for that element but is not a variable or calculated value just represents variable aspects of a single element that are collected. The green box indicates the the QCC questions from Appendix A. The additivity of the variables characterizes the understanding for a single element aspect taking into account DoDAF CONOP quality, requirement and design quality, and UML/SysML language quality [117]. All variables were used to answer the research questions in the research question Section 1.2.1 of Chapter 1. Figure 2.10 shows the construct for the variables. Within each block of the tables a single value for Likert scale rating will be entered, values larger than seven or smaller than zero will be ignored.

The factors that determine whether a element from the case studies contributes to analysis or does not is based on the element being included on the corresponding DoDAF CONOPs view diagrams which can be quantitatively evaluated by the QCC scale. The mean and median values will be compared to one another in the analysis for each case study. The reasoning stems from the example presented in Section 2.2.7 of this Chapter. Once the determination between mean and median is made, one or the other will be use to assist in the Ordinal Logistic Regression (OLR) analysis for each of the case study models in Chapter 4 and 5. The values of mean or median for



Figure 2.10: Dependent and Independent Variables for Analysis

DEQ, *LEQ*, and *REQ* will be used to assist in interpretation and analysis for each case study. The descriptives calculated for each variable will include: *mean, median, variance, standard deviation, minimum, maximum, range, standard error, skewness and kurtosis*. While models can be relatively small and may not provide large sample sizes of historical size for data analysis, techniques exist to generate defensible, quantified metrics within uncertainty bounds from small sample sizes or based on subjective expert judgment [36]. The methods include: Bayesian Statistics methods, generalization table with percentage errors, and many others [118]. If an increase in model elements for evaluation is necessary that will be reflected in the Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test measure of sampling adequacy which is discussed further in Section 2.2.7.

Mean vs Median

With the variables formulation completed using the *median* vs the *mean* values for analysis purpose must be determined [119]. The *median* use is justified on occasion because the data is ordinal in nature and not normally distributed [119]. Consider the following answers as an example to demonstrate the reasoning for use of the median: Sample: 1,2,2,5,5. The rating scale is as follows: 1) Disagree, 2) Somewhat Disagree, 3) Neutral, 4) Somewhat Agree, and 5) Agree. The *mean* for the Sample is 3 and the *median* is 2. What would the interpretation for a *mean* of 3

mean for the observation with in the framework when the representation is neutral? By checking frequencies for the example, two five values which are "agree" ratings, and the remaining three basic ratings are "disagree". The frequencies show that the example only has a 40% agreement, and a 60% disagreement. The frequencies show that the observation is not neutral as the *mean* of 3 would indicate, but is in disagreement. Justification for the use of the median over the mean is a critical assumption to ensure the appropriate perspective is indicated for each question asked in the Likert scale data. The comparison will include descriptive statistics and plots for normality checks such as Q-Q Plot and Frequency plots to make determination on *mean* vs *median*.

Normality Testing

Once the data sets were collected, normality tests were conducted in order to conduct some of the statistical methods to affirm the assumptions of ordinal, discrete, and limited range for parts of the analysis to be conducted. The first check on the data set was the skewness and kurtosis of the data set to determine normality [120]. The skewness statistic provides information about whether a distribution is symmetric or skewed to either side on a frequency plot [121]. The skewness can be both positive and negative in nature [120]. If the data is normally distributed, the expectation of a low value, near 0, for skewness and a flatter peakedness value is expected [120]. The formula for skewness is equation 2.1. $\tilde{\mu}_3$ represents the value for skewness [120]. *n* is the number of variables in the distribution [120]. X_i is any random variables [120]. \overline{X} is the mean of the distribution [120].

$$\widetilde{\mu}_3 = \frac{\sum_i^n \left(X_i - \overline{X}\right)^3}{(n-1) \cdot \sigma^3} \tag{2.1}$$

The next check will be the kurtosis check for the data or the degree of peakedness of the data distribution [121]. The formula for kurtosis is equation 2.2. X_i is the *i*th variable of the distribution [120]. \overline{X} is the mean of the distribution [120]. The N is the number of variables in the
distribution [120].

$$K = \frac{\sum_{i}^{n} \left(X_{i} - \overline{X} \right)^{4}}{n \cdot \sigma^{4}}$$
(2.2)

In cases where samples are small n < 50, when the absolute z-scores for either skewness or kurtosis are larger than 1.96, then the distribution is non-normal [122]. In cases for small samples where n > 50 but n < 300, and the absolute z-scores over 3.29, then the distribution is nonnormal [122]. For sample sizes greater than 300, one should factor in the frequencies and the absolute values of skewness and kurtosis. [122]. Either an absolute skew value larger than 2 or an absolute kurtosis larger than 7 may determine a substantial non-normality or ordinal data set [122].

Additionally, tests that deal with normality of a data set are Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests for normality can be used for a uni-variable ordinal data set [123]. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov is considered non-parametric when used in this fashion [123]. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test can be considered if the sample size of n is greater than 100. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test will provide a significance value associated with each of the variables DEQ, REQ, and LEQ. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test equation 2.3. The F_o values are the Observed cumulative frequency distribution of a random sample of n observations [120]. The F_r values are the theoretical frequency distribution [120].

$$D = Maximum \left| F_o\left(X\right) - F_r\left(X\right) \right| \tag{2.3}$$

The expectation for the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test is that if the significance (p) of each of the variables *DEQ*, *REQ*, and *LEQ* is less that 0.05, then variables are considered significant and not normally distributed [123]. The Shapiro-Wilk test deals with normality of a data set, if the sample size of n is less than 100 [124, 125]. The Shapiro-Wilk test will provide significance of value associated with each of the variables *DEQ*, *REQ*, and *LEQ*. The expectation for the Shapiro-Wilk test is that the significance (p) of each of the variables *DEQ*, *REQ*, and *LEQ*. The stapiro-Wilk test is less that 0.05, then variables are considered significance (p) of each of the variables *DEQ*, *REQ*, and *LEQ*. The stapiro-Wilk test is less that 0.05, then variables are considered significant and not normally distributed [124, 125]. The Shapiro-Wilk

test equation 2.4. The X_i values are the ordered random sample values [125]. The a_i values are constants generated from the covariances, variances and means of the sample size n [125].

$$W = \frac{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i X_i\right)^2}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(X_i - \overline{X}\right)^2}$$
(2.4)

If the resultant from both tests are questionable then the *log* of values will be calculated and retested for normality. If the result still shows significance p < 0.05, then the data set can be considered as not normally distributed. Checking to confirm if non-normality exists is a critical assumption for conducting ordinal regression between the dependent and independent variables [126]. Additionally, using the output of a normal Q-Q Plot, we may visually assess the normality of a given distribution [127]. If the data is regularly distributed, the data points will be clustered along the diagonal line, indicating that the data is normal [127]. Normally distributed data are not normally distributed if the data points deviate significantly off the line in an evident non-linear pattern [127].

Multicollinerarity

The term multicollinerarity refers to high intercorrelations among two or more independent variables in a regression model [128]. When dealing with Multicollinerarity, the independent variables could produce less reliable probabilities that effect the mathematical model resultant and data interpretation for the case study models [128]. Multicollinerarity needs to be addressed because the standard errors of the coefficients for variables could cause false indicators and become non-significant or significant [129]. The best way to test for multicollinerarity is to run a linear regression equation 2.5 analysis and look at the Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) values for each factor [129]. The equation for linear regression is equation 2.5. Y_i is the dependent variable or in this case the mean or median value for DEQ [129]. β_0 is the constant or intercept [129]. β_i is the slope coefficient [129]. X_i is the independent variable or LEQ and REQ [129]. ϵ_i is the random

error term [129].

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_i + \epsilon_i \tag{2.5}$$

The equation for VIF is 2.6. R_i^2 represents the unadjusted coefficient of determination for regressing the *i*th independent variable on the remaining ones [129]. In checking the multicollinerarity between variables VIF to determine the relation, it is desired to obtain a value below 0.8. If the value is greater, this means multicollinerarity exists between the variables [129].

$$VIF_{i} = \frac{1}{1 - R_{i}^{2}}$$
(2.6)

Additionally, Spearman's ρ is a non-parametric measure of rank correlation for ordinal data and tells how well the relationship between the two variables is [130]. The non-parametric measure of rank correlation coefficients higher ρ coefficients denote a stronger magnitude of relationship between variables and Smaller rho coefficients denote weaker relationships [130]. ρ is Spearman's rank correlation coefficient [120]. d_i^2 is the difference between the two ranks of each observation [120]. The *n* is the number of observations [120]. The goal for the ordinal data is to have a weak or almost non-existent correlation for the coefficients for each of the variables indicated in the matrix [120]. Spearman's ρ can both be positive and negative, with the goal is to have a value between 0.1 and -0.1 [120]. The equation for Spearman's ρ is 2.7.

$$\rho = 1 - \frac{6\sum d_i^2}{n\left(n^2 - 1\right)} \tag{2.7}$$

Checking to confirm no multicollinerarity exists is a critical assumption for conducting OLR between the dependent and independent variables [120]. Dimensionality could be an issue considering the number of questions asked through the Likert scale questionnaire for element component factor evaluation [131]. Conducting Test of Proportional Odds tests the proportional odds assumption that the slop of coefficients in the model are the same across the response categories.

Proportional Odds tests needs to be cautioned in that if the significance p > 0.05, it will violate this assumption [120]. The author wants to stress it is vital to remember that statistical significance does not always imply the strength of Spearman's correlation between variables [132]. Statistical significance testing of the Spearman correlation does not, give any information regarding the strength of the link between variables [132]. Just because the value result $\rho = 0.001$ does not imply that the association is stronger than it would be if you had achieved the result $\rho = 0.04$ instead [132]. This is mostly due to the fact that the significance test is looking to see whether you can reject or fail to reject the null hypothesis throughout the investigation [132]. Assuming that the null hypothesis is correct and if you get a statistically significant Spearman correlation, this indicates that there is less than a 5% chance that the strength of the association discovered occurred by coincidence [132].

Principal Components Analysis

Principal Components Analysis (PCA) for categorical variables is a method performed on the data in order to test the theoretical model of latent factors which cause the observed variables to change [133–135]. Ordinal variables are converted to quantify their underlying equivalents with the goal of increasing the amount of variance explained by a small number of main components taken from the data set. The approach becomes explicitly goal driven rather than theory driven, and for the purpose of analysis, critical to reach maximum of two primary components with acceptable percentage to with 50% to 60% [136]. The author recognizes this is considered a parametric test, but is often more resilient than nonparametric tests and is considered acceptable practice via available research [109, 111]. The author understands and acknowledges that using PCA for analysis of ordinal data is highly debated both in the positive and negative, but considered acceptable to perform analysis as long as the Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett's test are passed as described. PCA will also assist the analysis by preventing "over fitting" due to the use of many factors for quality evaluation [137]. PCA is also used for dimensional reduction of component

factor for the analysis, and will be used as such for the purpose of this analysis [138].

$$\sigma_{jk} = \frac{1}{n} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left(X_{ij} - \overline{X}_j \right) \left(X_{ik} - \overline{X}_k \right)$$
(2.8)

By using PCA for dimensional reduction to conduct OLR, if collinerarity still exist after reduction but the VIF values were small for all remaining factors then PCA is still acceptable and analysis can continue [139]. While PCA should be analyzed on a continuous basis, the approach can be used on ordinal data to provide unique insight into the relations of variables and explain findings from case study models [138, 140]. PCA can be used to provide insight into multicollinerarity and dimensionality, as well as establish linear combinations of the element component factors [140]. The first step in the analysis provides the descriptive statistics on each of the observations or elements with the Likert scale. The covariance matrix contains all element combination pairs for each variable [120]. The equation 2.8 is used to calculate the covariance between two attributes [139]. The matrix breakdown equation for covariance matrix is equation 2.9.

$$[X_1, X_2, \dots, X_n] = \begin{bmatrix} X_1(t_1) & X_1(t_1) & \dots & X_n(t_1) \\ X_1(t_2) & X_2(t_2) & \dots & X_n(t_2) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ X_1(t_m) & X_2(t_m) & \dots & X_n(t_m) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.9)

The covariance between variables can be both positive and negative with clusters closer together or separated moving apart [120]. Additionally, the KMO test can be conducted which will return a measure of sampling adequacy [141]. The equation for KMO test is equation 2.10. r_{ij} is the correlation matrix [141]. u_{ij} is the partial covariance matrix [141].

$$KMO_{j} = \frac{\sum_{i \neq j} r_{ij}^{2}}{\sum_{i \neq j} r_{ij}^{2} + \sum_{i \neq j} u_{ij}}$$
(2.10)

The KMO addresses partial correlation between the variables [141]. The expectation is that the test should return values closer to 1.0 to 0.5 meaning the sample is adequate, less than 0.5 is

considered problematic requiring further investigation [120, 141]. The Bartlett's Test is a statistical method to test the correlation matrix as a true identity matrix [120, 142]. The equation for Bartlett's Test is equation 2.11. s_i^2 is the variance of the *i*th group [142]. *n* is the total sample size [142]. n_i is the sample size of the *i*th group [142]. *k* is the number of groups [142]. s_p^2 is the pooled variance [142]. The Bartlett's test will return a value of significance if the value is less than (p < 0.05), the matrix is not an identity matrix and the variables are unrelated and difficult for factor analysis [142].

$$T = \frac{(n-k)\ln s_p^2 - \sum_{i=1}^k (n_i -)\ln s_i^2}{1 + \left(\frac{1}{3(k-1)}\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^k \frac{1}{n_i - 1}\right) - \frac{1}{(n-k)}}$$
(2.11)

The next step would to analyze the total variance for each variable [120]. The variance of the total variables will tell what variables provide the most important impact for the data set [142]. The correlations component matrix can show the correlations between variables which can show linear relations between variables showing a change in one that directly changes another through a linear equation [120]. The eigenvalues of 1 or greater will determine what factors remain for continued analysis [142].



Figure 2.11: PCA Loading Plot Example [9]

Figure 2.11 illustrates a PCA loading plot. Whenever the numerical value of one variable changes, the numerical value of the other variable has a strong propensity to change in the same manner [9]. When variables are negatively (or inversely) linked, they are plotted on the opposing sides of the plot origin, in diagonally opposed quadrants, as seen in the figure [9]. Furthermore, the distance from the point of origin transmits information as well. The farther the distance a variable is from the plot's origin, the greater the influence that variable has on the model's outcome [9]. Geometrically, the principle component loadings represent the orientation of the model plane in the K-dimensional variable space, and this is expressed by the principal component loadings [9, 142]. It can be determined which way PC1 is moving in regard to the initial variables by taking the sine of the angles a_1 , a_2 , and a_3 [9, 142]. These numbers demonstrate how the original variables x_1 , x_2 , and x_3 "load" (that is, contribute to) PC1 when they are multiplied together. As a result, they are referred to as loadings [9, 142]. The ultimate goal is to look at the loading plots generated for the PCA analysis and understand the components relations to the variables.

Ordinal Logistic Regression

Ordinal Logistic Regression (OLR) analysis has three particular approaches which include feature extraction, forecasting of an effect on the DoDAF model quality and trend forecasting [120, 143]. OLR analysis assumes a dependence or causal relationship between one or more independent and one dependent variable [120]. Primarily, OLR can be used to identify the strength of the effects that the independent variables have on a dependent variable [120]. OLR is more likely to be the correct approach, although it is less well-known and more difficult to grasp than formal logistic regression [144]. It is much more difficult to grasp MLR since it is a highly complicated model with a large number of parameters to estimate [144]. Collapsing the variables through MLR will only be accurate in a very small number of cases [144]. OLR can be used to forecast effects and to understand how much the dependent variable changes when the independent variables are changed [120]. Additionally, Multinomial Logistic Regression (MLR) can be used for ordinal data for statistical analysis; however, it is preferred to use Ordinal Logistic Regression [144]. Only when the proportional odds assumption is violated will MLR be used over OLR. The proportional odds assumption has a constant relationship between the independent variable and dependent variables [144]. The equation for Ordinal Regression is 2.12.

$$\operatorname{logit}[\gamma_j] = \log \frac{P(Y \le j | x)}{1 - P(Y \le j | x)} = \log \frac{\pi_1(x) + \dots + \pi_j(x)}{\pi_{j+1}(x) + \dots + \pi_J(x)}, j = 1, \dots, J - 1$$
(2.12)

The $\pi_j(x)$ is the probability that score j is rated through subjective human analysis [145]. The logit[γ_j] models the logit that users score less or equal to score j [145]. J specifies the total number of response categories 7, based on the design of the Likert scale used for each question [145]. A number of J - 1 logit's are established since $P(Y \leq J|x)$ is always 1 [145]. Additionally, checks will be made on the data set prior to conducting the OLR analysis. The Pearson and Deviance test are conducted to understand the observed distribution of the data expected in the independent calculated mean of abstracted variables [146]. Equation 2.13 shows the Pearson test equation. X^2 is Chi-squared obtained. y_i is observed value. $\hat{\mu}_i$ is the expected number of observed values.

$$X^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{c} \left[\frac{y_{i} - \widehat{\mu}_{i}}{\sqrt{\widehat{\mu}_{i}}} \right]^{2}$$
(2.13)

Equation 2.14 shows the Deviance test equation. L^2 is Chi-squared obtained. y_i is observed value. $\hat{\mu}_i$ is the expected number of observed values.

$$L^{2} = 2\sum_{i=1}^{c} y_{i} \log\left[\frac{y_{i}}{\widehat{\mu}_{i}}\right]$$
(2.14)

The Pearson and Deviance test were conducted to understand the observed distribution of the data expected in the independent calculated mean of abstracted variables [146]. The indication for the tests on the evaluation data is that the values are non significant, meaning a p > 0.05 [147]. If the significance level was low, meaning p < 0.05, the predicted model would deviate from the observed model presenting a problem with the data set requiring further investigation [148]. The next test values calculated are the Pseudo R-Square values including the Cox and Snell, Nagelkerke, and McFadden tests. The values are treated as rough analogues to the R-Squared values in ordinal

least squares method for estimating the unknown parameters in an OLR analysis [149]. Equation 2.15 shows the Cox and Snell test. n is number of observed values [149]. $L_{intercept}$ is the intercept value [149].

$$R_{cs}^{2} = 1.0 - \exp\left(\frac{2\ln L_{Full} - 2\ln L_{intercept}}{n}\right)$$
(2.15)

As the $-2\ln L$ value for the model intercept refers to the intercept-only model increases, the Cox and Snell R-squared result will approach one [149]. Since the result can never actually reach one, the Nagelkerke R-Squared is also shown; this descriptor takes Cox and Snell value and divides by the result with the model $-2\ln L$ set to zero [149]. Equation 2.16 shows the Nagelkerke test.

$$R_{Nag}^2 = \frac{R_{CS}^2}{1.0 - \exp\left(\frac{-2\ln L_{Intercept}}{n}\right)}$$
(2.16)

Equation 2.17 shows the McFadden test. L_0 are the likelihood for the model being fitted [149]. The consensus is that the values when calculated for equations 2.15, 2.16, and 2.17, must not be statistically significant or a problem may exist with the data set [149, 150].

$$R_{McF}^2 = -\frac{n}{2} \cdot \frac{\ln\left(1 - R_{CS}^2\right)}{\ln L_0}$$
(2.17)

Furthermore, a Wald Chi-Squared test will be used to determine whether or not explanatory variables in a model are significant [151]. Significant signifies that the variables contribute something to the model; variables that contribute nothing may be removed from the model without influencing it in any significant manner [151]. Equation 2.18 shows the Wald test. $\hat{\theta}$ is the maximum likelihood estimator [151]. $I_N(\hat{\theta})$ is how much information about an unknown parameter we can get from a sample or the Fisher information [152].

$$W_T = I_N\left(\widehat{\theta}\right) \left[\widehat{\theta} - \theta_0\right]^2 \tag{2.18}$$

A one-unit change in an independent variable has a constant influence on the probability, however this is not achievable because of the non-linearity of the model [144]. Instead, the projected probabilities need the inclusion of the other variables in the model in order to be accurate [144]. The final aim is to evaluate the variables in terms of their likelihood of occurring and preform interpretations of quality.

Summation

The statistical techniques describes will help to interpret the Likert scale data for the quality of each of the case study models. The methods used through the Likert scale questions and evaluations can illustrate key factors influencing quality of DoDAF CONOPs for each model. Plots of data as well as interpretations will provide a unique approach and story board for quality of each case study model.

Chapter 3

Conceptual Framework and Overview

3.1 Framework Development Methodology

The ultimate goal of this dissertation is to provide a means through a New DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) to evaluate quality of MBSE DoDAF architecture models. The scope for the framework will focus primarily on DoDAF CONOP architecture element evaluations to achieve an overall quality understanding for the system CONOP mission threads defined in the case studies. The Quality By Design (QbD) application through the DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) addresses selected aspects for quality analysis to evaluate elements within a model. While many methods exist for quality assessment of model architectures, most focus primarily on the UML/SysML base languages, which in truth are only part of the equation for quality. Considerations for the system design with respect to quality as well as the DoDAF standard application need to be included for the total quality assessment. Statistical methods are needed to provide meaningful insight into the data collection evaluations, instead of arbitrary meaningless counts of elements.

The goal of this conceptual framework is to describe various concepts that can map relations of the methodology into execution [153]. Typically frameworks consist of five major functional areas including: 1) building a foundation, 2) methodology capture, 3) conceptualization framework formation, 4) application and data collection, and 5) interpretation of findings [154]. The purpose of this section is to provide the conceptual framework connections to the ideas described in Chapters 1 and 2 to the data collected from case studies in order to offer empirical evidence of how the DQCF can interpret quality of DoDAF CONOP architectural quality [153]. Most of the details discussed for the framework are designed using the Cameo Enterprise Architecture tool suite as discussed under Chapter 2 Section 2.2.5 Assumptions for Performing Analysis. The methods and the framework itself are tool agnostic and can be used to address the QbD of any DoDAF architecture.

ture construct within a model. The primary examples and images for profiles were taken from the Cameo Enterprise Architecture tool suite version 19.0 service pack 3. The profile is exportable to Extensible Markup Language (XML) 1.0 and can be imported to other tools making the profile useable in many other tools. Cameo Enterprise Architecture Tool Suite was selected as the primary tool for illustration purposes it is the primary tool used for Object Management Group (OMG) when building Domain Specific Language (DSL) extensions for new release of UML/SysML. For readability, Stereotypes will be indicated by having «» symbols around them.

3.2 Framework Design for Modularity Evaluation

The conceptual framework described in this chapter provides insight into modularity including both the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) and the end model product that is developed. The degree of modularity assessment is used in order to grasp functional reusability understanding of architecture aspects for development of system design. The developed product for purpose of modularity evaluation will be the DoDAF CONOP architecture specified mission threads in the case studies [155–157]. In the architectural design, a mission thread is a sequence of end-to-end actions and events that are presented as a series of stages and that are used to execute the execution of one or more capabilities that are supported by the architectural design [158]. Although listing the steps and explaining them are important, they do not reveal all of the important concerns associated with cooperation among the systems in order to complete the mission; understanding the architectural and engineering considerations associated with each mission thread is also necessary [158]. As stated from the Literary Review in Section 1.2 of Chapter 1, problems have always existed with document based approaches to systems engineering [159]. While data integration can suffer from inconsistencies, continuity in data is primarily where the modularization suffers during the architecture development [157]. Understanding or measuring to what degree the aspects of cross integration and data continuity create the complex network structure of an architecture, ultimately reflecting the degree of modularity of a model [157, 160]. The flow of information between, or created by, these model elements is critical to the understanding for modularization [161, 162].

The DoDAF CONOP data interactions and how they are evaluated will be critical to the system design quality as well as model quality. To address the interactions or relations between elements, it is best to look at how they are defined dimensionally [44]. The first dimension is the structural interactions and the second dimension is the weight of the relationship, whether it is a positive or negative interaction [44] The third dimension is the element detail and will be where this conceptual framework stresses the evaluation by a Subject Matter Expert (SME) [44]. This third dimension constitutes the architecture abstract subsystems, major components, and individual parts which reside on DoDAF views of a system design [44]. The third dimension and corresponding DoDAF views in the quality evaluation of elements is where conceptual framework addresses the degree of modularity.

Modularization for the conceptual framework constitutes the interconnected dependencies relationships to the created system design data that instantiates the architecture for the system [163– 165]. A good example of the created system design data can be seen in the textual Requirement grammatical patters that translate to the instantiation of an architecture [5, 166]. The segmentation of text from the grammatical patterns helps to bring in modularity by driving element creation on specific DoDAF views in the model architecture [50]. The following bulleted list illustrates different structural requirement patterns developed by Carson and others that present how system design data is created [167]. The first bullet is from Carson's pattern method for functional performance requirements' structured requirement [167–169]. The second bullet is from IEEE 29148 standard for requirements writing [168]. The third is from INCOSE Guide for Writing Requirements [169]. The textual patterns can relate requirements' text directly to the quality of architecture elements as they are developed [167]. Instantiation of architecture elements through requirement text was shown in Miller's *Digital engineering transformation of requirements analysis within model-based systems engineering* [5]. Table 3.1 show steps and elements created from each step in Miller's purposed method.

- Functional/Performance The AGENT shall FUNCTION in accordance with INTERFACE-OUTPUT with PERFORMANCE [and TIMING upon EVENT TRIGGER in accordance with INTERFACE-INPUT] while in CONDITION [167].
- When signal x is received [Condition], the system [Subject] shall set [Action] the signal x-received bit [Object] within 2 seconds [Constraint] [168].
- The <subject clause> shall <action verb clause> <object clause> <optional qualifying clause>, when <condition clause> [169].

The textual pattern for the functional performance requirement shown in the first bullet was used as a reference to construct the evaluation criteria for Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) from Appendix A. The operational functional performance requirement should drive the development of a CONOP architecture for a system design as stated in Section 2.1.3 DoDAF CONOP Design Process in Chapter 2 [4, 79]. The QCC variable that represents the requirement development is the *Requirement Element Quality* or *REQ* from Section 2.2.7 of Chapter 2 The *REQ* variable attempts addresses the impact of requirements' quality to the system design and architecture for each DoDAF element created.

The criticality of requirements' to systems engineering quality is why the *REQ* plays a vital role for the DoDAF CONOPs element quality evaluation. All of the *REQ* present a key aspect for QCC that bring the analysis system design data into the degree of modularity. The DoDAF element relations, through created relationships driven from the system design data to other elements of the architecture, introduce modularization relating system requirements while instantiating model elements for the DoDAF CONOP architecture [5, 163–165]. By visualizing the relationships of system design data via the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC), the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) establishes the Quality Control Attribute (QCA) from the Quality By Design (QbD) theory aspect into the applied desired DoDAF CONOP architecture shown in Figure 3.1.

Module formation is shown through the views to establish the CONOP architecture views via the complex stage network structure or interconnected relations with the help of a network dia-

Method Step	p Element Stereotype	Relations Created				
1	«requirement»					
2	«functionalRequire	«deriveReq»				
2.a	«System»					
2.a.1		«allocate»				
2.b	«function»					
2.b.1			«refine»			
2.c «Mea	asurementSet» «ActualM	leasurementSet»				
2.c.1			«refine»			
2.c.2	«Standard»					
2.d «Op	erationalAction» «Opera	ationalActivity»				
2.d.1			«refine»			
2.e.1			«dependency»			
2.e.2	«OperationalStateDes	cription»	«refine»			
2.e.3	«OperationalConst	raint»				
3	«Capability»					
3.a		«trace»				
4	Complete	Complete				
Capability Need	Requirement Driver From CONOPs	DoDAF/UML/Sys Stereotypes	ML DoDAF Views/Diagram that make CONOP			
«Capability #1»	«Requirement #1.1»	«UML» « DoDAF »	OV-1			
	«Requirement #2.1»	«SysML» « DoDAF »				
«Capability #2»	«Requirement #2.2»	«SysML»	SV-4			
	«Requirement #2.5»	« DoDAF »				
«Capability #3»	«Requirement #3.1» «Requirement #3.2»	« Dodaf » «UML»	CV-1			
Legend		« DoDAF »				
«UML» «S	ysML» « DoDAF »	Desired Quality Ne	Arrows Indicate Graphical Accessary Relationships between Data Network			

Table 3.1: Elements and Relations Created for Miller's Method [5]

Figure 3.1: Network Diagram Understanding for DoDAF Example

gram [157, 170]. The important aspect is that the more modular a designed system is, the easier it is to upgrade, replace, or reuse design aspects [156, 171]. Figure 3.2 shows the groupings of

elements as defined in Miller's method. The red dashed line indicates DoDAF element stereotypes created from functional performance requirement statement using Miller's method [5]. The yellow dashed line indicates the relationships that are created using Miller's method [5]. The blue solid boxes indicate customer or supplier provided material. The yellow solid box indicates the derived requirement statement which decomposes in the the created DoDAF CONOP elements to create the architecture. The framework evaluation criteria establishes two factors for evaluation addressing modularity for quality aspects and can be extracted to understand the modularity quality for the DoDAF CONOP architecture. Additionally, the textual pattern introduces modularity in the integration for consistencies and continuity in data where modularization traditionally suffers in architecture development and is reflected in the QCC through the DoDAF Element Quality or (DEQ) [157]. The first factor is DEQ2 networked relationships between the graphical elements [157, 160]. The second factor is DEQ6 which provide understanding of consistency and continuity of system design data [157]. By taking this multiple factor approach through DEQ and *REQ* to integrate understanding for quality of modularity within the evaluation criteria of the DoDAF elements, a more manageable segmented approach can be applied to reduce the complexity while quality of modularity can be achieved [44, 172].

Additionally, assessing modularity cannot be complete without addressing complexity of the system design [173]. While several equations exist for modularity and are documented in several different papers, many of the equations rely on generated architectures which is them ideal for application to case study model to determine a degree of modularity [171]. Holtta-Otto's team paper evaluated several of the equations, the teams analysis found that for the factors for that study that YuTian's equation for Minimum Description Length (MDL) was most useful for describing the degree of modularity [171, 174]. The author based on the Holtta-Otto's team paper will use an adapted version of YuTian's equation for MDL in an attempt to quantify modularity for case study models. Typically, all of the approaches to modularity equations use a Design Structure Matrix (DSM) to understand the relationship between elements in a model [171, 173]. The Hölttä-Otto paper outlines the best performance modular equation to use in order to detect modularity



Figure 3.2: Requirement Transformation Analysis of Elements and Relations

which based on the data would suggest the best approach when DoDAF architecture structure views are considered as individual modules [171]. The paper *An information theoretic method for developing modular architectures using genetic algorithms* details promising approaches with DSM and equations to support addition for the DQCF to address modularity [174].

$$MDL = \frac{1}{3} \left(n_c \log(n_n) + \log(n_n) \sum_{i=1}^{n_c} cl_i w \right) + \frac{1}{3} S_1 + \frac{1}{3} S_2$$
(3.1)

The variables in Equation 3.1 represent n_c number of modules, n_n number of rows in DSM, cl_i size of module, w weight of view importance, S_1 is number of cells in a module in DSM, and S_2 is the number of cells in between modules in DSM [174]. YuTian and his team's approach uses a logistic transformation making the data more manageable to calculate [175, 176]. While no bounds exist for the value that is calculated from the equation 3.1, a more modular architecture will result in a smaller value for description length. The type I mismatch should be substantially larger in value than type II mismatch [171]. For the purpose of this analysis the author will look at each of the MDL calculated for the overall model to make a determination on degree of modularity.

Score	Definitions
10	Highest possible order of affirmation for the Model and DoDAF View is much more important than the other
8	Strongly Important and is absolutely more important that other DoDAF Views
6	The DoDAF View is more important that another DoDAF View
4	The DoDAF View is slightly more important than another DoDAF View
2	The DoDAF View is not practically important
9,7,5,3,1	Intermediate values between two adjacent judgments

Table 3.2:	Weighted	Ranking	Structure	to I	Determine

Furthermore, the author will use pairwise weighting for each DoDAF view importance, meaning analyst should compare each DoDAF view with the rest of the group and give a preferential level to the DoDAF view [177, 178]. The preference level would be one if the DoDAF view in question is equally significant to that of the second DoDAF view. If the preference level were much more significant, its preference level would be 10. After all of the comparisons have been completed and the favored levels have been determined, the data will be combined together and normalized. The weights for each DoDAF view are derived from the findings and shown in Table 3.3. If you're comparing one DoDAF view with another, you may use Table 3.2 as a reference to determine which DoDAF view deserves a preferable level score. The weights of each DoDAF view were utilized to determine the relevance of each of the associated clusters of relationships in the data set under consideration. This was advocated by the YuTian team as a method of adjusting the modularity measure within the limits of the MDS. The weights were applied to each cluster in order to understand how each cluster was weighted during the summing of all clusters for modularity calculation in Chapters 4 and 5. As a result of the fact that certain DoDAF views include more significant information than other views, this method was adopted.

Based on Figure 3.1, which would be in alignment with the Minimum Description Length (MDL), each case study will be used as a means to quantify degree of modularity for architectures. DSMs are easy to build within MBSE tools for the selected analysis methods and are often referred to as relationship matrix or dependency matrix [179]. Figure 3.4 shows an illustrated example of what Modularity DSM evaluation template exists in the conceptual framework. The example shows two containers or packages of elements in DoDAF CONOP *viewpoints* and the interconnected relationships between the DoDAF elements. A *viewpoint* in this context is an arbitrary

DoDAF Views Weight Table												
		OV-1	CV-2	OV-2	SV-1	DIV-1	OV-5	SV-4	DIV-2	CV-1	Total	Weights
DoDAF Views	OV-1	1.00	0.25	0.13	0.17	0.25	0.13	0.14	0.20	0.50	2.76	0.014
	CV-2	4.00	1.00	0.13	0.20	6.00	7.00	7.00	1.00	2.00	28.33	0.148
	OV-2	8.00	8.00	1.00	3.00	8.00	7.00	6.00	4.00	2.00	47.01	0.246
	SV-1	6.00	5.00	0.33	1.00	2.00	4.00	1.00	5.00	4.00	28.33	0.148
	DIV-1	4.00	0.17	0.13	0.50	1.00	0.25	0.20	0.33	2.00	8.58	0.045
	OV-5	8.00	0.14	0.14	0.25	4.00	1.00	3.00	6.00	8.00	30.54	0.160
	SV-4	7.00	0.14	0.17	1.00	5.00	0.33	1.00	4.00	7.00	25.64	0.134
	DIV-2	5.00	1.00	0.25	0.20	3.00	0.17	0.25	1.00	4.00	14.87	0.078
	CV-1	2.00	0.50	0.50	0.25	0.50	0.13	0.14	0.25	1.00	5.27	0.028
										Total	191.31	

Table 3.3: DoDAF View Weights of Importance

collection point for elements within a model for ease of data organizational management [4, 180]. *Views* are the contextual technical view of system design data presented under DoDAF CONOPs specific areas of the architecture such as OV-1, SV-4, or CV-5 and are discussed in Section 2.1.3 DoDAF Viewpoints and Views of Chapter 2 [4].

It is the next step to organize the related data into clustering sites in order to better understand how data is included inside model modules using the MDS. An example of how this was done is on a dependency matrix is shown in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: DoDAF CONOP Modularity Clustering Approach

The first grid in Figure 3.3, shows what a general dependency matrix in the Cameo and is random and non-clustered. In the concept of DoDAF views, the modules or the individual letters communicate data elements independent of element type. The box in the lower left corner shows the viewpoint with views as the orange and yellow boxes, the little blue boxes are the individual elements on that view. The " \nearrow " in the grid indicates a relation between the elements from column to row. The black squares indicate an element in a relation with itself and are not counted or addressed. In the second grid in Figure 3.3, shows the relations clustered in groups with blue squares around the identified clusters. The clusters dictate the table just below the second grid and show how these values will map into the equation shown just below the table. Equation 3.2 just below the table is the description length for mismatch type I and II.

$$MismatchDescriptionLength = \sum_{(i,j)\in S_1} \left(\log n_n + \log n_n + 1\right) + \sum_{(i,j)\in S_2} \left(\log n_n + \log n_n + 1\right)$$
(3.2)

The S_1 and S_2 variables are the type I and type II mismatch errors. Type I mismatch is for blanks inside of a cluster and Type II mismatch is for blanks outside of a cluster [174]. In the last gird in Figure 3.3, shows the weight of strength of relations between elements in the gird. One concern is that viewpoints are not interconnected and considered separate modules [181].

Another concern with this aspect of quantifying modularity, based on Miller's approach for the functional performance requirements, is the requirement statement volatility. Requirement uncertainty in the development phase of a program can have a huge impact on design [182]. Requirement volatility is where requirement statements change causing flux in the system design process [183]. Volatility in the functional architecture design for the system is critical for aligning the problem space with solution [10]. Mauricio et al. found that research has shown a dependency between the number of system functions and the number of requirements for the system [184,185]. Specifically, dynamic requirements that are ever changing, would have an impact on how the architecture is instantiated using Miller's method [185]. The National Defense Industrial Association



Figure 3.4: Modularity Design Structure Matrix Example

(NDIA) in conjunction with INCOSE and industry leaders developed metrics to address requirement volatility in architectures. The *Functional Architecture Completeness and Volatility* metric is one of the first industry standards that addresses the stabilisation for the functional architecture which is directly impacts the performance requirements statements [10].

Figure 3.5 shows how functional performance requirement volatility plotted over the system life cycle of a system design [10]. System life cycle processes were discussed in Chapter 2 Section 2.1.1 Systems Engineering. The comparison of these standards can be shown in Figure 3.6. The gray diamonds indicate where the major programmatic milestones occur such as SRR, SFR, Pre-liminary Design Review (PDR), and Critical Design Review (CDR) [7,8,21]. The red bracket and dashed line indicate where the CONOPs development and requirements analysis development are conducted [7,8,21]. The standards are discussed further in Section 1.2.2 Literary Review analysis in Chapter 1. The indicated blue block shows where volatility change is of most concern for the requirements statement. The illustration points out that the blue line indicates that volatility is not zero at the points of System Requirements Review (SRR) and System Functional Review (SFR).

Even with the understanding of initial customer requirements, some material could change throughout the system design. Completed means, for the purpose of the volatility metric, that the



Number of Functions Expected To Grow over Time Initially, with Decreased Volatility (Improved Stability) as time goes on todyign Maturation

Figure 3.5: Functional Requirement Volatility Over Life-cycle [10]

requirement statement is allocated to a system block, but is stable in what the statement is for functional performance for the system [10]. The fluctuations across the allocation, the orange line, means that DoDAF CONOP element creation would be in flux which would directly effect the modularity of the design as well as growth of the model content.

The author believes that through the QCC factors of *DEQ* and *REQ* for interpretation coupled with degree of modularity calculation, modularity for the DQCF will have sufficient rigor to address the topic.

3.3 Framework Defined Profile

The structure of MBSE uses UML and SysML, which allows for easier management of system data in a data-rich environment and both languages are extendable for additional support [73, 186]. Examples of these profiles and libraries are Unified Profile for DoDAF and MoDAF (UPDM), Business Process Modeling Notation (BPMN), and The Open Group Architecture Framework (TOGAF) [75]. The DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) contains the DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) and was built using a built-in profiling capability that enabled the



Figure 3.6: Systems Engineering Life-Cycle Standard Comparisons

author to collect and analyze data concepts of the DoDAF elements that were specified in case study models. The use of built in tool capability is a classical modeling language design approach to identifying key concepts to be determined with model based environment [187, 188]. Figure 3.7 shows how the UML and SysML standards relate to the development of the DQAP within the DQCF. The arrows indicate the relations to the components profiles and standards that govern the DQAP profile and the relation to an MBSE tool.

UML is the modeling language that can specify artifacts and is one of the main languages used for describing software intensive systems [58, 186]. The use of UML falls under two approaches to development with profiles according to OMG [58]. The first is based on Domain Specific Language (DSL) which is how a complete new language is developed for use in a model that would be as extensive as UML or SysML [11, 58]. The second is based on particularization of a UML specializing elements or stereotypes with tag definitions with respect to the UML base language [11].

The DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) was built using the second approach and extending the metaclass *«Element»* of uml to create a new characterization to contain tag definitions for the newly developed *«DoDAF Quality View»* stereotype. Figure 3.8 illustrates the DQAP in detail



Figure 3.7: DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile Relation to Standard

for the conceptual framework. The *«DoDAF Quality View»* stereotype section shows the *«DoDAF Quality View»* which contains the *«tag definitions»* stereotype properties for the QCC that are defined in Appendix A. The *«DoDAF Quality View»* has a *«generalize»* relation to the metaclass of *«Element»*. As opposed to traditional object models, metaclasses explain the structure and behavior of classes in such a manner that messages may be delivered to classes in the same way that messages are given to individual objects [189]. Metaclass-supporting systems enable data to be organized into an architecture with several abstraction layers by using metaclasses [189]. The metaclass of *«Element»* was selected as the prime candidate for UML metaclass extension due to the fact that the general nature of the metaclass allows it to be applied to any DoDAF architecture element. The *«Element»* metaclass makes the application easy to select elements in the model and apply the stereotype. The *«DoDAF Quality View»* contains a image icon as well for SME recognition so that one can tell the element is under evaluation. The *«Quality Attribute Ranking»* is an *«enumeration»* that allows the *«tag definitions»* stereotype properties. Once an DoDAF

CONOP architecture element is selected for evaluation, the SME only needs to apply the stereotype to the element. The DoDAF Quality Analysis Data Collection Table is configured and scoped according to the selected *«DoDAF Quality View»* stereotype. The DoDAF Quality Analysis Data Collection Table also collects relative important data from the a selected element. The additional data collected is the Name of the element, the element ID, DoDAF view, DoDAF viewpoint, primary UML metaclass type, and the qualified path to where the element is located in the model. The additional data allows for rapid understanding of what the element is and where the element is located. The *Modularity Design Structure Matrix* can do a large scale comparison of of the various views selected to generate module understanding with relations within the model. Based on the criterion from *Modularity Design Structure Matrix* equation 3.1 can be calculated. Additional details can be extracted from the model based on the data that is collected. The profile design upon application to elements can be extracted through various means. The automated extraction process uses a means of extensible programming language to extract the evaluation data from the model. The data is placed into a more convenient application so that it can be scrubbed and prepared for analysis. The next section will cover the plugin and model integration.

3.4 Framework Plugin and Model Integration

One method of increasing productivity and efficiencies of using MBSE tooling is through development of Extensible Programming Languages (EPL) or Application Programming Interface (API)s to increase integration. EPL or APIs are a means for data to be passed between written programs of the same or different languages [190]. Most often the case for the use of an API, is connecting external libraries, graphical toolkits, database access or operating system calls from another program [190]. Most MBSE tools have purpose built APIs that allow interaction for development or data extraction purposes.

The main MBSE tool that was used for development of the API tools for automation was the Cameo Enterprise Architect tool. The tool selected was based on OMG using the same tool for primary development of all MBSE standards as stated at the beginning of this chapter. While the



Figure 3.8: Conceptual Framework DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile

tool does allow for internal scripting through multiple various languages such as, m-script, Jython, Maple, Matlab, JavaScript, etc., the author determined it was better for the framework to be able to conduct analysis outside of the primary modeling tool, so internal scripting was abandoned. By conducting analysis outside of the primary modeling tool, processing power and memory are saved on the analysis computer because MBSE tools can be process intensive. Furthermore, extracted analysis data can be sent to another station to conduct analysis without needing the primary tool installed on the analysis computer. The approach also makes the analysis software deployable to multiple systems without relying on additional costly purchase of software.

Plugins developed in the Cameo tool typically follow as particular execution method for enabling new functionality in the MBSE toolset. Figure 3.9 shows the basic plugin execution activity diagram. First, the Cameo tool checks the directory to ensure java library codes exists to enable content. Next, the Cameo tool reads java descriptor files to enable menu updates and checks Graphical User Interface additions. Next, the Cameo tool checks required material for enabling



Figure 3.9: Plugin Execution Activity Diagram [11]

the plugin for creation of material. The check could include validation that the correct profile is installed or XML development files are in place for content creation. Next, the Cameo tool loads additional java classes and material areas of development execution for creation of the content. Finally, java methods are called to API content to ensure proper actions are executed when a user attempts to use the plugin menu action buttons. The plugin is available for public use upon the author receiving request for use.

3.5 Framework Application

In Chapter 2, the author discussed theories behind systems engineering that are applicable to the development of DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF). Section 3.5 Framework Application serves as a mean to show the full application of the framework calling specific aspects of the approach from other chapters into a step by step execution. In Chapter 2, the author discussed systems engineering, MBSE, DoDAF views, DoDAF CONOP, and statistical methods. In Chapter 3, the author discussed development method, modularity evaluation, defined profile, and plugin integration. These Chapters and Sections gives foundational theory on the comprehension needed

to establish the DQCF. The steps outlined can be executed through the activity automation within the Cameo Enterprise Architecture tool. Figure 3.10 is a capture of that DQCF activity execution. The following outlines the steps in the DQCF application:

- 1. Use the Logical Model from Section 2.2.1 from Chapter 2 to establish approach to quality aspect.
- 2. Collect DoDAF CONOP views from the architectural model.
 - For the purpose of this work, the elements selected will be in accordance with the following ten DoDAF CONOPs architecture views: OV-1, OV-2, OV-5a, OV-5b, CV-1, CV-2, DIV-1, DIV-2, SV-1, and SV-4.
- Collect relevant term and definitions from the architecture model for understand of mission threads.
- 4. Relate QbD methodology to the DoDAF CONOP architecture to show what material is to be extracted from the model.
 - See Figure 2.6 for the context mapping to extract relative material from model for evaluation.
- 5. Integrate the DQAP into the architecture model as follows:
 - DQAP plug-in is extracted and installed in the tool's plug-in directory.
 - For an element that needs to be evaluated, apply the the stereotype *«DoDAF Quality View»*
 - Create a generic table as a collection point for the data analysis.
 - Ensure that Table Element type is set to the *«DoDAF Quality View»* stereotype.
 - Ensure that columns for the *«tag definitions»* are set as columns in table.
 - Ensure that scope of the table is set to appropriate *«package»* area.

- Figure 3.11 shows an element with a *«OperationalActivity»* in purple. The stereotypes that are applied to the element are indicated at the top of the purple box. The *«DoDAF Quality View»* icon appears in the right upper corner of the element indicating application.
- 6. Determine how data will be extracted from the model and collected for analysis.
 - What tools are selected?
 - MBSE tool used for architecture model (e.g., Sparx Enterprise Architecture, Cameo, IBM Rational Rhapsody, SPSS, Excel)
 - What methods are used for inspection?
 - This might include a visual inspection, automated inspection with code base, or spreadsheet tracking
 - Why does the need exist for quality analysis?
 - This includes understanding the customer concerns with model quality, the engineering team's concern for completeness, and the progression of model development.
- 7. Establish metrics associated with data collection from the model to include the three important aspects from Appendix A: *DEQ*, *LEQ*, and *REQ*.
- 8. Establish criteria that removes ambiguity from the analysis process as well as identification of a DoDAF Quality Assessment Subject Matter Expert (SME) qualified in SE competencies.
 - Indicate what elements are counted and not counted for evaluation, example would be only elements with GUIDs or only elements in specific area.
 - Figure 3.11 gives and notional example of what the DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile (DQAP) *«DoDAF Quality View»* stereotype looks like when applied to an element in a model. The Specification window displayed to the right of the figure, shows the applied

stereotype section of data. The section indicates that the element is an *«OperationalAc-tivity»* with the *«DoDAF Quality View»* applied for evaluation. The window to the left in the figure shows the *«tag definition»* area of the element and is populated with the *«DoDAF Quality View»* Likert scale data for evaluation of the element.

- 9. Establish assumptions to explain why data was omitted or included as well as the approach to this analysis.
- 10. Establish what approach is used to collect data for analysis (i.e., is automation going to be used or an external data collection method).
 - Consider DoDAF Standard application to model elements, UML and SysML appropriately applied for created elements, and requirements justification to instantiate element for the system design.
 - The table in Figure 3.11 indicates that the element is collected into DoDAF Quality Analysis Data Table. The first column in the table is the Element ID or Globally Unique Identifier (GUID) for the element generated once the element is created in the model. The GUID is critical because it ensures the model element is unique to the architecture, and no other element within the same architecture can have the same one. The GUID would most likely be the best means for identification of model information that reduces the risk of data manipulation [191]. This concept is different within different tools (Cameo Enterprise Architecture calls it the Element ID, and Sparx Enterprise Architecture calls it the Universally Unique Identifier). The second column in the table is the Name of the element. The last columns are the QCC for the element in the model. If all of these criteria in the table are present for an element, the element is considered to be under evaluation for quality.
 - The score data using the seven-point Likert scale is applied through the *«tag Defini-tions»* for each element that is evaluated.

- The data object is generated and in each consecutive element evaluation, the table is populated with data shown at the bottom of Figure 3.11.
- 11. Describe element sampling approach the architecture model to determine what elements are included in the subsequent analyses.
 - Include percentage of total elements evaluated from the model or break down by number of elements per DoDAF View
- 12. Establish that the selected statistical approaches are appropriate for use on the collected data. The analysis in this work was conducted using IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 26. SPSS was used as a supplement material to ensure calculation and resultants were correct. Additional statistical analysis tools that might be used include R, SPSS, Matlab, or Excel. (i.e., perform checks to ensure the validity of the statistical methods). The analysis is conducted on the data object table using the following statistical methods:
 - Determine Mean vs Median and descriptives
 - Determine Skewness and Kurtosis check
 - Determine Kolmogorov-Smirnov or Shapiro-Wilk Test
 - Multicollinerarity
 - Determine Linear Regression
 - Determine Variance Inflation Factor (VIF)
 - Spearman's ρ
 - Principle Component Analysis
 - Covariance matrix
 - Determine Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test for sample adequacy
 - Determine Bartlett's Test

- Determine Ordinal Logistical Regression for factor examination
- 13. Perform a preliminary check of statistical results.
- 14. Establish Design Structure Matrix (DSM) of modular data aspects to determine degree of modularity.
 - Determine weight of importance of views, a pairwise comparison can be done for this and weight injected during the summation cluster cl_i calculation.
 - Create the DSM data object for use in the modularity calculation.
 - Ensure that Matrix Element types for rows are set to the *«DoDAF Quality View»* Stereotype.
 - Ensure that columns for the DoDAF element types by DoDAF viewpoint.
 - Ensure that scope of the matrix is set to appropriate *«package»* area.
 - Ensure that the relationship type is set to the correct type.
 - The matrix will be responsible for populating the data variables needed.
 - MDL is calculated using an adapted version of YuTian's equation for MDL to quantify modularity in an architecture model see Equation 3.1. While no bounds exist for MDL, a "more modular" architecture will result in a smaller value. Typically, approaches to modularity equations use a Design Structure Matrix (DSM) to understand the relationship between elements in a model [171, 173]. The Hölttä-Otto paper outlines the best performance modular equation to use in order to detect modularity which based on the data would suggest the best approach when DoDAF architecture structure views are considered as individual modules [171].
 - Assess the degree of modularity based on these results—is the system considered more modular/less integrated or less modular/more integrated?

- Note: The degree of modularity assessment is used in order to grasp functional reusability and complexity understanding of architecture aspects for development of system design.
- 15. Interpret the statistical data, determine degree of modularity, and make final quality determination
 - The final step to include analysis of the statistical methods and MDL for interpretation of the model content. The final step in the analysis will be to transform the final mean values for *DEQ*, *LEQ*, and *REQ* in to an overall rating for quality of the model. The quality rating scale is as follows:
 - *l* = "Very Poor"
 - -2 = "Poor"
 - -3 = "Acceptable"
 - -4 = "Good"
 - -5 = "Very Good"

A simple linear transformation is used to transform the seven-point scale in Appendix A to this five-point scale. Each mean value for the factors will be transformed and given an individual score rating for each category, the average of the three scores will be used as the overall model quality score.

Figure 3.11 gives and notional example of what the DQAP *«DoDAF Quality View»* Stereotype looks like when applied to an element in a model. The element is an *«OperationalActivity»* in purple. The stereotypes that are applied to the element are indicated at the top of the purple box. The *«DoDAF Quality View»* icon appears a the right upper corner of the element indicating application. The Specification window displayed to the right of the figure, shows the applied stereotype section of data. The section indicates that the element is an *«OperationalActivity»* with the *«DoDAF Quality View»* applied for evaluation. The window to the left in the figure shows the



Figure 3.10: DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) Activity Outline

«tag definition» area of the element and is populated with the *«DoDAF Quality View»* Likert scale data for evaluation of the element.

The table at the bottom for the figure indicates that the element is collected into the DoDAF Quality Analysis Data Table in the model. The first column in the table is the Element ID or Globally Unique Identifier (GUID) for the element that is generated once the element is created in the model. The element ID or GUID is critical in the fact the ensures the model element is unique to the architecture and not other element within the same architecture can have the same one. Within different tools is refereed to as different things, within Cameo Enterprise Architecture is called the Element ID and Sparx Enterprise Architecture is called the Universally Unique Identifier (UUID). The UUID would most likely be the best means for identification of model information that should be transferred to research systems and reduces risk of data manipulation [191]. The second column in the table is the Name of the element. The third column in the table is Qualified Name of the element.



Figure 3.11: DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile Applied Example

locate the element in the model. The last columns are the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) for the element in the model. If all of these criteria in the table are present for an element, the element is considered to be under evaluation for quality.

3.6 Framework Complete Roll-up

The theory discussed in this Chapter lays the foundational information to understand the application of the DQCF. The consolidation of a methodical approach to the content provides a demonstrated advancement to evaluation capability to determine the quality of a DoDAF CONOP architecture. The conceptualization of all factors that would effect the understanding of the quality of a model are captured and provided as evaluation criterion QCC for each element in the DoDAF CONOP architecture. The design of the plug-in for data extraction, ingestion into IBM SPSS, and selected statistical methods, outlined in Chapter 2 applied to analyze the data to provide meaningful results constitutes the instrumentation design of the DQCF. Finally, The application of the DQCF to case study models in Chapter 4 and 5 will provide real world empirical resultant data for the DQCF.



Figure 3.12: Dissertation Outline to Formulate DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework Development

Through the various concepts and methodical approaches described above, the execution of the DQCF approach to the QbD analysis of a DoDAF CONOP architecture meets the basis of Tonnette's and Merriam definition for a conceptual framework [153, 154]. Figure 3.12 shows the Chapters design to establish DQCF. The green area represents the development of the DQCF framework. The blue area represents the application phase of the DQCF for generation of results. The orange area is the conclusion analysis were the interpretation will occur for the case studies analysis. The *«ItemFlow»s* coming into the conclusion are the data *«object»* from the executed *«operation»* generated by the DQCF *«activity»* in the case study *«block»*. The *«activity»* execution in Figure 3.10 becomes the *«operation»* within the *«block»s* for each case study or what the framework must "do".
The final step in the analysis is to transform the final mean values for DEQ, LEQ, and REQ in to an overall rating for quality of the model. The execution of doing this step will quantify the overall ratings of each variable providing insight of the coherent design of the system model as well as application of standards. Specifically, the variable's rating can provide insight into sensitivities of the system design that could be used to identify risks to the system design. In general, programs will aim to reduce compliance risks, mitigate hazard risks, manage control risks, and seize opportunity's risks as much as they possibly can [192]. It is crucial to highlight; however, there is no 'correct' or 'wrong' way to divide risks into categories [192]. It is likely more typical to see risks categorized into two categories: pure and speculative. Whatever the theoretical debates, the most essential thing is that an organization choose the risk categorization system that is most appropriate for its particular set of circumstances. It is possible that some risk occurrences will only have negative consequences. These risks are classified as hazard risks or pure risks, and they may be classified as either operational risks or insurable risks. In general, programs will have a tolerance for hazard risks, and these risks must be controlled within the limits of what the program or project is willing to accept as acceptable. Aside from these risks, there are additional factors that contribute to uncertainty regarding the outcome of a scenario [192]. These are referred to as control risks, and they are commonly encountered in the context of project management. Uncertainties may be linked with the advantages that the project delivers, as well as with the project's ability to be completed on time, within budget, and according to specifications [192]. It is common for the management of control risks to be implemented in order to guarantee that the result of business operations fits within a specified range [192]. Ultimately, the goal is to identify and address the sensitivity through possible mitigations presented with the variable quantifications. The author will base the overall quality rating on a five point scale system, five being Very Good to one being Very Poor. The rating scale is as follows:

- 1. "*= Very Poor*"
- 2. "= *Poor*"
- 3. "= Acceptable"

- 4. "= *Good*"
- 5. "= *Very Good*"

Equation 3.3 is used to do the transformation of the average calculated from the mean values from the seven point scale to five point scale. Each mean value will be transformed and and given an individual score rating for each category, the average of the three scores will be used as the overall model quality score.

$$Y_5 = (X_7 - 1)\left(\frac{4}{6}\right) + 1 \tag{3.3}$$

In Chapter 4 and 5, the DQCF application will generate results for detailed interpretation. The resultant interpretation will meet the goals of addressing problems discussed in Chapter 1 advancing knowledge about QbD into DoDAF CONOP architecture quality.

Chapter 4

Joint Polar Satellite System Case Study

The first case study is the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)/ National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF CONOP architecture with focus on the Stored Mission Data (SMD) mission thread. The most current open source versions of Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF architectural model and JPSS documentation were used to assist the author in context capture, DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) application, illustration, and analysis for the case study. The JPSS is a nextgeneration earth observation program that collects and communicates global environmental data via polar-orbiting satellites [193]. The primary mission of the JPSS system is to understand/predict changes in weather, climate, oceans, coasts, and space environment [193]. The first satellite Suomi National Polar-orbiting Partnership (S-NPP) was launched in October 2011 with the additional launch of JPSS-1 in 2017 [193]. JPSS-2 was delayed in 2021 to a future unknown date [194]. Additional missions are planned for JPSS-3 and JPSS-4 to extend the life-cycle of the JPSS system out to 2038 [193]. The DoDAF, UML, and SysML stereotypes will be presented with guillemets «» to indicate a model element specific language.

4.1 CONOP for JPSS

The JPSS DoDAF CONOP purpose is to communicate system functional and operational information that will accomplish the system mission under normal operating conditions [193]. The model-based JPSS system deign not only covers planned operations but include many cases that directly identify the requirements for the system as well as core components [193].

Figure 4.1 shows the high level OV-1 for the JPSS System. Several acronyms are present in the diagram specific for the JPSS system. For further context, details on the definitions of these acronyms, see Appendix B, the National Polar-orbiting Operational Environmental Satellite System (NPOESS) Acronyms List. Figure 4.1 provides a description for the DoDAF Operational View



Figure 4.1: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Operational View OV-1

OV-1 for the operational concept of the JPSS. Figure 4.1 shows images of the corresponding missions, activities, organizations, and high-level operations of the JPSS system [195]. The legend at the bottom of the image includes details about the relations between architecture aspects or *«OperationalPerformers»* and what data is being transmitted [196]. Note that the image reflects the space operational environment and some characteristics under which the JPSS will conduct its functionality [197]. The orange circle in the middle represents the JPSS with interfaces to external systems and data exchanges [198]. The OV-1 presents information that provides links from *«Operational-* *Resources»* on the Operational Resource Flow OV-2 diagram to the *«OperationalPerformers»* for the JPSS system architecture.



Figure 4.2: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Operational View OV-2/OV-5a Combined

Figure 4.2 shows the *«OperationalPerformers»* as well a the hierarchy of the relations between each of the *«OperationalPerformers»*. The critical aspect of the OV-2 is to describe "who or what" will be *«OperationalPerformers»* in the JPSS system design [4]. The Operational Activity Decomposition Tree or OV-5a shows a structured aspect to the *«OperationalActivities»* and gives a representational hierarchy to the developed *«OperationalActivities»* addressing the *«Capabilities»* the system must perform with general aspects at the top of diagram and more specific as the tiers are descended on the diagram [4]. Furthermore, *«OperationalActivities»* can provide logical interaction information of actions between *«OperationalPerformers»* [4]. The *«OperationalActivities»*

exchanges within an Operational Activity model or OV-5b and can be seen in Appendix B JPSS OV-5b Operational View SMD Figure B.1.



Figure 4.3: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Capability View CV-1

The textual data present on the diagram helps to describe what data is being conveyed between elements in order to accomplished the JPSS system mission [4]. The OV-1 textual context linkage to accomplish the mission is described through the JPSS DoDAF Capability View CV-1 shown in Figure 4.3. The CV-1 documents the *«EnterpriseVision»* or mission statement for the JPSS system with high level *«EnterpriseGoals»* the system must accomplished [199]. Illustrated in Figure 4.3, is the phased implementation of the JPSS system *«capabilities»* and a timeline to which satellites will come online for the system. The CV-1 gives strategic context for a group of *«capabilities»* for the architecture by capturing the vision through bounded period of time or *«Ac-* *tualEnterprisePhase*» [4]. The CV-1 tells planners when *«capabilities»* can be expected to be met for system lifecycle as well as showing future transformation and new *«capabilities»* of the system. The phased implementation of *«ActualEnterprisePhase»* linkage to the JPSS DoDAF Capability Taxonomy or CV-2, gives timing to phased *«capabilities»* for the system allowing for all aspects system lifecycle planning to occur [4]. Figure 4.4 shows the *«capabilities»* of the JPSS system at an abstract level. The abstract level of the CV-2 is designed to drive needs for the *«capabilities»* without prescribing a solution to the provided the *«capabilities»* [4]. Figure 4.4 shows a structured aspect to the CV-2 giving a hierarchy to the developed *«capabilities»* with general aspects at the top of the diagram and more specific as the tiers are descended on the diagram. The *«capabilities»* will be referenced in the *«OperationalActivities»* or Systems Functional Flow, bringing the system behavior to address the *«capabilities»* needed as well as interconnections of data for the JPSS system [4]. The interconnection of data leads to the capture of the JPSS System Interface Description or SV-1. Figure 4.5 shows the JPSS system SV-1 diagram.



Figure 4.4: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Capability Taxonomy View CV-2

The figure shows the interactions between internal and external «System» blocks with directional «AssociationProperties» interfacing with data exchanges [4]. The «flowSpecification» governs the format and represent the Interface Control Documents (ICD) that prescribe how the «System» blocks or actual system will communicate [4]. The represented «Post» shows human interface component to the JPSS system and what information is passed to the representative displays a human user would see when the JPSS system is in operation. The interactions described in the SV-1 bring the operational and system architecture to specify the logical architecture from the OV-2 [4]. When designing a system, the logical architecture outlines functional groups, selects particular logical components to implement functional architectures, and reflects the connection linkages and data interface links between logical components [200]. The logical architecture also describes how the logical scheme of the system, including logical non-redundant architecture and logical redundant architecture, is formed using BDDs and IBDs. It shows how the mapped relationship between functional architecture and logical architecture without redundancy, as well as between logical architecture with redundancy and functional architecture with redundancy, is established [200]. The grouping of elements in the SV-1 bring the «capabilities» and «OperationalPerformers» to meet a specific capability. The figure shows both hardware and understanding for software combined to address human interfaces for the JPSS system [4]. The complimentary representation with the actual «Function» exchanges within an System Functionality Description model or SV-4 and can be seen in Appendix B JPSS SV-4 System View SMD Figures B.2.

The final view of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP views is the Conceptual Data Model or DIV-1. Figure 4.6 shows the conceptual data which shows information for requirements and rules that manage or constrain the JPSS system design [201]. The Conceptual Data Model or DIV-1 provides factual grounding for concepts, associations, and attributes that are used to govern the design process from business to technical standards [4]. The items captured here are part of the data model. These tie data of technical nature to the architecture concept [4]. The DIV-1 bridges the gap to bring the logical and physical data together [4]. The DIV-2 relates information in an



Figure 4.5: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF System Interface Description SV-1

OV-1 concept and activity flow objects in an OV-5b [4]. The DIV-2 is not illustrated due to size but the implications can be seen in the OV-5b and SV-4 for the information flows between elements.

The ultimate goal of the DoDAF CONOPs for the JPSS is to illustrate the mission that the system is supposed to accomplish and establish a basis for development of a requirements baseline. For the JPSS system development instance, the MBSE DoDAF architecture was created before the requirements in order to inform the requirements development [202]. The CONOP at a very high level was developed with corresponding capability needs from the customer to support system functionality understanding [203]. The diagrams above show an extensive DoDAF CONOP architecture exist within the developed JPSS DoDAF architecture model. The DoDAF view diagrams illustrate that for a single mission thread in the JPSS system, the SMD mission thread, the JPSS



Figure 4.6: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Conceptual Data Model or DIV-1

architectural model covers the approach to CONOP development as laid out in Chapter 2 Section 2.1.3 DoDAF CONOP Design Process. The representative views for the SMD mission thread show some of the following criteria:

- The operational environment and its characteristics [79]
- Major system components and the interconnection among those components [79]
- Interfaces to external systems or procedures [79]
- Capabilities, functions, and features of the current system [79]
- Operational risk factors [79]

- Performance characteristics, such as speed, throughput, volume, frequency [79]
- Provisions for safety, security, privacy, integrity, and continuity of operations in emergencies [4,79]

4.2 Key JPSS Terms

The JPSS key terms are critical to understand context information that help to identify critical data relating to MBSE, DoDAF, requirement information, and UML/SysML. The JPSS lexicon open source documents helped to provide some of this information as well as data interrogation of the JPSS architectural model. The document acts as an authoritative source for the definition of terms and acronyms that have applicability across the JPSS program in order to maintain consistency of data interpretation [204]. For the purpose of this dissertation, the definitions were pulled from the lexicon documentation that have particular focus on the DoDAF CONOP terminology and association with DoDAF views CV-1, CV-2, DIV-1, DIV-2, OV-1, OV-2, OV-5a, OV-5b, SV-1, and SV-4. The terms are as follows:

- **Capability** (**Cap**): The proposed system's operational performance parameters, including supportability, are provided to the acquisition community so that they may design it [204]. In this section, you will find Key Performance Parameters (KPP) and additional Technical Performance Measurements (TPM) that assist you through the process of developing, demonstrating, and testing the current increment [204]. Here is an overview of the entire plan for achieving initial and complete capacity development [204].
- Data Model (DM): Both a database and its database management system must adhere to the principles of a certain data model in order to function properly [204]. Data models include the hierarchical data model, the network data model, the relational data model, and the object-oriented data model, to name a few. Hierarchical data models are the most common [204]. In software engineering, it is an abstract model that specifies how data is represented and accessible by a computer program or system [204]. The formal definition of

data items and connections among data elements for an area of interest is accomplished via the use of data models [204]. For both business and information technology professionals, a data model is a way-finding tool that employs a set of symbols and text to precisely explain a subset of real information. This helps to improve communication within an organization and ultimately results in an application environment that is more flexible and stable [204]. A data model is a formalized representation of the structure of data or structured data [204]. Communication and accuracy are the two most essential advantages of a data model, and they are why it is so vital for applications that consume and communicate information [204]. It is via the use of a data model that project team members from diverse backgrounds and with varying degrees of expertise may interact with one another and learn from one another [204]. Precision on a data model implies that the words and rules on it can only be construed in a single manner, and are not ambiguous [204]. A data model may also be referred to as a data structure, which is particularly common in the context of computer programming languages [204].

• Operational Availability (Ao): 1. The likelihood that a system or piece of equipment, when operated under specified circumstances in an ideal support environment, would perform as intended at all times [204]. 2. The likelihood that the JPSS system will be operationally capable of achieving its KPP, including making the related data products accessible to the JPSS user interface, is expressed as a percentage of the probability [204]. Operations Availability compliance is determined throughout any 30-day period after Operational Handover to NOAA (nominally L+90 days) in order to determine whether the system is operationally available [204]. JPSS spacecraft are expected to function continuously for the duration of their mission after they have reached orbit [204]. Ground system dependability, ground system redundancy, and scheduled observation outages are among the elements that influence availability (Flight system downtime for spacecraft maneuvers, instrument calibration activities, maintenance activities, command loads, and planned ground system sustainment

activities) [204]. On-orbit abnormalities or failures, as well as the troubleshooting operations connected with these incidents, are not included in the availability considerations [204].

System (Sys): As an example, an integrated composite of people, goods, and processes such as JPSS has the capacity to meet a stated demand or achieve an established goal [204]. Although the terms system and segment are sometimes used interchangeably, a segment is typically considered to be a substantial subset of a larger system in its own right [204]. To provide an example, there are three or more major segments included inside the GPS (i.e., Space, Ground, User Equipment, and Launch) [204]. Each system and segment is also broken down into and composed of lower level systems, nodes, subsystems, elements, and units that are occasionally organized in a hierarchical or relational fashion, depending on the situation and requirements [204].

While the terminology listed above illustrates the general ideas that represent the DoDAF viewpoints, it is critical to note that not all the terms match in a one to one relationship, meaning DoDAF terms to JPSS terms. The author used interpretation to correlate terminology between DoDAF terms and JPSS terms.

4.3 Definition of QbD for JPSS

The first step in the application of the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) is illustrated in Figure 4.7. As discussed in Chapter 3 Section 3.5 Framework Application, contextual mapping allowed the author to apply DQCF to the JPSS DoDAF architectural model. The approach allowed for clear identification of DoDAF CONOP views for the evaluation scope as discussed in the approach of Chapter 3. Highlighted in red dashed boxes indicate the critical mappings from Juran's QbD method to the JPSS DoDAF model architecture driving out the DoDAF CONOP views of the architecture for SMD mission thread. Elements within the corresponding views will be evaluated using the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) in Appendix A. The evaluation method used is as described in Chapter 3.



Figure 4.7: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF QbD Mapping

4.4 DQCF Application to JPSS

Figure 4.8 shows the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) imported into the model as a used project. The import indication is shown as grayed out text for the *«Package»* titles at the bottom of the figure. Importing the DQCF as a used project allows the user to use the profile stereotype *«DoDAF Quality View»* in the model to evaluate model elements with the QCC criteria in Appendix A. Additionally, importing the DQCF as a used project prevents user modification and allows for maintaining the data integrity of the profile and template contents. The figure also shows the containment tree for the JPSS DoDAF architectural model limited to the CONOP views needed for evaluation based on the QbD mapping from previous Section 4.3. The *Containment Tree* or browser folder structure in the model represents what is considered the *«Containment»* relationship of elements within a *«Diagram»* or *«Package»* [107]. For the most part the *«Containment»* relationships are a way of organizing the data in a model, similar to a file structure on a computer drive.

While the *Containment Tree* leads to a nested containment hierarchy of model elements, in reality, it is a means of model organization to reduce complexity and manage development efforts [73].



Figure 4.8: DoDAF Conceptual Framework as Used Project in JPSS Model

JPSS DoDAF content data outside of the scope for the JPSS CONOP views associated with the SMD mission thread were moved to a *Additional JPSS DoDAF Material «Package»*. While the excess content may be relevant for full presentation of the JPSS DoDAF architectural model, for this dissertation analysis purposes scope of the data was limited help to reduce complexity.

4.5 JPSS Element Sampling

A count of the elements was needed to understand how much of the model would be evaluated for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. Table 4.1 gives a high level break down of the elements contained in the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. The table shows how many project diagrams exist for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture, however only views as defined in Chapter 2 Section 2.1.3 the DoDAF CONOP Design Process with focus on the Stored Mission Data (SMD) mission thread were considered. A full detailed count of the elements by metaclass types can be found in Appendix B JPSS DoDAF CONOP Element Break Down.

Cameo Project Statistics	Count
Project Diagrams	228
All Diagrams	667
Project Elements	10481
All Elements	291158
Project Symbol Styles	5
All Symbol Styles	47

Table 4.1: JPSS DoDAF CONOP Element Counts

The sampling extracted from this data constituted the elements that will be analyzed by the framework. Table 4.2 shows the break down of the element count by DoDAF view that will be evaluated for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architectural model. Note that the OV-5 value represents both the OV-5a and OV-5b for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architectural model. This is a nuance of the Cameo Enterprise Architecture tool where the OV-5 views are combined typically under one diagram type. Each one of these element is confirmed to have an Element ID, UUID, or GUID, making the elements real within the architecture of the model and maintains the data integrity of that element [205]. By maintaining the element GUID, an element can not be fabricated and must come form the Cameo Enterprise Architect Tool.

Table 4.2: JPSS DoDAF Element Evaluation Count

DoDAF CONOP View	Element Count
CV-1	8
CV-2	39
DIV-1	44
DIV-2	61
OV-1	43
OV-2	103
OV-5	68
SV-1	16
SV-4	190
Total	572

A total of 572 elements of the JPSS model, which represents the JPSS DoDAF CONOP SMD mission thread, are roughly 5.46% of the total JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. Figure 4.9 shows the percentage of elements that make up each view for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP. The figure illustrates that the bulk of the elements are concentrated in the OV-2, OV-5, and SV-4 views for the CONOP. These views fall in line with the understanding for development of the DoDAF CONOP development process and are considered important in the weighting of views which will be used later in the modularity calculation. Once the graphical system representation, the OV-1 view, is established, the understanding for operational node communication or information flows of logical resource data to the *«OperationalActivity»* is critical in the system design process [4]. The DoDAF standard states that the OV-2 is the *backbone* to which all other DoDAF elements will be overlaid for the SV-1 interface description to show what *«OperationalPerformer»* providing a customer capability [4]. The OV-2 integrates the corresponding «OperationalActivity» of OV-5a Operational Activity Decomposition Tree or OV-5b Operational Activity Model to display interactions of behaviors in the architectural model [4]. The OV-2 transitions as expected to the OV-5 percentage which makes up the OV-5a and OV-5b for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP. For the purpose of analysis and image space for this dissertation, the SMD «OperationalActivity» and «Functions» were displayed in Appendix B. The author would like to note that to fully represent the system, as is the case with the JPSS, it can sometimes take hundreds of «OperationalActivity» diagrams to represent the entire system. The OV-5a and OV-5b are used to clearly outline of «OperationalPerformer» that are preforming redundant activities for the system design [4]. The «OperationalActivity» will become Realized «Functions» in the SV-4 view for the system design that the system must perform. The figure illustrates that in the DoDAF standard execution process the SV-4 «Functions» make up a large percentage of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP SMD mission thread.

When these 572 elements are evaluated against the 17 Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC), a total of 9,742 data points are present for the evaluation process. The selections of elements represents a *purposive sampling* and is believed to be representative of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP



Figure 4.9: JPSS DoDAF CONOP Element View Percentage

SMD mission thread complete population of elements [206]. The accurate representation will be tested against the Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) sample adequacy test to verify sampling. While subjectivity may be a factor, the author believes this has been addressed through rigorous scoping and qualification of data selection to meet the needs for analysis purposes.

4.6 JPSS Analysis Results

The following sections of this Chapter now represent the evaluation results for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP SMD mission thread evaluation.

4.6.1 Normality Testing And Descriptives

The first step was to conduct the normality testing for the JPSS data set and the mean values for *DEQ*, *REQ*, and *LEQ* were calculated to assist with this testing. First the author looked at the Skewness and Kurtosis of each of the means for the data set. Table 4.3 show the JPSS Descriptive Statistics for data set. The data in the table is of particular interest to the analysis process that was describe in the analysis approach of Chapter 2 Section 2.2.7. The data shows that while the

median value can give you a better interpretation of the consolidated rating variables for each of the individual element, when consolidated across all elements evaluated a problem is presented. The data shows that the *LEQ* descriptives would be completely eliminated from from consideration in the rest of analysis. The mean values for all variables in this instance could provide a more meaningful result for the analysis and were used for further evaluation. Shown later in the PCA analysis, the value of *LEQ* still has an impact to understand model quality. The standard error presented in the table is the standard deviation of the statistical sample population [207]. The standard errors are small for the mean values in the data set, meaning that mean values are more representative of overall population [207]. The author analyzed the data set for Skewness and Kurtosis of each of the means values for each variables.

The closer the values for Skewness and Kurtosis are to 0 indicates a more normal distribution [208]. Remember that Skewness and Kurtosis indicate symmetry and peakness of the formed plot of data [208]. Furthermore, Skewness and Kurtosis can provide some interpretation about the model results when the values are positive or negative [209, 210]. In distribution models, the negatively skewed distribution refers to the model in which more values are shown on the righthand side of the graph, while the tail of the distribution is spreading on the left-hand side [208]. A positively skewed distribution refers to the model in which more values are shown on the left-hand side of the graph, while the tail of the distribution is spreading on the right-hand side [208]. Given the values of the Likert Scale, an interpretation can be made about the model variable QCC mean values [209,210]. The values for Skewness and Kurtosis are presented in the table. Based on these values, the data is considered not normally distributed. Perception of the data indicates that more values are on the right-handed side of the graph in Figure B.4, which shows a higher quality for DEQ. LEQ indicates a larger spread between values Figure B.7. While the values are considered negatively skewed, this could reflect an impact on the quality of the JPSS model. REQ indicates a larger spread between values Figure B.10. While the values are considered negatively skewed, this could reflect an impact on the quality of the JPSS model. The values can be both positive showing there are some high valued outliers and negative showing there are some low valued outliers with

JPSS Descriptives						
		N	lean	Median		
		Statistic	Std. Error	Statistic	Std. Error	
DEQ	Mean	5.44	0.04	6.19	0.08	
	Median	6.00		7.00		
	Variance	1.01		3.94		
	Std. Deviation	1.01		1.99		
	Minimum	3.00		1.00		
	Maximum	7.00		7.00		
	Range	4.00		6.00		
	Skewness	-1.67	0.10	-2.16	0.10	
	Kurtosis	1.40	0.20	2.79	0.20	
LEQ	Mean	5.91	0.03	7.00	0.00	
	Median	5.80		7.00		
	Variance	0.53		0.00		
	Std. Deviation	0.73		0.00		
	Minimum	4.60		7.00		
	Maximum	7.00		7.00		
	Range	2.40		0.00		
	Skewness	-0.03	0.10		•	
	Kurtosis	-0.37	0.20	•	•	
REQ	Mean	3.44	0.04	2.80	0.09	
	Median	3.00		1.00		
	Variance	0.80		4.11		
	Std. Deviation	0.89		2.03		
	Minimum	1.67		1.00		
	Maximum	5.00		7.00		
	Range	3.33		6.00		
	Skewness	-0.12	0.10	0.64	0.10	
	Kurtosis	-0.72	0.20	-0.83	0.20	

Table 4.3: JPSS Descriptives

in the data set [211]. The frequency and Q-Q-plot plots for Skewness and Kurtosis of both mean and median can be seen in Appendix B for JPSS evaluation data set.

Now that the Skewness and Kurtosis values as well as the JPSS descriptive statistic have been established, additional checks can be made based on the data set as laid out in the approach for the DQCF framework in Section 2.2.7 of Chapter 2. Both Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk are shown in Table 4.4 to address normality. The table includes the calculated statistic KS Kolmogorov-Smirnov and W Shapiro-Wilk; df or "Degrees of Freedom" meaning number of ob-

servations; and *Sig* or significance. The table shows the consolidated mean values of *DEQ*, *LEQ*, and *REQ* were used for evaluation. Both tests are included, but the sample size of elements for evaluation dictates what test is applicable to used to understand the distribution [212]. Due to the element count being greater than 100 elements evaluated, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test will provide the most accurate answer for the JPSS data set [212]. Because all the mean values are significant for both tests, it can be assumed and confirmed that the data is not normally distributed [212]. With both normality checks in place, it can be safe to assumed that the JPSS data set is not normally distributed. By clarifying this assumption the author avoids any risk to further analysis on the JPSS data set. For all of the plotted data please see Appendix B.

Tests of Normality						
	Kolmogo	rov-Sı	nirnova	Shapiro-		
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.
DEQ_mean	0.37	572	0.00	0.63	572	0.00
LEQ_mean	0.31	572	0.00	0.79	572	0.00
REQ_mean	0.19	572	0.00	0.92	572	0.00

Table 4.4: JPSS Tests of Normality

4.6.2 Multicollinearity

To prepare the data set for PCA analysis, the author needed to address Multicollinearity between variables in the data set. First, the correlation matrix was calculated for understanding the correlation between variables of a non-parametric nature using Spearman's ρ . Collinearity in this context is a linear association between two variables in the JPSS evaluation data set [213]. Multicollinearity is a situation where two or more variables in the JPSS evaluation data set are highly linearly related [213]. The next objective is to detect what variables have a low tolerance and high Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) which are indicators of collinerarity [214]. The author discovered that several evaluation criterion had very strong correlation to one another in the correlation matrix. Analysis studies suggest that correlation coefficients of a value positive or negative above 0.80 or greater are of potential concern for analysis [215]. Furthermore, if the VIF calculated values are above 10, there is a possible cause for concern and most likely should be eliminated with justification or explained in detail [215]. The author completed a VIF analysis and excluded variables that were considered to be an issue to the analysis, the variables included *DEQ1*, *DEQ2*, *DEQ5*, *DEQ6*, *LEQ2*, and *LEQ5*. The suggested elimination of these variables means that the DQCF quality aspect for these QCC criterion could present an impact that must be investigated before the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture PCA analysis to proceed. Upon further interrogation of the values for exclusion the following determinations were made:

- *DEQ1*: According to the DoDAF element type stated in the DoDAF standard, the element must be found on the appropriate diagram in order to be considered complete.
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *DEQ1* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 11.7 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The SysML element type of *«FlowSpecification»* as seen in Figure 4.5 is a deprecated element type according to SysML standard 1.5 and appears on the SV-1 view diagram [58, 217].
- *DEQ2*: Does the element present strategic information that explains the existing and/or intended links between an organization's business, mission, and management processes, and the supporting infrastructure associated to the architecture?
 - Result Finding: The majority of elements evaluated had some form of relationship to the JPSS DoDAF architecture being direct or indirect. The calculated VIF showed a value of 21.1 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. Direct relationship meaning to another element on same diagram graphically and indirect relationship meaning carried over from another diagram or through another element on different diagram. This means that some degree of modularity is present in the architecture but to what degree remains elusive at this point. Further discussion on the degree of modularity will be addressed in Section 4.6.5 of this Chapter. This part of as-

sessment is concerned with the networked relationships between the graphical elements that have been displayed [157, 160].

- *DEQ5*: The DoDAF carefully examines each element type to ensure that they sufficiently articulate the need and proposed solution in a manner that would improve audience knowledge or justification for the need in architecture.
 - Result Finding: While most of the elements had a purpose for use within the architecture, several elements did not have a purpose as tied directly to a requirement statement for the architecture. Some of the elements, in one example, revolved around alternative functional behavior execution on the SV-4 view in the JPSS SMD mission thread. The calculated VIF showed a value of 18.2 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The *«Functions»* in question can be seen in Appendix B. The implications of unjustified alternative behavior is that the *«Functions»* present on the diagram had no driving factor present and directly presents a quality issue within the architecture. While alternative behavior is typical and often necessary to include within the model, articulation must be made and related to an *«OperationalActivity»* as part of the primary JPSS SMD mission thread. The articulation was not present in the architecture or documentation for the JPSS SMD mission thread.
- **DEQ6**: Does the DoDAF element data type presented continue to present key information in a way that is understandable, congruent with, and consistent with all of the various stakeholders communities engaged in developing, delivering, and sustaining capabilities to assist in achieving system design goals?
 - Result Finding: While many elements did not have a consistent "Agree" with this criterion, the calculated VIF showed a value of 13.5 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The high VIF value means the variable must be eliminated in order to mitigate any issues to conduct PCA analysis. By having this

criteria eliminated it is suspected that modularity will be impacted. Further discussion on the impact to modularity will be illustrated in Section 4.6.5 of this chapter.

- *LEQ2*: Based on the UML/SysML element. Is the stereotype used correctly according to standard to provide a collection of diagrammatics, modeling components, a formal vocabulary, and semantics for the desired use in the model [73]? As with any language formal or informal, it may be employed in a variety of ways, and in a variety of incorrect ones as well [73].
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *LEQ2* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 11.4 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The SysML element type of *«FlowSpecification»* as seen in Figure 4.5 is a deprecated element type according to SysML standard 1.5 [58, 217]. The appropriate way is to convert the *«FlowPort»* governed by a *«FlowSpecification»*, to a *«Port»* and type the port with specifications of things that flow through the *«Port»* [58].
- *LEQ5*: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the element using the correct UML/SysML semantics, or meaning, of linguistic ideas between the two languages to bring value to the system design [73]. A descendant of the UML which was initially established as a modeling language for software design but has been expanded by SysML to accommodate general-purpose systems modeling [73].
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Liker Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *LEQ5* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 16.3 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216].

After the above determinations were made on the QCC variables, they were removed with the justification of the VIF values.

The remaining QCC variables are shown in Table 4.6, allowing the PCA analysis to continue in the next section.

Factors Eliminated due to VIF				
QCC Factor	VIF Value			
DEQ1	11.7			
DEQ2	21.1			
DEQ5	18.2			
DEQ6	13.5			
LEQ2	11.4			
LEQ5	16.3			

Table 4.5: JPSS Factors Eliminated due to VIF

Table 4.6:	JPSS	VIF	Calculations
------------	------	-----	--------------

	Collinearity Statistics Tolerance	VIF
DEQ3	0.39	2.58
DEQ4	0.30	3.35
LEQ1	0.25	4.04
LEQ3	0.34	2.96
LEQ4	0.31	3.23
REQ1	0.58	1.72
REQ2	0.16	6.30
REQ3	0.27	3.65
REQ4	0.34	2.95
REQ5	0.48	2.09
REQ6	0.24	4.10

The correlation matrix for JPSS evaluation data can be found in Appendix B. The table details every factor including a correlation coefficient and significance on for each observation. When the correlation coefficient is 1.0, the criterion is perfectly correlated with itself [215]. The JPSS correlation matrix does not form an identity matrix and the analysis can continue. Table 4.7 show just the correlation coefficient. The black cells in the diagonal of the table represent the factors correlation with itself. The red color indicates the degree of correlation, the darker the red the stronger the correlation with a factor. The intensity indicates a strong negative or positive correlation between factors, even with the values being below the max of 0.80 [215]. Comparison between factors of the QCC can drive interpretation about the model. *REQ2* for example had the most strongest correlations to all other factors in the JPSS architecture. When looking at the QCC criterion, the criteria deal with relating to a function or detectable process in the model architecture. This function or

detectable process is the primary reason for the CONOP development to understand the functional performance of the system.

	DEQ3	DEQ4	LEQ1	LEQ3	LEQ4	REQ1	REQ2	REQ3	REQ4	REQ5	REQ6
DEQ3		-0.42	0.36	-0.16	0.07	0.24	-0.27	-0.20	0.21	0.42	0.10
DEQ4	-0.42		0.06	0.67	-0.13	0.07	0.64	0.40	-0.40	-0.53	0.57
LEQ1	0.36	0.06		0.08	0.13	0.10	0.14	0.58	-0.20	0.12	0.20
LEQ3	-0.16	0.67	0.08		-0.09	0.05	0.59	0.27	-0.51	-0.34	0.62
LEQ4	0.07	-0.13	0.13	-0.09		0.03	0.39	0.15	0.17	0.07	-0.08
REQ1	0.24	0.07	0.10	0.05	0.03		-0.21	-0.08	0.15	-0.04	0.04
REQ2	-0.27	0.64	0.14	0.59	0.39	-0.21		0.34	-0.49	-0.37	0.54
REQ3	-0.20	0.40	0.58	0.27	0.15	-0.08	0.34		-0.02	-0.21	0.23
REQ4	0.21	-0.40	-0.20	-0.51	0.17	0.15	-0.49	-0.02		0.41	-0.25
REQ5	0.42	-0.53	0.12	-0.34	0.07	-0.04	-0.37	-0.21	0.41		0.11
REQ6	0.10	0.57	0.20	0.62	-0.08	0.04	0.54	0.23	-0.25	0.11	

Table 4.7: JPSS Correlation Matrix

4.6.3 Principal Component Analysis

The next analysis step in the DQCF process was to conduct a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) for the remaining values from the previous section. In the previous section factors were removed and their removal was explained based on the Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) values and other factors for analysis. The first step was to determine how accurately the evaluation data set represents the purposeful sampling adequacy for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. Table 4.8 shows the results of the Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and Bartlett's Test values. The table shows that for the amount of 572 elements evaluated from the scoped JPSS architecture, the data presents a KMO value of 0.59 with a significance of less than 0.05. The KMO value is considered on the lower end of the suggested rating scale of 0.5 to 1.0 but adequate enough to proceed with the analysis [218, 219]. Furthermore, the Bartlett's Test of Sphericity showed that the correlation matrix formed is not an identity matrix [220]. By confirming that the correlation matrix is not identity and has significance of less than 0.05 indicates that the data is acceptable for PCA analysis [221]. The values indicate that even though the relatively small purposeful sampling only representing 5.46%

of the total JPSS CONOP, the sample does adequately represent the JPSS DoDAF architecture. With this in mind, analysis can proceed to understand the details of the JPSS evaluation data set.

KMO and Bartlett's Test					
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy.0.59					
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	3512.80				
	df	55			
	Sig.	0.00			

 Table 4.8: JPSS KMO and Barlett's Test

Questions *DEQ3*, *DEQ4*, *LEQ1*, *LEQ3*, *LEQ4*, *REQ1*, *REQ2*, *REQ3*, *REQ4*, *REQ5*, *REQ6* could be reduced to represent factors that influence the quality of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP model. Table 4.9 indicates that the total variance is achieved between 73.0% and 82.5% for a total of four to five factors. From the first component forward, each consecutive component is derived by partially removing the previous component from the preceding component [222]. The first component explains the greatest amount of variation, while the final component explains the least amount of variation described by all components should be between 70% to 80% of the variance, which in this situation would suggest about four to five components [223].

	Total Variance Explained					
Comp	Initial	Eigenvalues		Rotati	on Sums of Squa	red Loadings
	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
1	3.5	31.8	31.8	2.9	26.4	26.4
2	1.9	17.3	49.1	1.9	17.6	44.02
3	1.4	12.8	61.9	1.6	14.9	58.9
4	1.2	11.1	73.0	1.4	12.3	71.2
5	1.1	9.5	82.5	1.3	11.3	82.5
6	0.8	7.6	90.1			
7	0.4	3.8	93.9			
8	0.3	2.7	96.6			
9	0.2	1.7	98.3			
10	0.1	0.9	99.2			
11	0.1	0.8	100.0			

Table 4.9: JPSS Total Variance Explained

When it comes to statistical research, where extracted components often explain just 50% to 60% of the variance, the 70% to 80% of the variance approach may be unworkable [136]. Adjusting for the 50% to 60% of the variance, the total variation for two to three components between 45.7% to 62.0% for two to three components is shown in Table B.4 in Appendix B. The total variance also provides the initial eigenvalues for each component and percentage of accounted for variance in the data set. Eigenvalues that are greater than 1 should be retained and represent the bulk of the JPSS evaluation data set [220]. For this purpose of analysis a focus was put on the oblique rotation or varimax rotation due to the more realistic representation for the data [220, 221]. The varimax rotation tries to maximize the amount of variance through redistribution across all the recommended factors [221]. For the purpose of simplicity of analysis only two factors are used for the eigenvalues giving a maximum of 49.1% of the total variance, which is still acceptable for the 50% to 60% of the variance.

	Total Variance Explained					
Comp	Initial	Eigenvalues		Rotati	on Sums of Squa	red Loadings
	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
1	3.5	31.8	31.8	3.4	31.0	31.0
2	1.9	17.3	49.1	2.0	18.0	49.1
3	1.4	12.8	61.9			
4	1.2	11.1	73.0			
5	1.1	9.5	82.5			
6	0.8	7.6	90.1			
7	0.1	3.8	93.9			
8	0.3	2.7	96.6			
9	0.2	1.7	98.3			
10	0.1	0.9	99.2			
11	0.1	0.8	100.0			
Extract	tion Me	thod: Principal C	Component Analy	sis.		*

Table 4.10: JPSS Total Variance Matrix Adjusted 2 factor

Figure 4.10 shows the Scree Plot of the eigenvalues from showing the principal components for total variance of JPSS evaluation data set. Table B.3 in Appendix B indicates the weight aspect of each question to the component factor for the the 70% to 80% of the variance. Table B.5 in

Appendix B indicates the weight aspect of each question to the component factor for the the 50% to 60% of the variance. For the three factor loading plot see Appendix B Figure B.22. Table 4.11 shows the percentage for two factors with the eigenvalues plotted in Figure 4.11. Loadings range anything between -1 and 1 [9]. In this case, loadings near to -1 or 1 imply that the variable has a significant impact on the component [9]. Loadings that are close to 0 imply that the variable has a little impact on the component under consideration [9]. Evaluation of the loadings aid in the identification of each component's characteristics in terms of the variables [9].



Figure 4.10: JPSS Eigenvalue Scree Plot

When the QCC criteria are analyzed at an abstracted level the picture becomes clear to what drives variance in the JPSS case study data set. *DEQ* and *LEQ* factors primarily show how the DoDAF standard and UML/SysML languages were applied to the overall elements. The finding in the application show factors that could drive improvement in the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture quality. Many elements in the model were left without descriptions in the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture quality architecture.

Component Matrix-a					
	C	Component			
	1	2			
DEQ3	-0.19	0.78			
DEQ4	0.79	-0.32			
LEQ1	0.41	0.66			
LEQ3	0.81	-0.15			
LEQ4	0.12	0.34			
REQ1	-0.04	0.29			
REQ2	0.79	-0.02			
REQ3	0.57	0.23			
REQ4	-0.56	0.35			
REQ5	-0.32	0.63			
REQ6	0.75	0.19			
Extraction Method: Principal					
Component Analysis.					
Rotation Method: Varimax					
a. Rota	tion cor	nverged			
in 3 iter	in 3 iterations.				

Table 4.11: JPSS Component Matrix Adjusted 2 Factor

Leaving descriptions off is critical when performing an outside audit of model quality. The auditor of Quality Systems Engineering is not going to understand every exact detail or have a complete understanding of all documentation related to the system. The description becomes critical for a customer to understand what is being represented in the model. Many of the elements in the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture did not have sufficient requirement element instantiation within the architecture.

Quality of the model dips in this aspect for the JPSS architecture while where elements existed, they often did not have adequate instantiation representation. An example would be the alternative behaviors that were present in the functional SMD SV-4 diagram in Appendix B. The JPSS model did not have a triggering event to execute the alternative functions or justification within the model or documentation. Creating behavior without justification can cause scope creep or additional cost in development of the JPSS system design. *LEQ* also had elements present on diagrams that were obsolete when better elements or processes exist. When this occurs you have orphaned



Figure 4.11: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF Two factor Loading Plot

elements that can create model "bloat" or excess unjustified material causing confusion for what the elements represent in the architecture. For the factors pertaining to *REQ*, the JPSS DoDAF CONOP seemed to be lacking aspects to instantiate the architecture. While some of the requirements were present at the system level, many lacked the complete decomposition of the requirement statements instantiating elements to lower levels of the system design. An example of this can be seen on the JPSS DoDAF CONOP SV-1 Figure 4.5 in a Appendix B. Multiple *«FlowSpecification»* with the same name are present on the diagram in different areas. While this is a minor presentation for linkage of *«FlowSpecification»* to parts of the system, this could be done through a relation matrix and not shown on that particular DoDAF view. Furthermore, it has been highlighted that the *«FlowSpecification»* is obsolete and needs removal with proper standard implementation. By doing this the JPSS DoDAF CONOP dips in quality for presentation of excess and obsolete material.

4.6.4 Ordinal Logistic Regression

This section discusses the Ordinal Logistic Regression (OLR) application of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP evaluation data set. The OLR analysis has many benefits and was conducted to determine feature extraction interpretation from the JPSS DoDAF CONOP evaluation data set [224]. In the event that OLR violates the proportional odds assumption Multinomial Logistic Regression (MLR) is recommended to use for analysis. Only when the proportional odds assumption is violated will MLR be used over OLR. The proportional odds assumption has a constant relationship between the independent variable and dependent variables [144]. While MLR can be used for ordinal data, communities of practice prefer OLR [144]. The checks and tests completed on the data set are in line with IBM SPSS version 26 for OLR and provide rigor to ensure correct analysis. Table 4.12 shows the model fitting information for the data set. Table 4.12 indicates a significant improvement to the model fit of over the final model relative to the intercept only [225]. The log likelihood addresses the final vs. the null product against $-2\log$, and is used to determine if all of the predicted regression coefficients in the model are zero at the same time [221]. In the JPSS DoDAF CONOP evaluation data set, the intercept only value is calculated at 1685.0 and the final value is p < 0.05. Since the significance level of the log likelihood addresses the final test is less than 0.05, you can conclude the final model is redundant and not necessary because both are outperforming the null [215]. The Chi-Squared value is the same as the log likelihood intercept only because the value is the delta between log likelihood and final log likelihood [215]. The Chi-Squared indication shows that an association exists between the observed element ratings and what is an expected rating for similar element analysis [215]. The df indicates the degree of freedom or number of predictors to calculate the Chi-Squared [226]. The Sig. shows the significance of the *Chi-Squared* calculated statistic, because this value is p < 0.05 the model presents a good fit to the evaluation data [226].

Additionally, the following tests were conducted to ensure the model "goodness of fit" to the JPSS evaluation data set. The Pearson and Deviance tests were conducted to understand the observed distribution of the data expected in the independent calculated mean of abstracted vari-

Model Fitting Information						
Model	Model Fitting Criteria	Likelihood Ratio Tests				
	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.		
Intercept Only	1685.00					
Final	0.00	1685.00	11	0.00		

Table 4.12: JPSS Model Fitting Information

ables [146]. The indication for the JPSS evaluation data set is good because both calculated values are non significant, meaning a p > 0.05 [147]. If the significance level was low, meaning p < 0.05, the predicted model would deviate from the observed model presenting a problem with the JPSS data set requiring further investigation [148]. Table 4.13 shows the calculated values for each of these test.

 Table 4.13: JPSS Goodness-of-Fit

Goodness-of-Fit					
	Chi-Square	df	Sig.		
Pearson	221.81	877	1.00		
Deviance	130.81	877	1.00		

The next values calculated are the Pseudo R-Square values and they are presented in Table 4.14. The values are treated as rough analogues to the R-Squared values in ordinal least squares method for estimating the unknown parameters in an OLR analysis [149]. The consensus is that the values, when calculated, must not be statistically significant or a problem may exist with the data set [149, 150]. Table 4.14 shows that all the values are not statistically significant and analysis can proceed.

Table 4.14: JPSS Pseudo R-Square

Pseudo R-Square		
Cox and Snell	0.95	
Nagelkerke	1.00	
McFadden	1.00	

Located in Appendix B are the JPSS DoDAF CONOP OLR parameter estimates for the evaluation data set. The following are presented explanations of data fields for the each of the columns in Table B.6.

- **Threshold**: This is the response variable in the OLR for the *DEQ mean* and represents the cutoff value for *DEQ mean* low as 3.0 and high as 6.17.
 - Threshold [DEQ mean = 3.00]: is the estimated cutpoint on the latent variable used to differentiate low DEQ mean from middle and high DEQ mean when values of the predictor variables are evaluated at zero. Elements that had a value of -37.45 or less on the underlying latent variable that gave rise to our DEQ mean variable would be classified as low DEQ mean
 - Threshold [DEQ mean = 6.17]: is the estimated cutpoint on the latent variable used to differentiate low and middle DEQ mean from high DEQ mean when values of the predictor variables are evaluated at zero. Elements that had a value of -4.58 or greater on the underlying latent variable that gave rise to our DEQ mean variable would be classified as high DEQ mean
- Estimate: These are the ordered log-odds (logit) regression coefficients. The standard interpretation of the ordered logit coefficient is that for a one unit increase in the predictor, the response variable level is expected to change by its respective regression coefficient in the ordered log-odds scale while the other variables in the model are held constant.
- Location: These are the covariates and factors in the analysis for OLR.
 - Variables that are not present in the table were removed based on the previous analysis and constituted only the following as contributing factors: *DEQ3*, *DEQ4*, *LEQ1*, *LEQ3*, *LEQ4*, *REQ1*, *REQ2*, *REQ3*, *REQ4*, *REQ5*, *REQ6*.
 - DEQ 3,4: This is the ordered log-odds estimate for a one unit increase in DEQ 3,4 score on the expected DEQ mean level given the other variables are held constant in the model.

- LEQ 1,3,4: This is the ordered log-odds estimate for a one unit increase in LEQ 1,3,4 score on the expected DEQ mean level given the other variables are held constant in the model.
- REQ 1-6: This is the ordered log-odds estimate for a one unit increase in REQ 1-6 score on the expected DEQ mean level given the other variables are held constant in the model.
- DoDAF View: shows the views of the SAR DoDAF CONOP.
- Std. Error: These are the standard errors of the individual regression coefficients.
- Wald: The ratio of Estimate to Std. Error, squared, equals the Wald statistic.
- **df**: degrees of freedom for each of the tests of the coefficients, defines the Chi-Square distribution to test whether the individual regression coefficient is zero given the other variables are in the model.
- **Sig.**: These are the p-values of the coefficients or the probability that, within a given model, the null hypothesis that a particular predictor's regression coefficient is zero given that the rest of the predictors are in the model.
 - The green indicates statistical significance below 0.05 for the data set.
- **95% Confidence Interval**: Confidence Interval (CI) for an individual regression coefficient given the other predictors are in the model.

The coefficients are predicting the log odds of being in a higher or lower category on the *DEQ mean* dependent variables [150]. The tables shows that for every one increase on the independent variables *LEQ* and *REQ*, there is a predicted increase of ending up at a higher level of dependent variable [144]. This means that as the independent variable value increases, there is a increase on the dependent variable [144]. The following list illustrates interpretations for the QCC values that presented statistical significance based on the OLR analysis:

- *DEQ 3*: Based on the DoDAF element type, the descriptions define a strategy for managing change, as well as the transitional processes required to evolve the state of a business or mission to one that is more efficient, effective, current, and capable of providing those actions required to fulfill its goals and objectives, which are represented by the architecture in the description.
 - **Result Finding:** The element evaluations indicated that statistical significance of p < 0.05 for the responses received to this QCC criteria. Missing description to understand what element is representing for the architecture were common place in the JPSS architecture.
- *DEQ 4*: Based on the DoDAF element type, do related sub-elements at each tier of the system design or desired level achieve goals and objectives corresponding to the scope and purpose that have been established.
 - Result Finding: The element evaluations indicated that statistical significance of p < 0.05 for the responses received to this QCC criteria. Element types were used in the architecture were missing *«ActualMeasurementTypes»* as well as *«ValueProperties»* to explain the data selection.
- *LEQ 3*: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the element related through relationship in the architecture and the relationship type correct [73].
 - Result Finding: The element evaluations indicated that statistical significance of p < 0.05 for the responses received to this QCC criteria. The primary rating understanding for the model elements did not always have some relation to some justification for need within the JPSS architecture. In some cases obsolete element type were used which drove the quality of this QCC criteria to be rated as mostly "Disagree"
- *LEQ 4*: Based on the UML/SysML element, does the element describe the underlying ideas or justifications behind its use, such as the choice of analytic method or design approach [73].
The element may serves as a source of information or a reference to the reasoning behind the modeling choice [73].

- Result Finding: The element evaluations indicated that statistical significance of p < 0.05 for the responses received to this QCC criteria. The JPSS model contained orphaned elements existed that often did not have relationships to parts of the DoDAF architecture.
- *REQ 4*: The DoDAF Element is derived from some standardized source or defined by customer. Justification would be a means to document the reason for having the element in the model [168, 169].
 - **Result Finding:** The element evaluations indicated that statistical significance of p < 0.05 for the responses received to this QCC criteria. The Performance measurable values are not completely specified the *DIV-1* was not complete which is a large contributing factor and directly impacts test verification which effects the *REQ6* variable.
- *REQ 5*: Performance measurable values are completely specified. The DoDAF Element performance design attributes which allow the verification for a system design [168, 169].
 - Result Finding: The element evaluations indicated that statistical significance of p < 0.05 for the responses received to this QCC criteria. DoDAF Element performance design attributes which allow the verification for a system design, not all elements had performance design attributes associated with them in the JPSS architecture and the *DIV-1* was not complete which is a contributing factor and strictly impacting the JPSS overall ability to complete verification.
- *REQ 6*: Based on the DoDAF Element, a case can be conceived to assess all aspects of the DoDAF Element for a system design. Refers to the ability to verify or audit the DoDAF Element through the process of verification.

- Result Finding: The element evaluations indicated that statistical significance of p < 0.05 for the responses received to this QCC criteria. While case can be conceived to assess all aspects of the DoDAF elements for a system design, the analysis showed that non consistent decomposition from System to Sub-system in the architecture for the JPSS SMD material.
- **DoDAF Views:** Most of the JPSS DoDAF views presented little contribution to the overall OLR analysis. The author did make note that the DoDAF OV-2 did not fully communicate the logical resource flows from the *«OperationalPerformers»* which are critical to the *«OperationalActivies* and are needed to completing the DIV-1 and DIV-2.

To review additional details about probability estimates for the model, see Appendix B, Probability For JPSS Response Table B.7. The top of each column is the Estimated Cell Probability for Response Category for the *DEQ_Mean*. These probabilities can be used to predict the outcome of each of the down selected variable responses currently in the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture.

The *REQ* factors from the DQCF QCC mean value was 3.44 and median of 3.0 or "Somewhat Disagree"/"Disagree" this was reflective of the more negative coefficients for the Ordinal Logistic Regression (OLR) for the *REQ* variables, While higher level requirement existed specifics for alternative behavior or complete system performance level breakdown context was missing. An example of missing requirements would be the alternative behaviors that were present in the functional SMD SV-4 diagram in Appendix B. By creating behavior without justification caused additional cost and increased schedule for development for the JPSS system design. Also, the adequate quality rating is driven by the fact of incomplete modeling consistency with in the application of DoDAF and UML/SysML standards. The Government Accountability Office (GAO) found that the JPSS program was encountering difficulties in testing the ground system's performance criteria, which may result in a delay in validating requirement [227]. This was confirmed by historical information of the program when in August of 2017, the JPSS system was delayed in schedule and main factors delaying the JPSS launch were technical issues discovered during testing of the satellite's advanced technology [194]. Additional factors from the DQCF include the *DEQ* value of 5.44 and median of 6.0 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Agree" for the majority of elements evaluated, meaning the quality was consistent with the application of DoDAF standard within the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. The *LEQ* value of 5.91 and median of 5.8 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Somewhat Agree" for the majority of elements evaluated, that the evaluation was in agreement with the application of UML/SysML standard for the most part within the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. The *DEQ* and *LEQ* were most likely the outcome because of the tool and team conformed to UML/SysML/DoDAFstandards during the development process. Using the Equation 3.3 from Chapter 3 a overall determination can be made about the quality of the JPSS architecture. The *DEQ* was very close to a value of 3.96 or "Good" rating. The *LEQ* was a value of 4.27 but still a "Good" rating. The *REQ* was a score of 2.62 in a "Poor" to "Acceptable" rating. The analysis reflects a sensitivity to *REQ* factors in the model and could cause greater impact to quality if not addressed. The JPSS overall score is a 3.62 or "Acceptable" to "Good" rating. Understanding the implication of these scores can provide insight into the understanding of programmatics for a system design see Section 3.6 of Chapter 2.

4.6.5 Modularity Calculation

Now that an understanding for quality of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture has been established based on the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC), the author wanted to understand the modularity as it stands in the current JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. Using the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) Modularity Design Structure (MDS) Matrix and the adapted YuTian equation as prescribed in Chapter 3 Section 3.5 the equation 3.1 can be used to make a determination on the degree of modularity of the model. Recall that the Multicollinearity analysis showed that *DEQ2*, *DEQ6* and nearly all of *REQ* variables had key indicators that modularity will be impacted in most likely a negative way. The Multicollinearity analysis indicated the following for *DEQ2*, *DEQ6* and all of *REQ* variables:

- *DEQ2*: Does the element present strategic information that explains the existing and/or intended links between an organization's business, mission, and management processes, and the supporting infrastructure associated to the architecture?
 - Result Finding: All of the element evaluated had some form of relationship to the JPSS DoDAF architecture being direct or indirect. This means that some degree of modularity is present in the architecture but to what degree remain elusive at this point.
- *DEQ6*: Does the DoDAF element data type presented continue to present key information in a way that is understandable, congruent with, and consistent with all of the various stake-holders communities engaged in developing, delivering, and sustaining capabilities to assist in achieving system design goals.
 - Result Finding: While these elements did not have a consistent agreement for each of the elements evaluated, the VIF calculated showed a value of 13.5 which is above the recommended value of 10 for VIF [216]. The VIF high value means the variable must be eliminated to mitigate any issues for PCA analysis caused by multicollineararity. By having this eliminated from the criteria means that it is suspected that modularity will be impacted JPSS DoDAF architecture.
- *REQ1-6*: Deals with the aspect of the requirement instantiation of an element to establish system contextual meaning in the architecture.
 - Result Finding: The operational functional performance requirement should drive the development of a CONOP architecture for a system design as stated in Section 2.1.3 DoDAF CONOP Design Process in Chapter 2 [4,79]. The Principal Components Analysis (PCA) and OLR analysis found key significance in the *REQ* criteria from the QCC for the JPSS architecture.

For the purpose of modularity calculation analysis, only the Stored Mission Data (SMD) thread will be evaluated as was done in other sections of this Chapter. To clarify the approach to the degree of modularity analysis for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture, some assumptions were made to bound the problem to the appropriate space for the analysis. The assumptions are as follows:

- Data inconsistency exists in the JPSS DoDAF CONOP.
 - Inconsistency was established during the Multicollinearity analysis for several QCC from the DQCF.
 - Several descriptions were missing through out the JPSS DoDAF CONOP.
- The author used any relationship that existed between DoDAF elements within the architecture for the assessment of the degree of modularity.
 - The purpose of an multiple-domain matrix allows for modeling the scoped system aspect while maintaining consistency of multiple domains, each having multiple elements or element types, connected by various relationship types [228].
- The top of the MDS Matrix *column* will represent the *from* or *source* and the *row* as the will represent *to* or *target*.
- The symbol of " \nearrow " present an arrow representing the create relationship.
- Direct relationship from one element in a column to the same element in a row will be blacked out along the diagonal for the MDS, Figure 3.3 shows an example diagram.
- The MDS Matrix is representative of a Multiple-Domain Matrix allowing different element types to be considered under the various DoDAF views [228].
- The analysis will use human clustering technique prescribed by YuTian's team due to consideration for the these listed assumptions or constraints on analysis [174].
 - While the human clustering technique is not the most accurate method, the approximation is close enough for acceptable interpretation when determining factors for the degree of modularity.

- Clustering is the identification of highly interactive groups of elements and arranging in modular understanding [174].
- MDS are considered binary and normalized for easier calculations consistent with YuTian's approach.
- log(base2) was used for the calculation as based on YuTian's teams analysis.
- w weight of view importance will use pairwise comparison of which views are more important.
- Type I mismatch error is for inside of a cluster [174].
- Type II mismatch error is for outside of a cluster [174].
- OV-5 DoDAF view is combined with OV-5a and OV-5b views.
- A 0.33 weighting was used as prescribed by YuTian's team for all terms in the equation.
- The full relationship matrix of 572 elements was not included due to size constraints within the document.
 - A MDS of 572 element by 572 elements yields a matrix grid of after removing the diagonal total grid space is 326657.
- The product architecture is the JPSS DoDAF CONOP with focus on the SMD thread.
- Considerations for "bus" architectures will not be a factor in this analysis based on the definition of a Bus from YuTian's teams analysis.

In order to understand the weighted importance of each of the DoDAF views with the JPSS DoDAF CONOP the standard views used pairwise weighting methodology [229]. The pairwise weighting decision-maker compares each item with the rest of the group and gives a preferential level to the item [178]. The weights were determined based on Table 3.2 in Chapter 3 Section 3.2 for each DoDAF view. The weight of importance Table 3.3 can be found in Chapter 3 Section 3.2.

The next goal was to conduct corresponding clustering of data to understand how data is contained in the modules within the model. An example of how this was done is shown in the Figure 3.3 in Chapter 3 Section 3.2. The approach from Chapter 3 was taken across the entire 572 element count for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP to determine the degree of modularity. The clustering arrangement is as follows in Table 4.15.

Table 4.15: JPSS Clustering Arrangements

Clustering Arrangements						
	n_c cl_i $ S_1 $ $ S_2 $					
JPSS Model	9	14, 28, 69, 76, 77, 107, 120, 181, 334	60108.33	8773.54		

Table 4.16 shows the description length and ratios for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP. The clustering ratios can be calculated using the Widrow–Hoff iteration which is the approach that YuTian's team did within their analysis, however for the purpose this analysis will use the assumption of 0.33 as suggested by YuTian's team [174]. Equation 3.1 was used with the values from Table 4.15 and the results are in Table 4.16.

The findings were quite interesting when looking at the resultant values for clustering within the JPSS DoDAF CONOP model. The case study shows that the modules or the DoDAF views have several interactions exterior (from one view to another), but minimal interactions within the view. Some exceptions to the exterior connections are the internal interactions which include the DoDAF view OV-5b and SV-4. These views have interactions between elements on the view because of their nature of development which contains *«controlflows»* or *«objectflows»*. The analysis only considers interactions that were outside of the views to drive development of elements on other views as well as linked data consistent across different views within the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture.

The method shows a promising ability to evaluate and quantify the degree of modularity while identifying contributing factors within the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture model. Table 4.16 shows the various calculations on the JPSS DoDAF MDS. From the values in the table, the JPSS

	Description Length	Ratio
JPSS CONOP Model	196	0.33
Type I Mismatch	32351	0.33
Type II Mismatch	1827	0.33
Total MDL	33437	

 Table 4.16: JPSS Description Length and Ratio for Clustering

model had a value of 196 which is considered a low degree of modularity given the amount of elements associated with the model. The factors that drive the value include the number of elements within the MDS, relations between DoDAF views, the ratios, and the clustering of DoDAF elements based on views. The type I mismatch value of 32351 shows that while relationships do exist in the clusters and the clusters are quite large, they have considerable mismatch or missing relations, meaning the cluster is modular. The type II mismatch value of 1827 is also considered a low value but while relations exist in the model and within the denoted clusters, not everything is related within the model or the cluster. The full analysis gives the JPSS model and MDL of 33437 which still is considered a long description length. YuTian's interpretation of this MDL is that if the model description is simple, the model description is short [174]. In contrast, many data mismatches would exist, and the mismatched data description would become longer [174]. A complicated model reduces the description of mismatched data, but the model description would be longer [174]. The previous Section 4.6.3 of this chapter showed from the beginning that *DEQ2*, DEQ6 and nearly all of REQ variables also presented a negative outlook for the degree of modularity but the model is considered to high degree of modularity. The analysis shows that in order for engineering teams to design for a high degree of modularity, the engineering team must start with that fact as a goal in the beginning and continue to monitor modularity during development. For the case of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP, the architecture was developed to drive requirements development without the consideration for modularity in the design process, and this was reflected in the large mismatch error in the analysis of this section.

4.6.6 JPSS Conclusions

Chapter 4 represents the bulk of analysis and comprehension of quality using the outlined DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) against case study one. The chapter covered the JPSS CONOP Stored Mission Data (SMD) mission thread, JPSS key terms for DoDAF understanding, application of QbD to the JPSS CONOP, the element sampling from the model, and statistical analysis methods. Each one of the represented sections provides justification for the methodology used while maintaining data integrity and highlighted key findings relating to quality of the DoDAF architecture. The data must be interpreted with caution due to some of the key assumptions made but the innovative method symbolizes a sound approach to investigate quality of architectures. Not only were the findings observable, but the analysis brought quantifiable understanding using statistical methods with supporting foundational theory. The DQCF illustrates a more robust approach to quantify quality comprehension of DoDAF architectures models.

Chapter 5

Search and Rescue Case Study

The second case study is of the Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF CONOP architecture with focus on the Command and Control signaling mission thread. The most current open source versions of SAR DoDAF architectural model and SAR documentation were used to assist the author in context capture, DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) application, illustration, and analysis for the case study. The SAR DoDAF architectural model consists of operations for locating and retrieving persons in distress, providing for their immediate needs and delivering them to a place of safety [230]. The Search and Rescue (SAR) operations are an integrated set of services or operations designed to locate and rescue people who are in distress, provide them with immediate medical attention or other needs, and transport them to a safe location [231]. SAR operations must be carried out as a collaborative effort involving a variety of organizations, including the military (sea, air, and land), government agencies, voluntary organizations, and private enterprises [231]. The primary mission of the SAR DoDAF architectural system is to capture all search and rescue capabilities, in conjunction with the Department for Transport and police, while maintaining a United Kingdom military/civilian SAR capability to ensure the most effective and timely response available to assist people in hazardous situations [230, 232]. The architecture analysis will primarily focus on the Command and Control signaling mission thread of a ship in distress and the capabilities associated with accomplishing that mission. The DoDAF, UML, and SysML stereotypes will be presented with guillemets «» to indicate a model element specific language.

5.1 CONOP for SAR

The SAR DoDAF CONOP purpose is to communicate system functional and operational information that will accomplish the system mission under normal operating conditions. The modelbased SAR DoDAF architectural system deign presents a single phase of capabilities but includes organizational data transmissions between the different system levels. Furthermore, the ultimate goal of the SAR DoDAF architectural was to prescribed DoDAF framework examples for all Department architectures and represents a substantial shift in approach [233].



Figure 5.1: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Operational View OV-1

Figure 5.1 shows the high level OV-1 for the SAR DoDAF system. Several acronyms are present in the diagrams specific for the SAR system. For further context details on the meaning of these acronyms, see Appendix C Table C.1. Figure 5.1 provides a description for the DoDAF Operational View OV-1 for the operational concept of the SAR architectural design. Figure 5.1 shows an image of the corresponding mission, organization and high-level *«OperationalPerformers»* for the system [195]. The SAR OV-1 indicates relations between *«OperationalPerformers»* and what data is being transmitted between the *«OperationalPerformers»* [196]. Note that the image reflects the environments of operation constraints for the system such as maritime sea, land, and air [234]. The OV-1 presents information that provides links from *«OperationalResources»* on the Operational Resource Flow OV-2 diagram to the *«OperationalPerformers»* for the SAR system architecture.

Figure 5.2 shows the Operational Resource Flow or OV-2 for the SAR DoDAF architectural model. The SAR OV-2 shows the logical "who and what" without prescribing the "how" for the



Figure 5.2: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Operational View OV-2

system [4]. The flow relations in the figure show the pattern of resource information specific to organizations, other systems or locations, allowing flows to be established without prescribing the way that the *«ResourceFlow»* is specifically handled [4]. The *«ResourceFlow»* will be used to understand the resources that the *«OperationalActivities»* for the system might need but are not specific in the scope of the SAR system architecture [4]. Figure 5.3 shows the *«OperationalPerformers»* as well a the hierarchy to the relations between each *«OperationalPerformers»*. The Operational Activity Decomposition Tree or OV-5a shows a structural aspect to the *«OperationalActivities»* and gives a hierarchy to the developed of *«OperationalActivities»* addressing the *«Capabilities»* needed for the system with general aspect at the top and more specific as the tiers are descended on the diagram [4]. Additionally, *«OperationalActivities»* can indicate logical interaction information between *«OperationalPerformers»* [4]. The *«OperationalActivities»*

exchanges within an Operational Activity model or OV-5b and can be seen in Appendix C SAR OV-5b Operational View Command and Control signaling Figure C.1.



Figure 5.3: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Operational View OV-5a

The textual data present on the OV-1 diagram helps to describe what data is being conveyed between elements in order to accomplished the SAR system's mission [4]. The OV-1 uses textual context linkage to illustrate the mission for the SAR system to address needed DoDAF Capability View CV-1 shown in Figure 5.4. The CV-1 documents the *«EnterpriseVision»* and mission for the SAR system with high level *«EnterpriseGoals»* that must be accomplished [199]. Illustrated in Figure 5.4, is the phased implementation of the SAR system *«capabilities»* against a given time-line of execution to which primary *«capabilities»* will be integrated into the system [4]. The CV-1 gives strategic context for groupings of *«capabilities»* for the architecture by capturing the vision through a bounded period of time or *«ActualEnterprisePhase»* [4]. The CV-1 tells planners when *«capabilities»* can be expected to be addressed during the system lifecycle development as well

as showing future transformation of the system. Note that both of the phases present on the CV-1 diagram illustrate the SAR architecture phases, of the two phase present one is not connected to any *«capabilities»* for development. Having an element present on the CV-1 diagram with no relationships to another *«ActualEnterprisePhase»* or *«EnterpriseGoals»* indicates a quality dip in the SAR DoDAF CONOP architectural model. The phased implementation of *«ActualEnterprisePhase»* linkage to the SAR DoDAF Capability Taxonomy or CV-2, gives additional timeline phasing *«capabilities»* for the system [4].



Figure 5.4: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Capability View CV-1

Figure 5.5 shows the *«capabilities»* of the SAR at an abstract level. The abstraction of the CV-2 is designed to drive "needs" for the system without prescribing a solution to the needed *«capabilities»* [4]. Figure 5.5 shows a structure aspect to the CV-2 giving a hierarchy to the development of *«capabilities»* with a generalized aspect at the top and more specific as the tiers are descended on the diagram [4]. The *«capabilities»* will be referenced in the *«OperationalActivities»* or Systems Functional Flow, bringing the system behavior to meet the capability need and interconnection of data for different aspects of the system design. The interconnection of data lead to the cap-

ture of the SAR System Interface Description or SV-1. Figure 5.6 shows the SAR SV-1 diagram. Figure 5.6 shows the connections between internal and external *«System»* blocks with directional *«AssociateionProperties»* interfacing the data exchanges [4].



Figure 5.5: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Capability Taxonomy View CV-2

The represented *«Post»* show human interface components to the SAR system and what information is passed via Command and Control signaling to various *«ResourceArtifacts»*. The interactions described in the SV-1 bring the operational and system architecture to specify the logical architecture from the OV-2 [4]. When designing a system, the logical architecture outlines functional groups, selects particular logical components to implement functional architectures, and reflects the connection linkages and data interface links between logical components [200]. The logical architecture also describes how the logical scheme of the system, including logical nonredundant architecture and logical redundant architecture, is formed using BDDs and IBDs, and how the mapped relationship between functional architecture and logical architecture without redundancy, as well as between logical architecture with redundancy and functional architecture with redundancy, is established [200]. The grouping of element in the SV-1 brings the *«capabilities»* and *«OperationalPerformers»* to address each specific capability. The figure shows both hardware and software combined to meet the human interfaces for the system design. The complementary representation with the actual *«Function»* exchanges within an System Functionality Description model or SV-4 and can be seen in Appendix C. SAR SV-4 System View Command and Control signaling for Search and Rescue (SAR) can be seen in Figure C.2.



Figure 5.6: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF System Interface Description SV-1

The final aspect of the SAR DoDAF views is the Conceptual Data Model or DIV-1. Figure 5.7 shows the conceptual data model for Command and Control signaling which indicates information for requirements and rules that manage or constrain the system design [201]. The provided *«Infor-mationElement»*s provide factual grounding for concepts, associations, and attributes that are used to govern the design process from business to technical standards [4]. The items captured on the DIV-1 are part of the system design data model, and tie data of technical nature to the architecture concept [4]. The DIV-1 bridges the gap to bring in the logical and physical data together [4].

The Logical Data Model or DIV-2 relates information in an OV-1 concept or activity flow object on an OV-5b [4]. The DIV-2 is shown in Figure 5.8 and illustrates the implications from the OV-5b *«OperationalActivities»* and SV-4 *«Function»* for the information flows between elements in the system [4]. The details of the communication data can be seen within the connected information flows for the logical data model of the SAR system [4]. While all the data presented can be in



Figure 5.7: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Conceptual Data Model or DIV-1

many different formats, what is being relayed is critical data contained in *«InformationElements»* to address the needed data exchanges.



Figure 5.8: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF Logical Data Model or DIV-2

The ultimate goal of the DoDAF CONOPs for the SAR DoDAF architectural model is to illustrate the mission that the system is supposed to accomplish. Due to the size of the diagrams, the author will only show diagrams from the Command and Control signaling mission thread. The diagrams above show an extensive DoDAF CONOP architecture that exist within the developed SAR DoDAF architecture model. The DoDAF view diagrams illustrate that for a single mission thread in the SAR system, the Command and Control signaling mission thread, the SAR architectural model covers the approach to CONOP development as laid out in Chapter 2 Section 2.1.3 DoDAF CONOP Design Process. The representative views for the Command and Control signaling mission thread show some of the following criteria:

- The operational environment and its characteristics [79]
- Major system components and the interconnection among those components [79]
- Interfaces to external systems or procedures [79]
- Capabilities, functions, and features of the current system [79]
- Operational risk factors [79]
- Performance characteristics, such as speed, throughput, volume, frequency [79]
- Provisions for safety, security, privacy, integrity, and continuity of operations in emergencies [4,79]

5.2 Key SAR Terms

The key terms are critical to understand what information stands out to identify key relationships among data. The SAR open source documents helped to provide some of this information as well as data interrogation of the SAR architectural model. The document acts as an authoritative source for the definition of terms and acronyms that have applicability across the development effort in order to maintain consistency of their interpretation [230]. For the purpose of this dissertation, the definitions were pulled from the lexicon documentation that have particular focus on the DoDAF CONOP terminology and association with DoDAF views CV-1, CV-2, DIV-1, DIV-2, OV-1, OV-2, OV-5a, OV-5b, SV-1, and SV-4. The terms are as follows:

- **Capability:** Generic capability or procedures include a broad variety of capabilities, processes, and teams that may be required in order to support the core generic strategy and its supporting infrastructure [230]. A single block of flats or a whole area may be required to be evacuated in an emergency situation, for example, It is possible that generic skills will be necessary in order to cope with both forms of activity [230]. It includes the people who are mobilized by a plan, as well as their equipment and training. It also includes the planning, doctrinal, and control structures that are used to carry out their operations [230].
- **Data Model:** This refers to a model of a model in its strictest sense [230]. A representation of the entities (and data components) relevant to an architecture, including the connections between entities and their properties or features, is referred to as SAR in this context [230].
- Function: A resource is responsible for performing a function [230]. In the context of information technology systems, it is most often used to refer to data transformations [230]. However, it also includes human activities and software functions that are involved in processing data or physical materials, as well as other operations [230].
- Operational Availability: An activity is any action that is carried out in the course of running the operations of a company [230]. It is a broad phrase that does not suggest a specific position in a hierarchical structure (e.g., it could be a process or a task as defined in other documents and it could be at any level of hierarchy) [230]. It is used to depict operational behaviors rather than the functionalities of hardware and software systems [230]. Depending on the context, operational activity may involve military actions or commercial procedures [230].
- **System:** System architecture is a collection or arrangement of interdependent systems that are linked or integrated in order to achieve a higher level of capabilities [230]. The loss of a

single component system will reduce the performance of the whole system, but will have no effect on the performance of the individual component systems themselves [230].

While the terminology listed above illustrates the general ideas that represent the DoDAF viewpoints, it is critical to note that not all the terms match in one to one relationship, meaning DoDAF terms to SAR terms. The author used interpretation to correlate terminology between DoDAF terms and SAR terms.

5.3 Definition of QbD for SAR

The first step in the application of the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) is illustrated in Figure 5.9. As discussed in Chapter 3 Section 3.5 Framework Application, contextual mapping allowed the author to apply DQCF to the SAR DoDAF architectural model. The approach allowed for clear identification of DoDAF CONOP views for the evaluation scope as discussed in the approach of Chapter 3. Highlighted in red dashed boxes indicate the critical mappings from Juran's QbD method to the SAR DoDAF model architecture driving out the DoDAF CONOP views of the architecture for Command and Control signaling mission thread. Elements within the corresponding views will be evaluated using the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) in Appendix A evaluation method as described in Chapter 3.

5.4 DQCF Application to SAR

Figure 5.10 shows the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) imported into the model as a used project. The import indication is shown as grayed out text for the *«Package»* titles at the bottom of the figure. Importing the DQCF as a used project allows the user to use the profile stereotype *«DoDAF Quality View»* in the model to evaluate model elements with the QCC criteria in Appendix A. Additionally, importing the DQCF as a used project prevents user modification and allows for maintaining the data integrity of the profile and template contents. The figure also shows the containment tree for the SAR DoDAF architectural model limited to the CONOP views needed for evaluation based on the QbD mapping from previous Section 5.3. The



Figure 5.9: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF QbD Mapping

Containment Tree or Browser Folder structure in the model presents what is consider the *«Containment»* relationship of elements on or within a *«Diagram»* or *«Package»* [107]. For the most part the *«Containment»* is a way of organizing the data in a model, similar to a file structure on a computer drive. While the *Containment Tree* leads to a nested containment hierarchy of model elements, in reality is a means of model organization to reduce complexity and manage development efforts [73].

SAR DoDAF content data outside of the scope for the SAR CONOP views associated with the Command and Control signaling mission thread were moved to a *Additional SAR DoDAF Material «Package»*. While the excess content may be needed for full presentation of the SAR DoDAF architectural model, for this dissertation analysis purposes scope of the data was limited help to reduce complexity.



Figure 5.10: DoDAF Conceptual Framework as Used Project in SAR Model

5.5 SAR Element Sampling

Count of the total elements was needed to understand how much of the model would be evaluated for the SAR DoDAF architecture. Table 5.1 gives a high level break down of the elements contained in the DoDAF CONOP architecture. The table shows how many project diagrams exist for the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture model; however, only ones defined in Chapter 2 Section 2.1.3 the DoDAF CONOP Design Process with focus on Command and Control signaling mission thread were considered. A full detailed count of the elements by metaclass type can be found in Appendix C SAR DoDAF CONOP Element Break Down.

Cameo Project Statistics	Count
Project Diagrams	197
All Diagrams	342
Project Elements	9303
All Elements	133473
Project Symbol Styles	7
All Symbol Styles	41

Table 5.1: SAR DoDAF CONOP Element Counts

The sampling extracted from all of this data constituted the following elements that will be analyzed by the DQCF framework. Table 5.2 shows the breakdown of the element count that will be evaluated for the SAR DoDAF CONOP model. Note that the OV-5 value represents both the OV-5a and OV-5b for the SAR DoDAF CONOP architectural model. This is a nuance of the Cameo Enterprise Architecture tool where the OV-5 views are combined typically under one diagram type. Each one of these elements is confirmed to have an Element ID, UUID, or GUID, making the elements real within the architecture of the model and maintains the data integrity of that element [205]. By maintaining the element GUID, an element can not be fabricated and must come form the Cameo Enterprise Architect Tool.

DoDAF CONOP View	Element Count
CV-1	13
CV-2	23
DIV-1	7
DIV-2	111
OV-1	7
OV-2	160
OV-5	46
SV-1	134
SV-4	89
Total	590

Table 5.2: SAR DoDAF Element Evaluation Count

The total of 590 elements of the SAR model, which represents the SAR DoDAF CONOP is roughly 6.34% of the total SAR DoDAF architecture. Figure 5.11 shows the percentage of elements that make up each view for the SAR DoDAF CONOP. The figure shows that the bulk of element constitute the DIV-2, OV-2, OV-5, SV-1, and SV-4 for the CONOP. These views fall in line with the understanding for development of the DoDAF CONOP development process and a considered important in weighting of views which will be used later for modularity calculation. Once the graphic system representation is established or OV-1 view, understanding for operational node communication or information flows of logical resource data to the *«OperationalActivity»* is

critical in the system design process [4]. The DoDAF standard states that the OV-2 is the *back-bone* to which all other DoDAF element will be overlaid for the SV-1 interface description to shows what *«OperationalPerformer»* is providing a capability [4]. The OV-2 integrates the corresponding *«OperationalActivity»* of OV-5a Operational Activity Decomposition Tree or OV-5b Operational Activity Model to display interactions of behaviors in the architectural model [4]. The OV-2 transitions as expected to the OV-5 percentage which makes up the OV-5a and OV-5b for the SAR DoDAF CONOP. For the purpose of analysis and image space for this dissertation, the Command and Control signaling for search and rescue *«OperationalActivity»* and *«Functions»* were displayed in Appendix C. The author would like to note that to fully represent the system, as is the case with the SAR, it can sometimes take hundreds of *«OperationalActivity»* diagrams to represent the entire system. The OV-5a and OV-5b are used to clearly outline *«OperationalActivity»* will become the *Realized «Functions»* in the SV-4 for the system design that the system must perform. The figure illustrates that in the DoDAF standard execution process the OV-2 elements make up a large percentage of the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture.



Figure 5.11: SAR DoDAF CONOP Element View Percentage

When these 590 elements are evaluated against the 17 Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) criterion, a total of 10,030 data points are present for the evaluation process. The selections of elements represents a *purposive sampling* and is believed to be representative of the SAR DoDAF CONOP Command and Control signaling mission thread complete population of elements [206]. he accurate representation will be tested against the Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) sample adequacy test to verify sampling. While subjective may be a factor, the author believes subjectivity has been addressed through rigorous scoping and qualification of data selection to meet the needs for analysis purposes.

5.6 SAR Analysis Results

The following sections of the case study represent the evaluation results for the SAR DoDAF CONOP Command and Control signaling mission thread evaluation.

5.6.1 Normality Testing And Descriptives

The first step was to look in depth at the descriptive statistics for the SAR evaluation data set and the mean values for *DEQ*, *REQ*, and *LEQ* were calculated to assist with this testing. First, the author looked at the Skewness and Kurtosis of each of the means for the dataset. Table 5.3 shows the SAR Descriptive Statistics for evaluation data set. The data in the table is of particular interest to the analysis process that was describe in the analysis approach of Chapter 2 Section 2.2.7. The data shows that while the median value can give you a better interpretation of the consolidated rating variables for each of the individual elements, when consolidated across all elements evaluated a problem is presented. The data shows that the median for *DEQ* and *REQ* descriptives would be completely eliminated from from consideration in the rest of analysis. The median values for *DEQ* standard error, the dependent variable standard error, is very high which indicates that the value is not representative of the sample. The mean values for all variables in this instance could provide a more meaningful result for the analysis and were used for further evaluation. The standard error presented in the table is the standard deviation of the statistical sample population [207]. The standard errors are small for the mean values in the data set, meaning that mean values are more representative of overall population [207]. The author analyzed the data set for Skewness and Kurtosis of each of the means values for each variables. The closer the values for Skewness and Kurtosis are to 0 indicates an more normal distribution [208]. Remember that Skewness and Kurtosis indicate symmetry and peakness of the formed plot of data [208]. Furthermore, Skewness and Kurtosis can provide some interpretation about the model results when the values are positive or negative values [209, 210]. In distributed models, the negatively skewed distribution refers to the model in which more values are shown on the right-hand side of the graph, while the tail of the distribution is spread on the left-hand side [208]. Given the values of the graph, while the tail of the distribution is spread on the right-hand side [209, 210]. The values for Skewness and Kurtosis are presented in the table. Based on these values, the data is considered to not be normally distributed.

The data indicates that more values are on the right-handed side of the graph in Figure C.4, which shows a higher quality for *DEQ*. *LEQ* indicates that more values are on the right-handed side of the graph as well in Figure C.7. *REQ* indicates a larger spread between values Figure C.10. While the values are considered negatively skewed, this could have an impact on the quality of the SAR model. The values can be both positive, meaning that there are some high valued outliers, and negative, meaning some low valued outliers with in the data set [211]. The frequency and Q-Q-plot plots for Skewness and Kurtosis of both mean and median can be seen in Appendix C for SAR evaluation data set. Now that the Skewness and Kurtosis values and the SAR descriptive statistics were calculated, additional checks can be made based on the prescribed approach to statistical methods for the DQCF framework in Section 2.2.7 of Chapter 2. Both Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk are shown in Table 5.4 to address normality. The table includes the calculated statistic*KS* Kolmogorov-Smirnov and *W* Shapiro-Wilk; *df* or "Degrees of Freedom" meaning number of observations; and *Sig* or significance. The table shows the consolidated mean values of *DEQ*, *LEQ*,

SAR Descriptives							
		Ν	lean	Median			
		Statistic	Std. Error	Statistic	Std. Error		
DEQ	Mean	5.10	0.07	5.89	0.87		
	Median	6.00		7.00			
	Variance	2.86		4.51			
	Std. Deviation	1.69		2.12			
	Minimum	1.00		1.00			
	Maximum	7.00		7.00			
	Range	6.00		6.00			
	Skewness	-1.73	0.10	-1.64	0.10		
	Kurtosis	1.43	0.20	0.95	0.20		
LEQ	Mean	5.37	0.07	6.22	0.08		
	Median	5.80		7.00			
	Variance	2.93		4.04			
	Std. Deviation	1.71		2.01			
	Minimum	1.00		1.00			
	Maximum	7.00		7.00			
	Range	6.00		6.00			
	Skewness	-1.89	0.10	-2.20	0.10		
	Kurtosis	2.35	0.20	2.85	0.20		
REQ	Mean	4.75	0.09	5.19	0.10		
	Median	6.00		7.00			
	Variance	4.60		6.27			
	Std. Deviation	2.15		2.50			
	Minimum	1.00		1.00			
	Maximum	7.00		7.00			
	Range	6.00		6.00			
	Skewness	-0.78	0.10	-0.84	0.10		
	Kurtosis	-0.95	0.20	-1.10	0.20		

Table 5.3: SAR Descriptives

and *REQ* that were used for evaluation. Both tests are included, but the sample size of elements for evaluation dictates what test is applicable to use in order to understand the distribution [212]. Due to the element count being greater than 100, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test will provide the most accurate answer for the SAR data set [212]. Because the mean values are significant for both tests, it can be assumed and confirmed that the data is not normally distributed [212]. With both normality checks in place, it can be safe to assume that the SAR data set is not normally distributed. By

clarifying this assumption, the author avoids any risk to further analysis on the SAR data set. For all of the plot data, please see Appendix C.

Tests of Normality							
	Kolmogo	rov-Sr	nirnov	Shapiro-Wilk			
	Statistic	df	Sig.	Statistic	df	Sig.	
DEQ_Mean	0.37	590	0.00	0.59	590	0.00	
LEQ_Mean	0.38	590	0.00	0.62	590	0.00	
REQ_Mean	0.30	590	0.00	0.80	590	0.00	

Table 5.4: SAR Tests of Normality

5.6.2 Multicollinearity

To prepare the data set for PCA analysis, the author needed to address Multicollinearity between variables in the data set. First, the correlation matrix was calculated for understanding the correlation between variables of a non-parametric nature using Spearman's ρ . Collinearity in this context is a linear association between two variables in the SAR evaluation data set [213]. Multicollinearity is a situation where two or more variables in the SAR evaluation data set are highly linearly related [213]. The correlation matrix for SAR evaluation data can be found in Appendix C. The table details the every factor including a correlation coefficient and significance on for each observation. When the correlation coefficient is 1.00, the criterion is perfectly correlated with itself [215]. The SAR correlation matrix does not form an identity matrix, meaning that the value of 1.00 is along the diagonal of the matrix from top left to bottom right [235]. Based on the analysis, the correlation matrix does not form a identity matrix, and the analysis can continue.

The next objective is to detect what variables have a low tolerance and high Variance Inflation Factors (VIF); these are indicators of collinerarity [214]. The author discovered that several evaluation criterion had very strong correlation to one another in the correlation matrix. Analysis studies suggest that correlation coefficients of values, positive or negative, above 0.80 are of potential concern for analysis [215]. Furthermore, if the VIF calculated values are above 10, this indicates a possible cause for concern, and most likely should be eliminated with justification or explained

in detail [215]. The author completed a Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) analysis and excluded variables that were considered to be an issue to the analysis. The variables included *DEQ2*, *DEQ4*, *DEQ6*, *LEQ2*, *LEQ3*, *LEQ4*, *LEQ5*, *REQ1*, *REQ2*, *REQ3*, *REQ4*, and *REQ6*. The suggested elimination of these variables means that the DQCF quality aspect for these QCC criterion could present an impact that must be investigated before the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture PCA analysis is to proceed. Upon further interrogation of the values for exclusion, the following determinations were made:

- *DEQ2*: Does the element present strategic information that explains the existing and/or intended links between an organization's business, mission, and management processes, and the supporting infrastructure associated to the architecture?
 - Result Finding: The majority of elements evaluated had some form of relationship to the SAR DoDAF architecture being direct or indirect. The calculated VIF showed a value of 17.1 which is above the recommendation of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. A direct relationship is a relationship to another element on the same diagram graphically. An indirect relationship is one which is carried over from another diagram or through another element on a different diagram. This means that some degree of modularity is present in the architecture but to what degree remains elusive at this point. Further discussion on the degree of modularity will be addressed in Section 5.6.5 of this Chapter. This part of assessment is concerned with the networked relationships between the graphical elements that have been displayed [157, 160].
- **DEQ4**: Based on the DoDAF element type, do related sub-elements at each tier of the system design or desired level achieve goals and objectives corresponding to the scope and purpose that have been established.
 - Result Finding: The calculated VIF showed a value of 11.1 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. Many elements had corresponding sub elements in the model. While this factor must be eliminated for the purpose of the PCA

analysis, this factor did drive some concerns for quality. An example of note would be on the CV-1 diagram which illustrates the SAR architecture phases. Of the two phases present, one is not connected to any *«capabilities»* for development. Having an element present on the CV-1 diagram with no relationships to another *«ActualEnterprisePhase»* or *«EnterpriseGoals»* indicates a quality dip which is reflective of the VIF value being close to 10 but still considered high.

- **DEQ6**: Does the DoDAF element data type presented continue to present key information in a way that is understandable, congruent with, and consistent with all of the various stakeholders communities engaged in developing, delivering, and sustaining capabilities to assist in achieving system design goals.
 - Result Finding: While many elements did not have a consistent "Agree" with this criterion, the calculated VIF showed a value of 16.5 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The high VIF value means the variable must be eliminated in order to mitigate any issues to conduct PCA analysis. By having this criteria eliminated it is suspected that modularity will be impacted. Further discussion on the impact to modularity will be illustrated in Section 5.6.5 of this Chapter. Consistency and continuity for element data are important considerations when addressing modularity within an architecture, and this part of assessment addresses these considerations. This means that some degree of modularity is present in the architecture but to what degree remain elusive at this point. The element presented in the SAR DoDAF CONOP with in the scope of the Command and Control signaling had details to support the elements.
- *LEQ2*: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the stereotype used correctly according to standard to provide a collection of diagrammatics, modeling components, a formal vocabulary, and semantics for the desired use in the model [73]. As with any language, it may be employed in a variety of ways, and in a variety of incorrect ones as well [73].

- Result Finding: The majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *LEQ2* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 38.1 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. An example would be the element *«FunctionalAction» Receive TDM* that was present in the functional Figure C.2 in Appendix C. The SAR model execution did not have a SysML termination to the *«ControlFlow»* functions or justification with in the model or documentation. By creating behavior without justification could cause scope creep, or additional cost for development for the SAR system design.
- *LEQ3*: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the element related through relationship in the architecture and the relationship type correct [73].
 - Result Finding: The majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which
 presented a "Agree" with the *LEQ3* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of
 39.0 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. Example
 would be the element «*OperationalActivityAction» Process Warning Order* that was
 present in the functional Figure C.1 in Appendix C. The SAR model execution did not
 have a SysML termination to the «*ControlFlow»* for the «*OperationalActivityAction»*.
 By creating behavior without proper termination, this could cause model execution
 problems and potential for rework development for the SAR system design.
- *LEQ4*: Based on the UML/SysML element, does the element describe the underlying ideas or justifications behind its use, such as the choice of analytic method or design approach [73]. The element may serves as a source of information or a reference to the reasoning behind the modeling choice [73].
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *LEQ3* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 54.9 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The the very high VIF indicates a related independent variable has a high degree of correlation with the other

variables in the model [216]. *LEQ4* has a high possible correlation with *REQ4* due to similar justification to the architecture but different meaning for the justification.

- *LEQ5*: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the element using the correct UML/SysML semantics, or meaning, of linguistic ideas between the two languages to bring value to the system design [73]. A descendant of the UML which was initially established as a modeling language for software design but has been expanded by SysML to accommodate general-purpose systems modeling [73].
 - Result Finding: The majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *LEQ5* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 60.3 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The very high VIF indicates a related independent variable has a high degree of correlation with the other variables in the model [216]. *«ActivityFinal»* vs *«FinalFlow»* the impact of these stereotypes are only felt during compiled execution of a model activity. In several cases in the SAR model improper used was done so the diagram would not execute or compile properly.
- *REQ1*: Circumstance are identified completely and precisely defined. All factors that influence the DoDAF Element are specified and precisely defined. Circumstance of the DoDAF Element design attributes consists of states/modes, environments, constraints or combinations which constrain the system design [167–169].
 - Result Finding: The majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *REQ1* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 16.4 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. For most elements present in the SAR model states/modes, environments, constraints or combinations were present and indicated logical data connections including connection to the DIV-1 and DIV-2.

- *REQ2*: Is the DoDAF Element related to function and is that function identified completely and detectable. Is the DoDAF Element functional process detectable during execution to perform some action within the system [168, 169].
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *REQ2* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 28.5 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. Majority of elements were related to *«FunctionalAction»* elements in the architecture, one case an element had a ";" semicolon as the actual name and presents some inconsistency in the architecture.
- *REQ3*: All required inputs are completely defined and detectable. Input of each DoDAF Element should be detectable at the system boundary which initiate functions; may include system state transitions [168, 169, 236].
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *REQ3* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 24.8 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The data logical architecture DIV-2 was well defined for the SAR DoDAF CONOP for the Command and Control signaling, however data type were standard string and not connected to *«ActualMeausrementSet»* or *«MeasurementSet»* stereotypes.
- *REQ4*: The DoDAF Element is derived from a standardized source or defined by customer. Justification would be a means to document the reason for having the element in the model [168, 169].
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *REQ4* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 22.4 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. *REQ4* has a high possible correlation with *LEQ4* due to similar justification to the architecture but different meaning for the justification.

- *REQ6*: Based on the DoDAF Element, a case can be conceived to assess all aspects of the DoDAF Element for a system design. Refers to the ability to verify or audit the DoDAF Element through the process of verification.
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated on the Likert Scale, which presented a "Agree" with the *REQ6* statement, the calculated VIF showed a value of 14.3 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The ability to verify or audit the some of the DoDAF elements through the process of verification, would have been relatively simple but given several mistakes in diagrams this was still not sufficient to include for PCA analysis.

After the above variables were eliminated, the VIF values are shown in Table 5.6. The removal of the variables will allow the following to be used in PCA analysis in the next section.

Factors Eliminated due to VIF			
QCC Factor	VIF Value		
DEQ2	17.1		
DEQ4	11.1		
DEQ6	16.5		
LEQ2	38.1		
LEQ3	39.0		
LEQ4	55.0		
LEQ5	60.4		
REQ1	16.4		
REQ2	28.6		
REQ3	24.9		
REQ4	22.5		
REQ6	14.3		

Table 5.5: SAR Factors Eliminated due to VIF

5.6.3 Principal Component Analysis

The next analysis step in the DQCF process was to conduct a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) for the remaining values from the previous section. In the previous section, factors were

	Collinearity Statistics Tolerance	VIF
DEQ1	0.40	2.50
DEQ3	0.97	1.03
DEQ5	0.40	2.48
LEQ1	0.49	2.06
REQ5	0.49	2.06

 Table 5.6:
 SAR VIF Calculations

removed and their removal was explained based on the Variance Inflation Factors (VIF) values and other factors for analysis. The first step was to determine how accurately the evaluation data set represents the purposeful sampling adequacy for the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture. Table 5.7 shows the results of the KMO and Bartlett's Test values. The table shows that despite the amount of 590 elements from the SAR architecture with a the primary focus on Command and Control signaling, the data KMO value is 0.55 with a significance of less than 0.5. The KMO value is considered on the lower end of the suggested rating scale of 0.5 to 1.0 but adequate enough to proceed with the analysis [218, 219]. Furthermore, the Bartlett's Test of Sphericity showed that the correlation matrix formed is not an identity matrix [220]. By confirming that the correlation matrix is not identity and has significance of less than 0.05 indicates that the data is acceptable for PCA analysis [221]. The values indicate that even though the relatively small purposeful sampling only representing 6.34% of the total SAR CONOP, the sample does adequately represents the SAR DoDAF architecture. With this understanding in mind, analysis could proceed to understand the details of the SAR evaluation data set.

KMO and Bartlett's Test					
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy.0.53					
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity Approx. Chi-Square					
df					
Sig.					

Table 5.7: SAR KMO and Barlett's Test

Questions DEQ1, DEQ3, DEQ6, LEQ1, and REQ5 could be reduced to represent the quality of the model. Table 5.8 indicates that the total variance is achieved 70.7% for a total of two factors. From the first component forward, each consecutive component is derived by partially removing the previous component from the preceding component [222]. The first component explains the greatest amount of variation, while the final component explains the least amount of variance [222]. When it comes to statistical research, extracted components often explain just 50% to 60% of the variance [136]. No real adjustment is needed for the 50% to 60% of the variance when the total variance is achieved at 70.7% for a total of two factors. The table also provides the initial eigenvalues for each component and percentage of accounted for variance in the data set. Table 5.9 shows the percentage for two factor with the eigenvalues plotted in Figure 5.13. Loadings range from between -1 to 1 [9]. In this case, loadings near -1 or 1 imply that the variable has a significant impact on the component [9]. Loadings that are close to 0 imply that the variable has little impact on the component under consideration [9]. Evaluation of the loadings aid in the identification of each component's characteristics in terms of the variables [9]. Eigenvalues that are greater than 1 should be retained for and represent the bulk of the SAR evaluation data set [220]. For this purpose of analysis, a focus was put on the oblique rotation or varimax rotation due to the more realistic representation for the data [220, 221]. The varimax rotation tries to maximise the amount of variance through redistribution across all the recommended factors [221]. Figure 5.12 shows the Scree Plot of the eigenvalues from showing the principal components for total variance of SAR evaluation data set.

Total Variance Explained							
Comp	Initial Eigenvalues			Rotation Sums of Squared Loadings			
	Total % of Variance Cumulative %			Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	
1	2.2	43.4	43.4	1.8	36.2	36.2	
2	1.2	27.3	70.7	1.7	34.5	70.7	
3	1.0	19.0	89.7				
4	0.3	5.7	95.5				
5	0.2	4.6	100.0				
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.							

Table 5.8: SAR Total Variance Explained
Table 5.9 shows the weighted aspect of each question to the component factor loading. When the QCC criteria are analyzed at an abstracted level, the picture becomes clear to what drives variance in the SAR case study data set. *DEQ* and *LEQ* factors primarily show how the DoDAF standard and UML/SysML languages were applied to the overall elements. The finding in the application shows factors that could drive improvement in the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture quality.



Figure 5.12: SAR Eigenvalue Screen Plot

Many elements in the model were left without descriptions in the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture quality architecture. Leaving descriptions off is critical when performing an outside audit of model quality. The auditor or Quality System Engineer would not know every exact detail or have complete understanding of all documentation related to the system. The descriptions or missing names for elements becomes critical for a customer to understand what is being represented in the model. Many of the elements in the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture did not have a sufficient requirement element instantiation within the architecture.

Component Matrix-a		
	Component	
	1	2
DEQ1	0.93	0.08
DEQ5	-0.04	0.36
REQ5	0.94	0.06
LEQ1	0.14	0.90
DEQ3	0.14	0.88
Extraction Method: Principal		
Component Analysis.		
Rotation Method: Varimax		
a. Rotation converged		
in 3 iterations.		

 Table 5.9: SAR Component Matrix

Quality of the model dips in this aspect for the SAR. While elements existed, they often did not have adequate requirement representation. An example would be the element *Receive TDM* that was present in the functional Command and Control signaling SV-4 diagram in Appendix C. The element execution did not have a SysML termination to the *«ControlFlow»* for the *«OperationalActivityAction»*. By creating behavior without proper termination, this could cause model execution problems and potential for rework development for the SAR system design. For the factors pertaining to *DEQ* the SAR DoDAF CONOP, they seemed to have many lacking aspects that would be identified with further analysis under Ordinal Logistic Regression Section 5.6.4. While some of the *DEQ* were present at the system level, many lack the complete instantiation of the architecture to lower levels for element development. An example of this can be seen on the SAR DoDAF CONOP SV-1 Figure 5.6. Multiple *«ResourceArtifacts»* are not connected but are present on the diagram. While this is a minor presentation for linkage of *«ResourceArtifacts»* to parts of the system, this should be completed to show complete linkage in the architecture. By doing this the SAR DoDAF CONOP dips in quality for presentation of elements.



Figure 5.13: SAR DoDAFTwo factor Loading Plot

5.6.4 Ordinal Logistic Regression

This section discusses the Ordinal Logistic Regression (OLR) application of the SAR DoDAF CONOP evaluation data set. The OLR analysis has many benefits and was conducted to determine feature extraction interpretation from the SAR DoDAF CONOP evaluation data set [224]. In the event that OLR violates the proportional odds assumption, Multinomial Logistic Regression (MLR) is recommended for analysis. Only when the proportional odds assumption is violated will MLR be used over OLR. The proportional odds assumption has a constant relationship between the independent variable and dependent variables [144]. While MLR can be used for ordinal data; communities of practice prefers OLR for statistical analysis [144]. The checks and tests completed on the data set are in line with IBM SPSS version 26 for OLR and provide rigor to ensure correct analysis.

Table 5.10 shows the model fitting information for the data set. The table indicates a significant improvement to the model fit over the final model relative to the intercept only [225]. The log likelihood addresses the final vs the null product against -2log and is used to determine if all of the

Model Fitting Information				
Model Model Fitting Criteria Likelihood Ratio Tests				
	-2 Log Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Intercept Only	1355.30			
Final	530.58	824.71	5	0.00

Table 5.10: SAR Model Fitting Information

predicted regression coefficients in the model are zero at the same time [221]. In the SAR DoDAF CONOP evaluation data set, the intercept only value is calculated at 1355.30 with a final of 530.58 at a significance of p < 0.05. Since the significance level of the log likelihood addresses the final test is less than 0.05, you can conclude the final model is better and outperforming the null [226]. The final value informs you that the model makes better predictions than you would have made if you had just guessed based on the marginal probabilities of the outcome categories [226]. The *Chi-Squared* value is different as the log likelihood [215]. The *Chi-Squared* indication is that an association exists between the observed element ratings and what would be an expected rating for similar element analysis [215]. The *Sig.* shows the significance of the *Chi-Squared* calculated statistic, because this value is p < 0.05 the model presents a good fit to the evaluation data [226].

	DEQ1	DEQ3	DEQ5	LEQ1	REQ5
DEQ1		0.06	0.78	0.20	0.22
DEQ3	0.06		0.02	0.23	0.12
DEQ5	0.78	0.02		0.12	0.16
LEQ1	0.20	0.23	0.12		0.69
REQ5	0.22	0.12	0.16	0.69	

 Table 5.11: SAR Correlation Matrix

Additionally, the following tests were conducted to ensure the model is a "goodness of fit" to the SAR evaluation data set. The Pearson and Deviance test were conducted to understand the observed distribution of the data expected in the independent calculated mean of abstracted variables [146]. The indication for the SAR evaluation data set is presented where Pearson's calculated value was significant meaning a p < 0.05 and the Deviance calculated value was non-significant meaning meaning a p > 0.05 [147]. This presented a unique case that needed to be evaluated further with the down selected variables for the SAR Correlation Matrix in Table C.2 of Appendix C. The correlation matrix is presented in Table 5.11. The black cells in the diagonal of the table represent the factors relation with itself. The red color indicates the degree of correlation; the darker the red, the stronger the correlation with a factor. The correlation matrix did show that a *DEQ1* and *DEQ5* still had a high correlation with a value of 0.78 which is close to the limit value of 0.80 max to consider [215]. The strong correlation indicates that the presented elements for the system were not always correct and incomplete in the model effecting the score, example was the CV-1 extra elements on diagram. Furthermore, the correlation matrix did indicate a strong correlation between LEQ1 and REQ5 with a value of 0.69 which is close to the limit value of 0.80 max to consider [215]. The correlation indicates that a driving factor were the descriptions of performance measures in the models that were missing and not considered to be sufficient to conduct verification. While the Pearson value is unique to this data set it is not necessary applicable to consider the significance to halt the SAR OLR analysis. The SAR evaluation data set is considered to be ordinal, not normally distributed, data set and therefore Pearson does not apply [237].

Table 5.12: SAK Goodness-of-Fit	Table 5.12: SAR Goodness-of-Fit
---------------------------------	---------------------------------

Goodness-of-Fit				
Chi-Square df Sig.				
Pearson	18117.79	535	0.00	
Deviance	438.87	535	0.95	

While Pearson was significant, it is not applicable for this case, but if the Deviance was significant, the OLR model may deviate from the observed model presenting a problem with the SAR data set requiring further investigation [148]. Table 5.12 shows the calculated values for Pearson and Deviance tests. The next values calculated are the Pseudo R-Square, and they are presented in Table 5.13. The values are treated as rough analogues to the R-Squared values in ordinal least

squares method for estimating the unknown parameters in a OLR [149]. The consensus is that the values, when calculated, must not be statistically significant or a problem may exist with the data set [149, 150]. Table 5.13 shows that all the values are not statistically statistically significant and analysis can proceed.

Table 5.13: SAR Pseudo R-Square

Pseudo R-Square		
Cox and Snell	0.75	
Nagelkerke	0.79	
McFadden	0.46	

Located in Appendix C are the SAR DoDAF CONOP OLR parameter estimates for the evaluation data set. The following are presented for each of the column data in Table C.3.

- **Threshold**: This is the response variable in the OLR for the *DEQ mean* and represents the cutoff value for *DEQ mean* low as 1.0 and high as 6.33.
 - Threshold [DEQ mean = 1.00]: the estimated cutpoint on the latent variable used to differentiate low DEQ mean from middle and high DEQ mean when values of the predictor variables are evaluated at zero. Elements that had a value of -53.12 or less on the underlying latent variable that gave rise to our DEQ mean variable would be classified as low DEQ mean.
 - Threshold [DEQ mean = 6.33]: the estimated cutpoint on the latent variable used to differentiate low and middle DEQ mean from high DEQ mean when values of the predictor variables are evaluated at zero. Elements that had a value of -16.23 or greater on the underlying latent variable that gave rise to our DEQ mean variable would be classified as high DEQ mean.
- Estimate: the ordered log-odds (logit) regression coefficients. The Standard interpretation of the ordered logit coefficient is that for a one unit increase in the predictor, the response

variable level is expected to change by its respective regression coefficient in the ordered log-odds scale while the other variables in the model are held constant.

- Location: These are the covariates and factors in the analysis for OLR.
 - Variables that are not present in the table were removed based on the previous analysis and constituted only the following as contributing factors: *DEQ1*, *DEQ3*, *DEQ5*, *LEQ1*, *REQ5*.
 - DEQ 1, 3, 5: This is the ordered log-odds estimate for a one unit increase in *DEQ 1, 3,* 5 score on the expected *DEQ mean* level given the other variables are held constant in the model.
 - LEQ 1: This is the ordered log-odds estimate for a one unit increase in LEQ 1 score on the expected DEQ mean level given the other variables are held constant in the model.
 - REQ 5: This is the ordered log-odds estimate for a one unit increase in REQ 5 score on the expected DEQ mean level given the other variables are held constant in the model.
 - DoDAF View: the views of the SAR DoDAF CONOP.
- Std. Error: These are the standard errors of the individual regression coefficients.
- Wald: The ratio of Estimate to Std. Error, squared, equals the Wald statistic.
- **df**: degrees of freedom for each of the tests of the coefficients, defines the Chi-Square distribution to test whether the individual regression coefficient is zero given the other variables are in the model.
- **Sig.**: These are the p-values of the coefficients or the probability that, within a given model, the null hypothesis that a particular predictor's regression coefficient is zero given that the rest of the predictors are in the model.
 - The green indicates statistical significance below 0.05 for the data set.

• **95% Confidence Interval**: Confidence Interval (CI) for an individual regression coefficient given the other predictors are in the model.

The coefficients are predicting the log odds of being in a higher or lower category on the *DEQ mean* dependent variables [150]. The tables shows that for every one increase on the independent variables *LEQ* and *REQ* their is a predicted increase of ending up at a higher level of dependent variable [144]. This means that as the independent variables *LEQ* and *REQ* value increase there is a increase on the dependent variable *DEQ mean* [144]. The following list illustrates interpretations for the QCC values that presented statistical significance based on the OLR analysis:

- *DEQ 1*: According to the DoDAF element type stated in the DoDAF standard, the element must be found on the appropriate diagram in order to be considered complete.
 - Result Finding: An example would be the element *«FunctionalAction» Receive TDM* that was present in the functional Figure C.2 in Appendix C the element flow did not terminate. The SAR model execution did not have a SysML termination to some of the *«ControlFlow»* functions. Names were missing or improperly presented in one case an element had a ";" semicolon as the actual name element ID

"_16_8beta_8f40297_1264755020203_887654_49788". The SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture original objective was to incorporate much of the DoDAF standard to see full implementation within a model [4].

- **DEQ 3:** Based on the DoDAF element type, the descriptions define a strategy for managing change, as well as the transitional processes required to evolve the state of a business or mission to one that is more efficient, effective, current, and capable of providing those actions required to fulfill its goals and objectives, which are represented by the architecture in the description.
 - Result Finding: Corresponding descriptions were not always present to tell what the element is representing for the architecture. Without supporting documentation, the

terminology was lost or redundant when names were used for two different stereotypes on different diagrams.

- *DEQ 5*: The DoDAF carefully examines each element type to ensure that they sufficiently articulate the need and proposed solution in a manner that would improve audience knowledge or justification for the need in architecture.
 - Result Finding: Several elements did not have instantiation for need in the architecture, this was consist ratings presented Table C.4 indicated neutral. The SV-4 specifically focused on the Command and Control signaling functionality for the SAR DoDAF CONOP and had inconsistencies Which were reflected in the correlation to *DEQ 3*.
- *LEQ 1*: Based on the UML/SysML element, the purpose of a modeling description is to make it possible to describe a particular topic of interest or context of the system design [73].
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements presented most elements with a "Strongly Disagree" and had descriptions missing in nearly all SAR elements evaluated. *LEQ 1* was also correlated to *REQ 5* and was shown by significance in the correlation matrix in Appendix C.
- *REQ 5*: Performance measurable values are completely specified. The DoDAF element performance design attributes which allow the verification for a system design [168, 169].
 - Result Finding: DoDAF Element performance design attributes which allow the verification for a system design, not all elements had performance design attributes associated with them in the SAR architecture. The element did have data that could be verified most of the element had string data type which presented as outside verification for the elements. The element performance was not clear outside of the named data. Information such as what the data contained, structure, or measurement was not present.

To view additional details about probability estimates for the model, see Appendix C, Probability For SAR Response Table C.4. The top of each column is the Estimated Cell Probability for Response Category for the *DEQ_Mean*. These probabilities can be used to predict the outcome of each of the down selected variable responses currently in the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture.

The REQ mean value of 4.75 and median of 6.0 or "Neutral"/"Agree". This was reflective for the OLR. While a higher level requirement existed, specifics for alternative behavior or complete system level break down were not present in the architecture. The standard deviation for the REQ is higher than the DEQ and LEQ meaning there is a higher deviation within the data set off the mean value for the *REQ*. Quality of the model dips in this aspect for the SAR. While elements existed, they often did not have adequate representation or any justification at all for existence in the architecture. Additionally, the LEQ had a mean value of 5.37 and median of 5.8 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Agree" for the majority of 480+ elements evaluated, meaning the quality was consistent with the application of UML/SysML standard within the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture. Some systemic problems included activities without terminations or no initial starts to the activity execution. An example would be the element Receive TDM that were present in the functional Command and Control signaling SV-4 diagram in Appendix C. The activity terminates at the function without any termination UML/SysML modeling symbol used. The DEQ mean value of 5.10 and median of 6.0 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Agree" for the majority of 350+ elements evaluated, meaning the quality was consistent with the application of DoDAF standard within the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture. The DEQ and LEQ were most likely the outcome because of the tool and team conformed to UML/SysML/DoDAFstandards during the development process. Using the Equation 3.3 from Chapter 3, an overall determination can be made about the quality of the SAR architecture. The DEQ was very close to a value of 3.73 or "Good" rating. The LEQ had a value of 3.91 which is a "Good" rating. The REQ had a score of 3.50 which is a "Poor" to "Acceptable" rating. The analysis reflects a sensitivity to REQ factors in the model and could cause greater impact to quality if not addressed. The JPSS overall score is a 3.72 or

"Acceptable" to "Good" rating. Understanding the implication of these scores can provide insight into the understanding of programmatics for a system design see Section 3.6 of Chapter 2.

5.6.5 Modularity Calculation

Now that an understanding for quality of the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture has been established based on the Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC), the author wanted to understand the modularity as it stands in the current SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture. Using the DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) Modularity Design Structure (MDS) Matrix and the adapted YuTian equation as prescribe in Chapter 3 Section 3.5 the equation 3.1 can be used to make a determination on the degree of modularity of the model. Recall that the Multicollinearity analysis showed that *DEQ2*, *DEQ6*, and nearly all of *REQ* variables had key indicators that modularity will be impacted in most likely a negative way. The Multicollinearity analysis indicated the following for *DEQ2*, *DEQ6*, and nearly all of *REQ* variables:

- **DEQ2**: Does the element present strategic information that explains the existing and/or intended links between an organization's business, mission, and management processes, and the supporting infrastructure associated to the architecture?
 - Result Finding: Majority of elements evaluated had some form of relationship to the SAR DoDAF architecture being direct or indirect. The calculated VIF showed a value of 17.1 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. Direct relationship meaning to another element on same diagram graphically and indirect relationship meaning carried over from another diagram or through another element on different diagram. This means that some degree of modularity is present in the architecture but to what degree remains elusive at this point. Further discussion on the degree of modularity will be addressed in Section 5.6.5 of this Chapter. This part of assessment is concerned with the networked relationships between the graphical elements that have been displayed [157, 160].

- *DEQ6*: Does the DoDAF element data type presented continue to present key information in a way that is understandable, congruent with, and consistent with all of the various stake-holders communities engaged in developing, delivering, and sustaining capabilities to assist in achieving system design goals.
 - Result Finding: While many elements did not have a consistent "Agree" with this criterion, the calculated VIF showed a value of 16.5 which is above the recommended of 10 for VIF calculated value [216]. The high VIF value means the variable must be eliminated in order to mitigate any issues to conduct PCA analysis. By having this criteria eliminated it is suspected that modularity will be impacted. Further discussion on the impact to modularity will be illustrated in Section 5.6.5 of this Chapter. Consistency and continuity for element data are important considerations when addressing modularity within an architecture, and this part of assessment addresses these considerations. This means that some degree of modularity is present in the architecture but to what degree remain elusive at this point. The element presented in the SAR DoDAF CONOP with in the scope of the Command and Control signaling had details to support the elements.
- *REQ5*: Characterizes the requirement instantiation of an element to establish system contextual meaning in the architecture.
 - Result Finding: The operational functional performance requirement should drive the development of a CONOP architecture for a system design as stated in Section 2.1.3 DoDAF CONOP Design Process in Chapter 2 [4,79]. The Principal Components Analysis (PCA) and OLR analysis found key significance in the *REQ5* criteria from the QCC for the SAR architecture.

For the purpose of Modularity Calculation analysis, only the Command and Control signaling thread will be evaluated as was done in other sections of this Chapter. To clarify the approach to the degree of modularity analysis for the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture, some assumptions were made to bound the problem to the appropriate space for the analysis. The assumptions are as follows:

- Data inconsistency exists in the SAR DoDAF CONOP.
 - Inconsistency was established during the Multicollinearity analysis for several QCC from the DQCF.
 - Several descriptions were missing throughout the SAR DoDAF CONOP.
- The author used any relationship that existed or was created between DoDAF elements within the architecture for the assessment of the degree of modularity.
 - The purpose of a multiple-domain matrix allows for modeling the scoped system aspect while consisting of multiple domains. Each of these has multiple elements or element types connected by various relationship types [228].
- The top of the MDS Matrix *column* will represent the *from* or *source* and the *row* as the will represent *to* or *target*.
- The symbol of "">" presents an arrow representing the creation of a relationship.
- Direct relationships from one element in a column to the same element in a row will be blacked out along the diagonal for the MDS, Figure 3.3 shows an example diagram.
- The MDS matrix is representative of a Multiple-Domain Matrix allowing different element types to be considered under the various DoDAF views [228].
- The analysis will use human clustering techniques prescribed by YuTian's team due to consideration for the these listed assumptions or constraints on analysis [174].
 - While this is not the most accurate method, the approximation is close enough for acceptable interpretation when determining factors for the degree of modularity.
 - Clustering is the identification of highly interactive groups of elements and arranging in modular understanding [174].

- MDS is considered binary and normalized for easier calculations consistent with YuTian's approach.
- \log_2 was used for the calculation as based on YuTian's teams analysis.
- Weight, w, of view importance will use pairwise comparison as to which views are more important.
- Type I mismatch error is for inside of a cluster [174].
- Type II mismatch error is for outside of a cluster [174].
- OV-5 DoDAF view is combined with OV-5a and OV-5b views.
- A 0.33 weighting was used as prescribed by YuTian's team for all terms in the equation.
- The full relationship matrix was not included due to size. With 590 elements, this could not be constrained within the document.
 - A MDS of 590 elements by 590 elements yields a matrix grid of after removing the diagonal total grid space is 347510.
- The product architecture is the SAR DoDAF CONOP with focus on the SMD thread.
- Considerations for "bus" architectures will not be a factor in this analysis based on the definition of a Bus.

In order to understand the weight importance of each of the DoDAF views with the SAR DoDAF CONOP, the standard views use pairwise weighting methodology [229]. The pairwise weighting decision-maker should compare each item with the rest of the group and give a preferential level to the item [178]. The weights were determined based on Table 3.2 in Chapter 3 Section 3.2 for each DoDAF view. The weight of importance Table 3.3 can be found in Chapter 3 Section 3.2.

The next goal is to put the corresponding data in clustering locations to understand how data is contained in modules in the model through the MDS. An example of how this was done is shown in a dependency matrix in Figure 3.3 in Chapter 3 Section 3.2. The approach was taken across the entire 590 element count for the SAR DoDAF CONOP to determine the degree of modularity. The clustering arrangement is as follows in Table 5.14.

Table 5.14: SAR Clustering Arrangements

Clustering Arrangements				
	n_c	cl_i	$ S_1 $	$ S_2 $
SAR Model	9	12, 12, 23, 40, 81, 157, 195, 236, 282	66120.45	11300.39

Table 5.15 shows the description length and ratios for the SAR DoDAF CONOP. The clustering ratios can be calculated using the Widrow–Hoff iteration which is the approach that YuTian's team did within their analysis; however, for the purpose this analysis, the assumption of 0.33 was used as suggested by YuTian's team [174]. Equation 3.1 was used with the values from Table 5.14 and the results are in Table 5.15.

The findings were quite interesting when looking at the resultant values for the clustering within the SAR DoDAF CONOP model. The case study shows that the modules or the DoDAF views have several interactions exterior from one view to another, but minimal interactions within the view. Some exceptions to the exterior connections are the internal interactions which include the DoDAF views, OV-5b and SV-4. These views have interactions between elements on the view because of their nature of development which contains *«controlflows»* or *«objectflows»*. The author's analysis only looks at interactions that were outside of the views to drive development of elements on other views as well as linking data consistent across different views within the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture.

The method shows a means to evaluate and quantify the degree of modularity while identifying contributing factors within the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture model. Table 5.15 shows the various calculations on the SAR DoDAF MDS. From the values in the table, the SAR model

	Description Length	Ratio
SAR CONOP Model	139	0.33
Type I Mismatch	13767	0.33
Type II Mismatch	2353	0.33
Total MDL	16260	

 Table 5.15: SAR Description Length and Ratio for Clustering

had a value of 139, which when considering the amount of elements associated with the model, is considered a lower value with a high degree of modularity. The factors that drive the value include: the number of elements within the MDS, relations between DoDAF views, the ratios, and the clustering of DoDAF elements based on views. The type I mismatch value of 13767 shows that while relationships do exist in the clusters and the clusters are quite large, there is considerable mismatch or missing relations meaning the cluster is not very modular. The type II mismatch value of 2353 is also considered a low value, but while relations exist in the model and within the denoted clusters, not everything is related within the model or the cluster. The full analysis gives the SAR model and MDL of 16260 which is still considered a long description length. YuTian's interpretation of this MDL is that if the model description is simple, the model description is short [174]. In contrast, many data mismatches would exist, and the mismatched data description would become longer [174]. A complicated model reduces the description of mismatched data, but the model description would be longer [174]. The previous Section 5.6.3 of this chapter showed from the beginning that DEQ2, DEQ6, and nearly all of REQ variables also presented a negative outlook for the degree of modularity, but the model is considered to have too high a degree of modularity. The analysis shows that for a high degree of modularity design, the model should be designed with that original intent and provide for continuous monitoring during its development. For the case of the SAR DoDAF CONOP, the architecture was developed to illustrate the capabilities of the DoDAF standard without the consideration for modularity in the design process, but modularity was reflected in the small MDL in the analysis of this section.

5.6.6 SAR Conclusions

Chapter 5 represents the bulk of analysis and comprehension of quality using the outlined DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) against Case Study Two. The chapter covered the SAR CONOP Command and Control signaling mission thread, SAR key terms for DoDAF understanding, application of QbD to the SAR CONOP, element sampling from the model, and statistical analysis methods. Each one of the represented sections provides justification for the methodology used while maintaining data integrity and highlighting key findings relating to quality of the DoDAF architecture. The data must be interpreted with caution due to some of the key assumptions made, but the innovative method symbolizes a sound approach to investigate quality of architectures. Not only were the findings observable, but the analysis brought quantifiable understanding using statistical methods with supporting foundational theory. The DQCF illustrates a more robust approach to quantify quality comprehension of DoDAF architectures models.

Chapter 6

Summary and Conclusion

The following chapter summarizes the results of research, presents conclusions, and provides recommendations for future work.

6.1 Synthesis of Results

Chapter 1 provided insight into the background of this dissertation as well as formulation of the research problem to narrow the present methodological gap within the knowledge base of systems engineering when it comes to determining quality of DoDAF architectures. Chapter 2: Overview of Approach and Chapter 3: Conceptual Framework and Overview, outlined the concepts for conducting architecture evaluation activities integrated within an DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) construct. Topics outlined within the Chapters shown in Figure 3.12 of Chapter 3 play critical roles in the establishment of the concepts crucial to the DQCF to address quality of DoDAF architecture models [238]. The DQCF provides a means to interrogate quality in depth to include the application of the DoDAF standard, the UML/SysML standards, and requirement architecture instantiation, as well as capturing a way to collect the degree of modularity to understand the DoDAF architecture complexity. The DQCF illustrates how QbD and DoDAF architecture contextually map to the respective UML/SysML base languages. Quality metric definitions through Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) in Appendix A within the DQCF provide an implementation methodology with respect to modeling standards of DoDAF architecture models. Statistical methods of analysis help to validate collected data sets and provide interpretation of the QCC through quantifiable insight into the quality of the DoDAF architecture. Case study evaluations provided a practical application of the DQCF and present an in-depth quality analysis of case study's DoDAF CONOP architectures. This dissertation as well as the DQCF provides some of the following advances:

- Re-contextualization mapping of Quality By Design (QbD) to create a new DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) for Department of Defense Architecture Framework (DoDAF) architecture models
- Competencies required for the Systems Engineering Quality Role to apply the DQCF
- The QCC can be established and when applied using a suitable framework can capture an understanding of the quality of a MBSE environment
- Development of QCC within the DQCF to capture quality understanding as they relate to Model-Based Systems Engineering (MBSE) environment
- Application of certain QCC as quality attributes can quantify the design volatility of DoDAF architectures
- Fundamental statistical methods can be applied to certain data, generated by a suitable quality framework to provide validity of metrics to interrogate the DoDAF architectures quality
- Provided an adapted form of YuTian team's equation 3.1 to quantify Minimum Description Length (MDL) for assessing the degree of modularity

The concatenation of all of these theories, metrics, statistical methods, understanding for modularity, and additional research papers have led to the development of the DQCF.

6.2 Summary of Case Studies

The following section provides summaries of each of the case studies and comparisons between the case study analysis results developed using the DQCF.

6.2.1 Case Study One Summary

The first case study was the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)/ National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF CONOP architecture with focus on the Stored Mission Data (SMD) mission thread. The most current open source versions of Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF architectural model and JPSS documentation were used to assist the author in context capture, DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) application, illustration, and analysis. The JPSS is a next-generation earth observation program that collects and communicates global environmental data via polarorbiting satellites [193]. The primary mission of the JPSS system is to understand/predict changes in weather, climate, oceans, coasts, and space environment [193].

The analysis indicated in totality that the JPSS DoDAF CONOP has "acceptable" to "good" with concerns that impact quality this is judged on the factors of QCC criteria of the DQCF. Several key factors play a role in the "acceptable" to "good" quality of the JPSS model architecture. The factors include:

- When evaluating documentation on the architecture, a key concern was found in that the architecture was generated before the requirements which can present issues with architecture instantiation [202].
- Terminology did not have a one to one relationship with DoDAF standard terminology.
- The total of 572 elements of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP SMD mission thread are roughly 5.46% of the total JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture.
- The analysis showed that the bulk of elements were located in the OV-2, OV-5, and SV-4 views for the CONOP.
- The Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) value of 0.59 with a significance of less than 0.05, indicated that the data was accurate representation of the architecture.
- The Skewness and Kurtosis in Appendix B frequency plots indicated that higher quality for *DEQ* values and more varied for *LEQ* and *REQ*.

• DEQ Findings:

- DEQ2 and DEQ6 showed some degree of modularity is present in the architecture.

- Not all elements were located on correct diagram; deprecated element types were used in the architecture.
- The implications of unjustified alternative behavior present on the diagrams had no driving factor present.
- Many elements had missing description difficulty understanding what elements were representing for the architecture was common place.
- Element types were used in the architecture were missing performance indication or standard to explain the data selection.

• LEQ Findings:

- Model elements did not always have a need within the architecture.
- The model contained orphaned elements that often did not have relationships to parts of the architecture.

• REQ Findings:

- Many of the elements in the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture did not have a sufficient requirement element instantiation with in the architecture.
- The performance measurable values were not completely specified directly impacts test verification.
- Not all elements had performance design attributes associated with them and the *DIV-1* was not complete strictly impacting overall ability to complete verification.
- The analysis showed that non consistent decomposition from System to Sub-system in the architecture.
- The Principal Components Analysis (PCA) and OLR analysis found key significance in the *REQ* criteria from the QCC for the JPSS architecture.

The REQ factors from the DQCF QCC mean value was 3.437 and median of 3.0 or "Somewhat Disagree"/"Disagree". This was reflective of the more negative coefficients for the Ordinal Logistic Regression (OLR) for the REQ variables. While higher level requirement existed, specifics for alternative behavior or complete system performance level breakdown context was missing. An example of missing requirements would be the alternative behaviors that were present in the functional SMD SV-4 diagram in Appendix B. By creating behavior without justification caused additional cost and increased schedule for development for the JPSS system design. Also, the adequate quality rating is driven by the fact of incomplete modeling consistency within the application of DoDAF and UML/SysML standards. The Government Accountability Office (GAO) found that the JPSS program was encountering difficulties in testing the ground system's performance criteria, which may result in a delay in validating requirements [227]. This was confirmed by historical information of the program, when in August of 2017, the JPSS system was delayed in schedule and main factors delaying the JPSS launch were technical issues discovered during testing of the satellite's advanced technology [194]. Additional factors from the DQCF include the DEQ value of 5.44 and median of 6.0 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Agree" for the majority of elements evaluated, meaning the quality was consistent with the application of DoDAF standard within the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. The LEQ value of 5.91 and median of 5.8 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Somewhat Agree" for the majority of elements evaluated, that the evaluation was in agreement with the application of UML/SysML standard for the most part within the JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture. The DEQ and LEQ were most likely the outcome because of the tool and team conformed to UML/SysML/DoDAFstandards during the development process. Using the Equation 3.3 from Chapter 3, an overall determination can be made about the quality of the JPSS architecture. Table 6.1 shows the Quality and Degree of Modularity rating for the JPSS DoDAF CONOP SMD mission thread. The table shows that the *DEQ* was yellow to green, but was very close to a value of 3.96 or "Good" rating. The LEQ was a green score of a value of 4.27, but still a "Good" rating. The *REQ* was a red score of 2.62 in a "Poor" to "Acceptable" rating. The analysis reflects a sensitivity to *REQ* factors in the model and could cause greater impact to quality if not addressed. The JPSS overall score is a 3.62 or "Acceptable" to "Good" rating.

Overall Model Quality					
	Mean Value	Quality Score			
DEQ	5.4	4.0			
LEQ	5.9	4.2			
REQ	3.4	2.6			
Total		3.6			
Degree of Modularity					
Model		196			
Туре І		32351			
Type II		1827			
Total MDL		34374			

Table 6.1: JPSS Quality and Degree of Modularity

The JPSS model MDL value associated with the model is considered a lower value with a high degree of modularity. The factors that drive the value include: the number of elements within the MDS, relations between what were considered modules or DoDAF views, the weight ratios calculated for each view and three factors of MDL, and the clustering of DoDAF elements. The full MDL analysis gives the JPSS model a value of 33437, which is still considered the long description length. The factors for *DEQ2*, *DEQ6*, and nearly all of *REQ* variables also presented a negative outlook for the degree of modularity but the model is considered to high degree of modularity. The degree of modularity assessment was used in order to grasp functional reusability understanding of architecture aspects for development of system design. The analysis shows that in order for engineering teams to design for a high degree of modularity, the engineering team must start with that fact as a goal in the beginning and continue to monitor modularity during development. For the case of the JPSS DoDAF CONOP SMD mission thread, the architecture was developed to drive requirements development without the consideration for modularity in the design process, and this was reflected in the large mismatch error in the analysis. Furthermore,

the model degree of modularity hints at the possibility of reusability understanding of the SMD mission thread analyzed in the architecture.

6.2.2 Case Study Two Summary

The second case study is the Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF CONOP architecture with focus on the Command and Control signaling mission thread. The most current open source versions of the SAR DoDAF architectural model and SAR documentation were used to assist the author in context capture, DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) application, illustration, and analysis for the case study. The SAR DoDAF architectural model consists of operations for locating and retrieving persons in distress providing for their immediate needs and delivering them to a place of safety [230]. The Search and Rescue (SAR) operations are an integrated set of services or operations designed to locate and rescue people who are in distress, provide them with immediate medical attention or other needs, and transport them to a safe location [231]. SAR operations must be carried out as a collaborative effort involving a variety of organizations, including the military (sea, air, and land), government agencies, voluntary organizations, and private enterprises [231]. The primary mission of the SAR DoDAF architectural system is to capture all search and rescue capabilities, in conjunction with the Department for Transport and police, while maintaining a United Kingdom military/civilian SAR capability to ensure the most effective and timely response available to assist people in hazardous situations [230,232].

The analysis indicated in totality that the SAR DoDAF CONOP has "acceptable" to "good" with concerns that impact quality this is judged on the factors of QCC criteria of the DQCF. Several key factor play a role in the "acceptable" to "good" quality of the SAR model architecture. The factors include:

- When evaluating documentation on the architecture, the ultimate goal of the SAR DoDAF architectural was to prescribe DoDAF framework examples for all Department architectures and represent a substantial shift in approach [233].
- Terminology did not have a one to one relationship with DoDAF standard terminology.

- A total of 590 elements of the SAR model which represent the SAR DoDAF CONOP is roughly 6.34% of the total SAR DoDAF architecture.
- The analysis showed that the bulk of element constitute the DIV-2, OV-2, OV-5, SV-1, and SV-4 for the CONOP.
- The Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) value is 0.55 with a significance of less than 0.5 indicating that the data was an accurate representation of the architecture.
- The Skewness and Kurtosis in Appendix C, that higher quality for *DEQ* and *LEQ* more varied for the *REQ*.

• DEQ Findings:

- *DEQ2* and *DEQ6* showed some degree of modularity is present in the architecture.
- Unrelated elements on DoDAF views would cause a quality dip.
- Several *DEQ* values had high VIF causing multicollinerarity and needed to be removed for PCA analysis.

• LEQ Findings:

- Several activities and other behaviors did not have proper termination and would cause model execution problems and potential for rework development for the SAR system design.
- Several *LEQ* values had high correlation with other evaluation factors in *DEQ* and *REQ*.
- In several cases, improper stereotypes were used and would only be realized during compiled execution of a model activity.

• **REQ Findings:**

- Many of the elements in the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture did not have a sufficient requirement element instantiation within the architecture.
- The ability to verify or audit some of the DoDAF elements through the process of verification would have been difficult due to errors.
- Many elements did not have data that could be verified.
- Many element performance indications were not clear or their measurements were not present.

The REQ mean value of 4.75 and median of 6.0 or "Neutral"/"Agree" was reflective in the negative to positive coefficients for the OLR. While higher level requirements existed, specifics for alternative behavior or complete system level break down were not present the architecture. The standard deviation for the *REQ* is higher than the *DEQ* and *LEQ*. This shows there is a higher variation within the data set from the mean value for the REQ. The quality of the model dips in this aspect for the SAR. While elements existed, they often did not have adequate requirement representation or any justification at all for existence in the architecture. Additionally, the LEQ was mean value of 5.37 and median of 5.8 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Agree" for the majority of 480+ elements evaluated, meaning the quality was consistent with the application of UML/SysML standard within the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture. Some systemic problems included activities without termination or no initialization to the activity execution. An example would be the element *Receive TDM* that was present in the functional Command and Control signaling SV-4 diagram in Appendix C. The activity terminates at the function without any termination UML/SysML modeling symbol used. The DEQ mean value of 5.10 and median of 6.0 or "Somewhat Agree"/"Agree" for the majority of 350+ elements evaluated, meaning the quality was consistent with the application of DoDAF standard within the SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture. The DEQ and LEQ were most likely the outcome because of the tool and team conformed to UML/SysML/DoDAFstandards during the development process. Using the Equation 3.3 from Chapter 3, an overall determination can be made about the quality of the SAR architecture. Table 6.2 shows the Quality and Degree of Modularity rating for the SAR DoDAF CONOP Command and Control signaling mission thread.

The table shows that the *DEQ* was yellow to green, but was very close to a value of 3.73 or "Good" rating. The *LEQ* was a green score of a value of 3.91 which is a "Good" rating. The *REQ* was a red score of 3.50 in a "Poor" to "Acceptable" rating. The analysis reflects a sensitivity to *REQ* factors in the model and could cause greater impact to quality if not addressed. The JPSS overall score is a 3.72 or "Acceptable" to "Good" rating.

Overall Model Quality				
	Mean Value	Quality Score		
DEQ	5.1	3.7		
LEQ	5.4	3.9		
REQ	4.8	3.5		
Total		3.7		
Degree of Modularity				
Model		139		
Туре І		13767		
Type II		2353		
Total MDL		16260		

Table 6.2: SAR Quality and Degree of Modularity

The SAR model MDL value associated with the model is considered a lower value with a high degree of modularity. The factors that drive the value include: the number of elements within the MDS, relations between what were considered modules or DoDAF views, the weight ratios calculated for each view and three factors of MDL, and the clustering of DoDAF elements. The full analysis give the SAR model and MDL of 16260, which is still considered a long description length. The factors for *DEQ2*, *DEQ6*, and nearly all of *REQ* variables also presented a negative outlook for the degree of modularity; but, the model is considered to high degree of modularity. The degree of modularity assessment was used in order to grasp functional reusability understanding of architecture aspects for development of system design. The analysis shows that in order for engineering teams to design for a high degree of modularity, the engineering team must start with that fact as a goal in the beginning and continue to monitor modularity during development. For the case of the SAR DoDAF CONOP Command and Control signaling mission thread, the architecture

was developed to drive requirements development without the consideration for modularity in the design process, and this was reflected in the large mismatch error in the analysis. Furthermore, the model degree of modularity hints at the possibility of reusability understanding of the Command and Control signaling mission thread analyzed in the architecture.

6.3 Conclusions

The implications of DQCF could save hundreds of millions of dollars on many different DoD programs. The Ground Based Strategic Deterrent (GBSD) program alone was valued at 85.6 billion dollars and the implications for quality to a program of that cost is at least between 2% to 20% [60]. The cost for quality for the GBSD program could be between 1.712 and 17.12 billion dollars for the DoD through 2075 [239]. The technical approach using the DQCF provides a unique qualitybased perspective on system development that establishes a baseline understanding that presents an opportunity to realize both cost and schedule savings during development of DoD programs. The DQCF presents an advantage to the industry and DoD in a new methodical approach to quality within MBSE. The ability to quantify the overall ratings of each various variables provides insight of the coherent design of the system model as well as application of standards. Specifically, the variables rating can provide insight into sensitivities of the system design that could be used to identify risks to the system development process. However, despite the fact that there is no ideal technique for quality evaluation, the suggested approach using the DQCF demonstrated promising ability to first detect then assess quality. In truth, basic scoring techniques have increased in favor primarily because they are quick and straightforward to utilize [94]. In general, programs have a tolerance for risk, and these risks must be regulated within the program's acceptable bounds. Uncertainties may be connected to the project's benefits, as well as its ability to be finished on time, within budget, and to specifications [192]. Control risk management is often used to ensure that the outcome of corporate activities falls within a predetermined range [192]. Ultimately, the idea is to detect and mitigate sensitivity identified using the variable quantifications.

While the JPSS and SAR DoDAF CONOP architectures were considered of "acceptable" to "good" quality for various reasons, the DQCF provided a systematic means of determining the quality of models. The analysis shows that the architecture development has a sensitivity to the *REQ* factors, which support requirement development or support architecture instantiation. If an analysis was conducted earlier in development, like the one presented in this dissertation, a sensitivity to the *REQ* factors could be seen early and mitigated or avoided all together. The SAR DoDAF CONOP architecture was designed with the purpose to demonstrate the capabilities of the DoDAF standard and was reflected when the quality was analyzed. The JPSS DoDAF CONOP architecture was developed first to drive requirements development and secondly to instantiate the architecture which was reflected when the quality was analyzed. The DQCF allows for a moment in time analysis instead of look at delta between developments; however, it can be used to make delta determinations. The statistical methods allow engineering teams to pull data to understand quality trends in the architecture. The statistical methods also give an in-depth investigation into what is driving poor quality in the design of a model architecture. The OLR analysis allows for interpretation and predicting problem areas and can be used to understand where development effort need to be increased. The overall primary contribution of this research was a new methodological approach to detect and determine quality of a DoDAF architecture model. The case studies help to demonstrate a new DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework (DQCF) as a means to investigate quality of DoDAF architecture in depth to include the application of DoDAF standard, the UML/SysML standards, requirement architecture instantiation, as well as modularity to understand architecture complexity. By providing a renewed focus on a quality-based systems engineering process when applying the DoDAF, improved trust in the system and data architecture of the completed models can be achieved. The results of the case study analyses reveal how a quality-focused systems engineering process can be used during development to provide a product design that better meets the customer's intent and ultimately provides the potential for the best quality product.

6.4 Preliminary Validation

The dissertation research has led to a conference publication titled *Digital Engineering Transformation of Requirements Analysis within Model-Based Systems Engineering* and the paper is referenced within this dissertation. The dissertation research influenced understanding for the National Defense Industrial Association (NDIA) developed metric titled *Functional Architecture Completeness and Volatility* which is also referenced within this dissertation. The dissertation research help to contribute to *Digital Engineering Measurement Framework* Systems Engineering Research Center (SERC) which will be published in March 2022. The research has led to five invention disclosures, three technical abstracts, three technical poster videos, and several training sessions in support of the author's role as a senior digital engineering lead at his current company. Additionally, the material was reviewed by U.S. government and industry systems engineering practitioners with experience in MBSE, DoDAF, and systems engineering architectural design. The three consulted experts for the methodology approach and design had a combined experience of 84 years DoD systems engineering experience.

6.5 Future Work

The creation of this dissertation revealed a number of issues that might be explored further as potential future study areas to expand upon this research. Topics for future study work might be the application of DQCF to a variety of other DoDAF aspects or circumstances and the use of various other MBSE instruments. Future work may include:

- Implications of Configuration Management for MBSE DoDAF Architectures
- Add additional QCC criteria for other framework support such as (UAF, Zackman, TOGAF, etc.)
- Complete application of the DQCF to a program or project under development or execution
- Application to additional case studies to provide more in depth analysis to deal with outlier cases

- · Address costing analysis to show impacts to improved quality of architecture over time
- Python OpenCV Text Detection for element text recognition in the graphical architecture against verified element standard library
- Using methodology to apply digital engineering quality across different areas of engineering, Information Technology architecture or logistical architecture

Including additional DQCF variables could drive more sensitivity out of the data to better understand impacts that drive specific model quality aspects. Given that one of the primary inputs supplied by the decision makers is the weightings for the degree of modularity, it would be beneficial to do a more comprehensive sensitivity analysis, focusing in particular on the modularity aspects. Furthermore, optimizations of higher complexity might be carried out, perhaps with the assistance of High-Performance Computing Resources (HCR) for large Design Structure Matrix (DSM). The advancements in the integration of MBSE and automation tools, in particular, might be examined further.

6.6 Disclaimer

The views and opinions expressed in this dissertation and case study analyses are solely the author's. The views and opinions do not represent any position of the U.S. Department of Defense, National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), Dassault Systèmes, Colorado State University, any employment entity, or any other organization, group, or individual.

Appendix A

Quality Characteristic Categories

Each element under evaluation would be evaluated against the following Quality Characteristic Categories (QCC) to determine quality of that specific element. The author would like to stress that it is not always necessary for a score to be reflected as positive or negative. A neutral value is acceptable due to the fact that some elements might not require a rating under specific category given contextual meaning of the element in the architecture. A neutral value must have a thorough explanation because this could present an issue for analysis if not adequately explained. The data collected based on these evaluation criterion will be rated on the seven point Likert scale discussed in Chapter 2 Section 2.2.7 Statistical Analysis Methods. Making subjective judgments about what is significant becomes necessary when doing any examination of this type using Likert scale [240]. Using subjective attributes such as the QCC which is essentially a Likert scale can successfully assist to both develop and test substantive theories thereby mitigating as much subjectivity as possible [95]. By using a Likert scale to survey a sample of model elements, system models, elements, and content can be evaluated through the application of numerical ratings, providing a promising approach for quantifying deterministic values of quality [96]. The author believes that this criterion presents an accurate picture of what is to be rated and sufficiently can be used to evaluate elements. For the purpose of analysis this criterion does not evaluate the diagram image, packages or folder structure for containment. The criterion are as follows:

• DoDAF Element Quality (DEQ)

- Category Definition: Deals with the aspect of the DoDAF element that meet standard and establish element in the architecture.
 - * DEQ1: According to the DoDAF element type stated in the DoDAF standard, the element must be found on the appropriate diagram in order to be considered complete.

- * DEQ2*: Does the element present strategic information that explains the existing and/or intended links between an organization's business, mission, and management processes, and the supporting infrastructure associated to the architecture.
 - *Note: This part of assessment is concerned with the networked relationships between the graphical elements that have been displayed [160] [157].
- * DEQ3: Based on the DoDAF element type, the descriptions define a strategy for managing change, as well as the transitional processes required to evolve the state of a business or mission to one that is more efficient, effective, current, and capable of providing those actions required to fulfill its goals and objectives, which are represented by the architecture in the description.
- * DEQ4: Based on the DoDAF element type, do related sub-elements at each tier of the system design or desired level achieve goals and objectives corresponding to the scope and purpose that have been established.
- * **DEQ5**: The DoDAF carefully examines each element type to ensure that they sufficiently articulate the need and proposed solution in a manner that would improve audience knowledge or justification for the need in architecture.
- * DEQ6*: Does the DoDAF element data type presented continue to present key information in a way that is understandable, congruent with, and consistent with all of the various stakeholders communities engaged in developing, delivering, and sustaining capabilities to assist in achieving system design goals.
 - ***Note:** Consistency and continuity for element data are important considerations when addressing modularity within an architecture, and this part of assessment addresses these considerations.
- Language Element Quality (LEQ)
 - Category Definition: Deals with the aspect of the UML/SysML element that meet standards and establish element in the architecture.

- * LEQ1: Based on the UML/SysML element, the purpose of a modeling description is to make it possible to describe a particular topic of interest or context of the system design [73].
 - **Example:** UML for SysML sets the criteria through definition of the domain concepts that should be considered [73]. The UML/SysML is structured through concepts descriptions that are required to represent structure, behavior, characteristics, requirements, and other system modeling constructs, as well as other aspects of modeling [73].
- * LEQ2: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the stereotype used correctly according to standard to provide a collection of diagrammatics, modeling components, a formal vocabulary, and semantics for the desired use in the model [73]. As with any language formal or informal, it may be employed in a variety of ways, and in a variety of incorrect ones as well [73].
 - Example: The choice between *«continuous» / «discrete»* is a critical modeling assumption and is an important contextual decision [241] [73]. To get use the wrong stereotype will constrains the represented element [241] [73]. UML/SysML elements can be used to create nonsensical models aspects [73].
- * **LEQ3**: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the element related through relationship in the architecture and the relationship type correct [73].
 - **Example:** A significant amount of time is spent in structuring the model, which includes relationships such as *«include»*, *«extend»*, and *«generaliza-tion»*, with the assumption that such structure is required in every model or required for the system's architectural design [73]. Commonly utilize the *«in-clude»* connection to divide a element down into smaller elements by conducting functional decomposition of the system [73]. As a result, none of the elements by themselves provide any real value, as it becomes extremely difficult to understand what a system does as a result of this difficulty [73].

- * LEQ4: Based on the UML/SysML element, does the element describe the underlying ideas or justifications behind its use, such as the choice of analytic method or design approach [73]. The element may serves as a source of information or a reference to the reasoning behind the modeling choice [73].
- * LEQ5: Based on the UML/SysML element, is the element using the correct UML/SysML semantics, or meaning, of linguistic ideas between the two languages to bring value to the system design [73]. A descendant of the UML which was initially established as a modeling language for software design but has been expanded by SysML to accommodate general-purpose systems modeling [73].

• Requirement Element Quality (REQ)

- Category Definition: Deals with the aspect of the requirement instantiation of an element to establish system contextual meaning in the architecture to understand developed requirements or outline requirement development support. The criteria attempt to provide an understanding of the functional coherent design for the system.
 - * REQ1: Circumstance are identified completely and precisely defined. All factors that influence the DoDAF Element are specified and precisely defined. Circumstance of the DoDAF Element design attributes consists of states/modes, environments, constraints or combinations which constrain the system design [167] [168] [169].
 - * REQ2: Is the DoDAF Element related to function and is that function identified completely and detectable. Is the DoDAF Element functional process detectable during execution to perform some action within the system [168] [169].
 - * REQ3: All required inputs are completely defined and detectable. Input of each DoDAF Element should be detectable at the system boundary which initiate functions; may include system state transitions [168] [169] [236].

- * REQ4: The DoDAF Element is derived from some standardized source or defined by customer. Justification would be a means to document the reason for having the element in the model [168] [169].
- * REQ5: Performance measurable values are completely specified. The DoDAF Element performance design attributes which allow the verification for a system design [168] [169].
- * REQ6: Based on the DoDAF Element, a case can be conceived to assess all aspects of the DoDAF Element for a system design. Refers to the ability to verify or audit the DoDAF Element through the process of verification.
Appendix B

Joint Polar Satellite System Case Study Additional Data

Acronym	Definition
557WW	557th Weather Wing
6 SOPS	6th Space Operations Squadron
AGS	Attitude Ground Support
AFWA	Air Force Weather Agency
AK	Alaska
AMSR	Advanced Microwave Scanning Radiometer
APC	(JPSS) Alternate Processing Center
APID	Application Packet Identifier
APMC	Agency-level Program Management Council
ASD	AMSR2 APID Sorted Data
ATMS	Advanced Technology Microwave Sounder
C3	Command, Control and Communications
CARA	Conjunction Assessment and Risk Analysis
ССВ	Configuration Control Board
CERES	Clouds and the EarthÕs Radiant Energy System
COURL	Consolidated Observing Users Requirements List
CLASS	Comprehensive Large Array-Data Stewardship System
CrIS	Cross-track Infrared Sounder
DMSP	Defense Meteorological Satellite Program

Table B.1: National Polar-orbiting Operational Environmental Satellite System (NPOESS) Acronyms List

DOC	U.S. Department of Commerce
DoD	Department of Defense
DUS/O	Deputy Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere for Op-
	erations Environmental Data Record
EOS	NASA Earth Observing System
EPS-SG	European Polar System - Second Generation
ESPC	Environmental Satellite Processing Center
EUMETSAT	European Organisation for the Exploitation of Meteorological Satellites
FDF	Flight Dynamics Facility
FNMOC	Fleet Numerical Meteorology and Oceanography Center
FT	Field Terminal
GCOM	Global Change Observation Mission
GCOM-W	GCOM-Water
GPS	Global Positioning System
GSFC	Goddard Space Flight Center
HRD	High Rate Data
HSPD	Homeland Security Presidential Directive
JAXA	Japan Aerospace Exploration Agency
JPSS	Joint Polar Satellite System
КРР	Key Performance Parameter
KSAT	Kongsberg Satellite Services
LASP	Laboratory for Atmospheric and Space Physics
L1RD	Level 1 Requirements Document
LEO	Low-Earth Orbiting or Orbit
LORWG	Low Earth-Orbiting Requirements Working Group
LST	Local Solar Time

LTAN	Local Time Ascending Node
МСР	Management Control Plan
MGS	McMurdo Ground Station
MetOp	EUMETSAT Meteorological Operational satellites Memorandum of Under-
	standing
NAO	NOAA Administrative Order
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NAVOCEANO	Naval Oceanographic Office
NCC	Near Constant Contrast
NCEI	National Centers for Environmental Information
NESDIS	National Environmental Satellite, Data, and Information Service
NIST	National Institute of Standards and Technology
NJO	NOAA JPSS Office
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NOSC	NOAA Observing Systems Council
NPOESS	National Polar-orbiting Operational Environmental Satellite System
NPD	NASA Policy Directive
NPP	National Polar-orbiting Partnership
NPR	NASA Procedural Requirement
NSA	National Security Agency
NSF	National Science Foundation
NSOF	NOAA Satellite Operations Facility
NSPD	National Security Presidential Directive
NWS	National Weather Service
OMPS	Ozone Mapping and Profiler Suite
PID	Program Implementation Document

РМС	Program Management Council
POES	NOAA Polar-orbiting Operational Environmental Satellites Radiation Bud-
	get Instrument
РОР	Points of Presence
RBI	Radiation Budget Instrument
RDR	Raw Data Record
SDR	Sensor Data Record
SDS	Science Data Segment
SMD	Stored Mission Data
SN	NASA Space Network
S-NPP	Suomi NPP
SS	Space System
STAR	NOAAÕs Center for Satellite Applications and Research Temperature Data
	Record
TDRSS	Tracking and Data Relay Satellite System
USAF	United States Air Force
USMCC	United States Mission Control Center
VCDU	Virtual Channel Data Unit
VIIRS	Visible Infrared Imaging Radiometer Suite
WOTIS	Wallops Orbital Tracking Information System
WSF	Weather Satellite Follow-on
xDR	Data Record

						(Correlation	15				
		DEQ3	DEQ4	LEQ1	LEQ3	LEQ4	REQ1	REQ2	REQ3	REQ4	REQ5	REQ6
DEQ3	Corr. Coeff.	1.00	-0.42	0.36	-0.16	0.07	0.24	-0.27	-0.20	0.21	0.42	0.10
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
DEQ4	Corr. Coeff.	-0.42	1.00	0.06	0.67	-0.13	0.07	0.64	0.40	-0.40	-0.53	0.57
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00		0.15	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
LEQ1	Corr. Coeff.	0.36	0.06	1.00	0.08	0.13	0.10	0.14	0.58	-0.20	0.12	0.20
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.15		0.07	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
LEQ3	Corr. Coeff.	-0.16	0.67	0.08	1.00	-0.09	0.05	0.59	0.27	-0.51	-0.34	0.62
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.07		0.04	0.26	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
LEQ4	Corr. Coeff.	0.07	-0.13	0.13	-0.09	1.00	0.03	0.39	0.15	0.17	0.07	-0.08
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.12	0.00	0.00	0.04		0.54	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.07
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
REQ1	Corr. Coeff.	0.24	0.07	0.10	0.05	0.03	1.00	-0.21	-0.08	0.15	-0.04	0.041
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.26	0.54		0.00	0.06	0.00	0.37	0.33
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
REQ2	Corr. Coeff.	-0.27	0.64	0.14	0.59	0.39	-0.21	1.00	0.34	-0.49	-0.37	0.54
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
REQ3	Corr. Coeff.	-0.20	0.40	0.58	0.27	0.15	-0.08	0.34	1.00	-0.02	-0.21	0.23
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.059	0.00		0.569	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
REQ4	Corr. Coeff.	0.21	-0.40	-0.20	-0.51	0.17	0.15	-0.49	-0.02	1.00	0.41	-0.25
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.57		0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
REQ5	Corr. Coeff.	0.42	-0.53	0.12	-0.34	0.07	-0.04	-0.37	-0.21	0.41	1.00	0.11
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.37	0.00	0.00	0.00		0.01
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
REQ6	Corr. Coeff.	0.10	0.57	0.20	0.62	-0.08	0.04	0.54	0.23	-0.25	0.11	1.00
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572

Table B.2: JPSS Correlations Matrix



Figure B.1: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF OV-5b SMD Diagram View



Figure B.2: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF SV-4 Functional Flow SMD Diagram View

JPSS DoDAF Model Element Counts



Figure B.3: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF CONOP Element Counts for Stored Mission Data (SMD)



Figure B.4: JPSS DEQ Mean Histogram







Figure B.6: JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Mean



Figure B.7: JPSS LEQ Mean Histogram







Figure B.9: JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Mean



Figure B.10: JPSS REQ Mean Histogram







Figure B.12: JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Mean



Figure B.13: JPSS DEQ Median Histogram







Figure B.15: JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Median



Figure B.16: JPSS LEQ Median Histogram



Figure B.17: JPSS Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Median



Figure B.18: JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Median



Figure B.19: JPSS REQ Median Histogram







Figure B.21: JPSS Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Median

		Compo	nent Ma	atrix	
			Compo	onent	
	1	2	3	4	5
DEQ3	-0.36	0.72	0.33	0.12	-0.01
DEQ4	0.84	-0.13	0.20	-0.14	0.16
LEQ1	0.25	0.74	-0.08	-0.46	-0.30
LEQ3	0.82	0.04	0.29	0.19	0.07
LEQ4	0.03	0.36	-0.72	0.22	0.49
REQ1	-0.11	0.27	0.51	-0.31	0.69
REQ2	0.77	0.16	-0.38	0.40	0.11
REQ3	0.50	0.36	-0.35	-0.56	-0.13
REQ4	-0.63	0.21	-0.13	-0.01	0.31
REQ5	-0.45	0.54	0.09	0.44	-0.28
REQ6	0.68	0.36	0.34	0.37	-0.03
Extracti	on Meth	nod: Pri	ncipal C	Compone	ent Analysis.
	a. 5	i compo	nents ex	tracted.	

 Table B.3: JPSS Component Matrix

 Table B.4: JPSS Total Variance Explained Adjusted 3 Factor

		Tota	l Variance Explai	ned Adj	justed	
Comp	Initial	Eigenvalues		Rotati	on Sums of Squa	red Loadings
	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %	Total	% of Variance	Cumulative %
1	3.5	31.8	31.8	3.2	28.6	28.6
2	1.9	17.3	49.1	1.9	17.0	45.7
3	1.4	12.8	61.9	1.8	16.3	61.9
4	1.2	11.1	73.0			
5	1.1	9.5	82.5			
6	0.8	7.6	90.13			
7	0.4	3.8	93.9			
8	0.3	2.7	96.6			
9	0.2	1.7	98.3			
10	0.1	0.9	99.2			
11	0.1	0.8	100.0			
Extract	tion Met	thod: Principal C	Component Analy	sis.		
a. 3 cor	nponent	ts extracted.				

Con	ponent	t Matrix	xa.
	Comp	onent	
	1	2	3
DEQ3	-0.36	0.72	0.33
DEQ4	0.84	-0.13	0.20
LEQ1	0.25	0.74	-0.08
LEQ3	0.82	0.04	0.29
LEQ4	0.03	0.36	-0.72
REQ1	-0.11	0.27	0.51
REQ2	0.77	0.16	-0.38
REQ3	0.50	0.36	-0.35
REQ4	-0.63	0.21	-0.13
REQ5	-0.45	0.54	0.09
REQ6	0.68	0.36	0.34
a. 3 con	nponen	ts extra	cted.

Table B.5: JPSS Component Matrix Adjusted 3 Factor

Component Plot in Rotated Space



Figure B.22: Joint Polar Satellite System (JPSS) DoDAF QbD Three factor Loading Plot

	Parameter Estimates												
		Estimate	Std. Error	Wald	df	Sig.	95% Co Interval	nfidence					
							Lower Bound	Upper Bound					
Threshold	[DEQ_mean = 3.00]	55.98	6.72	69.45	1	0.00	42.81	69.14					
	[DEQ_mean = 4.00]	59.08	6.94	72.54	1	0.00	45.48	72.67					
	[DEQ_mean = 4.17]	61.48	7.05	76.13	1	0.00	47.67	75.29					
	[DEQ_mean = 4.33]	63.47	7.23	77.12	1	0.00	49.31	77.64					
	[DEQ_mean = 4.50]	64.26	7.33	76.96	1	0.00	49.90	78.61					
	[DEQ_mean = 4.83]	67.38	7.47	81.47	1	0.00	52.75	82.01					
	[DEQ_mean = 5.00]	77.64	7.82	98.50	1	0.00	62.30	92.97					
	[DEQ_mean = 5.17]	80.28	8.00	100.74	1	0.00	64.60	95.96					
	[DEQ_mean = 5.33] [DEQ_mean = 5.83]	80.95	8.05	101.24	1	0.00	65.18	96.72					
		87.46	8.33	110.23	1	0.00	71.14	103.79					
	[DEQ_mean = 6.00]	98.11	8.60	130.28	1	0.00	81.26	114.96					
	[DEQ_mean = 6.17]	100.67	9.23	118.98	1	0.00	82.58	118.76					
Location	DEQ3	3.17	0.31	106.18	1	0.00	2.57	3.77					
	DEQ4	2.75	0.22	150.32	1	0.00	2.31	3.19					
	LEQ1	0.08	0.14	0.34	1	0.56	-0.20	0.36					
	LEQ3	2.09	0.24	78.44	1	0.00	1.62	2.55					
	LEQ4	7.21	0.93	59.85	1	0.00	5.38	9.03					
	REQ1	0.95	0.59	2.55	1	0.11	-0.22	2.11					
	REQ2	-0.10	0.16	0.37		0.54	-0.42	0.22					
	REQ3	-0.08	0.11	0.54		0.46	-0.31	0.14					
	KEQ4	-1.26	0.14	83.41		0.00	-1.53	-0.99					
	KEQ5	0.27	0.13	4.15		0.04	0.01	0.53					
Link functi	KEQ6 on: Logit	0.79	0.23	11./3		0.00	0.34	1.25					
	on. Lugit.												

Table B.6: JPSS Parameter Estimates

			Mean Represented Value Point											
		3	4	4.17	4.33	4.5	4.83	5	5.17	5.33	5.83	6	6.17	7
DEQ3														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.14	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.18	0.55	0.00	0.00
	N	524	524	524	524	524	524	524	524	524	524	524	524	524
	S.D	0.34	0.06	0.04	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.24	0.02	0.01	0.35	0.48	0.00	0.00
Disagree	Mean	0.01	0.06	0.05	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.38	0.20	0.04	0.14	0.05	0.01	0.01
	N	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14	14
	S.D	0.03	0.14	0.13	0.03	0.00	0.01	0.23	0.12	0.02	0.09	0.19	0.04	0.03
SW.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.10	0.83	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	S.D													
Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.30	0.07	0.29	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.13	0.05	0.01	0.22	0.40	0.00	0.16
	N	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	31	31
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.25	0.09	0.03	0.20	0.40	0.00	0.37
Total	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.32	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.09
DEQ4														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.31	0.04	0.03	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.35	0.05	0.01	0.07	0.09	0.00	0.00
	N	150	150	150	150	150	150	150	150	150	150	150	150	150
	S.D	0.45	0.12	0.08	0.03	0.01	0.04	0.38	0.08	0.02	0.13	0.24	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.22	0.68	0.00	0.01
	N	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422
	S.D	0.23	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.38	0.44	0.01	0.10
Total	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.32	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.09
LEQ1														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.17	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.11	0.01	0.01	0.23	0.43	0.00	0.00
	N	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422	422
	S.D	0.37	0.07	0.04	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.26	0.04	0.00	0.38	0.48	0.01	0.01
Disagree	Mean	0.04	0.20	0.18	0.05	0.01	0.02	0.35	0.08	0.01	0.04	0.00	0.00	0.00

Table B.7: Probability for JPSS Response

			Mean Represented Value Point											
		3	4	4.17	4.33	4.5	4.83	5	5.17	5.33	5.83	6	6.17	7
	N	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
	S.D	0.05	0.22	0.20	0.05	0.00	0.02	0.41	0.12	0.02	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.00
SW.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.09	0.82	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	S.D													
Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.30	0.07	0.29	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.02	0.01	0.05	0.84	0.00	0.04
	N	143	143	143	143	143	143	143	143	143	143	143	143	143
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.14	0.06	0.01	0.13	0.34	0.00	0.18
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.32	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.09
LEQ3														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.80	0.07	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.06	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58	58
	S.D	0.35	0.17	0.07	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.19	0.05	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00
Disagree	Mean	0.07	0.26	0.19	0.05	0.00	0.03	0.23	0.06	0.02	0.06	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5
	S.D	0.06	0.23	0.17	0.03	0.01	0.03	0.36	0.13	0.04	0.13	0.00	0.00	0.00
SW. Disagree	Mean	0.00	0.06	0.13	0.06	0.01	0.03	0.11	0.13	0.04	0.37	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9	9
	S.D	0.02	0.09	0.20	0.10	0.02	0.05	0.12	0.11	0.03	0.32	0.00	0.00	0.00
Neutral	Mean	0.01	0.05	0.21	0.25	0.08	0.27	0.11	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	S.D													
Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.15	0.76	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.05	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.20	0.61	0.00	0.01
	N	493	493	493	493	493	493	493	493	493	493	493	493	493
	S.D	0.22	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.24	0.04	0.01	0.36	0.46	0.01	0.09
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572

 Table B.7: Probability for JPSS Response (continued)

						Me	an Rep	resented	Value Po	oint				
		3	4	4.17	4.33	4.5	4.83	5	5.17	5.33	5.83	6	6.17	7
	S.D	0.32	0.06	0.04	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.09
LEQ4														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.99	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	26	26	26	26	26	26	26	26	26	26	26	26	26
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.08	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.10	0.02	0.00	0.19	0.56	0.00	0.01
	N	546	546	546	546	546	546	546	546	546	546	546	546	546
	S.D	0.27	0.07	0.05	0.02	0.00	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.09
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.32	0.07	0.04	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.09
REQ1														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.00
	N	564	564	564	564	564	564	564	564	564	564	564	564	564
	S.D	0.32	0.06	0.04	0.02	0.00	0.02	0.24	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.01
S.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.37	0.01	0.61
	N	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.51	0.00	0.51
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.00
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.32	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.00	0.09
REQ2														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.79	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.06	0.07	0.00	0.05
	N	88	88	88	88	88	88	88	88	88	88	88	88	88
	S.D	0.40	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.03	0.00	0.21	0.24	0.00	0.23
Disagree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.07	0.76	0.09	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.07	0.07	0.09	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.00	0.00
SW. Disagree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.20	0.02	0.00	0.17	0.58	0.00	0.00
	N	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.41	0.03	0.00	0.10	0.39	0.00	0.00
Neutral	Mean	0.08	0.14	0.07	0.01	0.00	0.03	0.36	0.06	0.01	0.14	0.06	0.00	0.00
	N	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16	16

 Table B.7: Probability for JPSS Response (continued)

			Mean Represented Value Point											
		3	4	4.17	4.33	4.5	4.83	5	5.17	5.33	5.83	6	6.17	7
	S.D	0.14	0.22	0.11	0.02	0.00	0.04	0.39	0.09	0.02	0.30	0.23	0.01	0.00
SW.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.55	0.05	0.01	0.23	0.04	0.00	0.00
	N	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44
	S.D	0.06	0.08	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.05	0.38	0.04	0.02	0.35	0.16	0.00	0.00
Agree	Mean	0.05	0.09	0.06	0.02	0.00	0.02	0.20	0.08	0.02	0.34	0.08	0.00	0.00
	N	32	32	32	32	32	32	32	32	32	32	32	32	32
	S.D	0.12	0.17	0.13	0.05	0.01	0.04	0.29	0.11	0.03	0.38	0.22	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.01	0.00	0.19	0.75	0.00	0.00
	N	385	385	385	385	385	385	385	385	385	385	385	385	385
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.15	0.04	0.01	0.36	0.41	0.01	0.01
Total	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.09	0.02	0.01	0.18	0.53	0.01	0.01
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.32	0.07	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.01	0.09
REQ3														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.18	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.13	0.03	0.01	0.12	0.48	0.00	0.01
	N	397	397	397	397	397	397	397	397	397	397	397	397	397
	S.D	0.38	0.08	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.28	0.06	0.01	0.27	0.48	0.01	0.11
Disagree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.89	0.05	0.00	0.00
	N	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.03	0.02	0.90	0.05	0.00	0.00
	N	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.31	0.67	0.00	0.00
	N	170	170	170	170	170	170	170	170	170	170	170	170	170
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.43	0.45	0.00	0.00
Total	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.09	0.02	0.01	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.01
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.33	0.07	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.01	0.09
REQ4														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.80	0.00	0.00
	N	356	356	356	356	356	356	356	356	356	356	356	356	356
	S.D	0.26	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.24	0.05	0.01	0.04	0.39	0.01	0.01
S.Agree	Mean	0.22	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.11	0.03	0.01	0.46	0.08	0.00	0.02

 Table B.7: Probability for JPSS Response (continued)

			Mean Represented Value Point											
		3	4	4.17	4.33	4.5	4.83	5	5.17	5.33	5.83	6	6.17	7
	N	216	216	216	216	216	216	216	216	216	216	216	216	216
	S.D	0.40	0.10	0.07	0.03	0.01	0.03	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.43	0.20	0.00	0.15
Total	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.09	0.02	0.01	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.01
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.33	0.07	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.01	0.09
REQ5														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.13	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.07	0.02	0.01	0.18	0.57	0.00	0.01
	N	520	520	520	520	520	520	520	520	520	520	520	520	520
	S.D	0.34	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.22	0.04	0.01	0.35	0.48	0.01	0.10
Disagree	Mean	0.05	0.09	0.08	0.05	0.01	0.06	0.35	0.04	0.01	0.09	0.17	0.00	0.00
	N	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13	13
	S.D	0.12	0.17	0.14	0.08	0.02	0.08	0.39	0.08	0.02	0.12	0.32	0.00	0.00
SW. Disagree	Mean	0.01	0.06	0.14	0.07	0.02	0.07	0.57	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
	S.D	0.02	0.11	0.23	0.11	0.02	0.02	0.47	0.03	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00
Neutral	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.05	0.84	0.07	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	S.D	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
SW.Agree	Mean	0.02	0.10	0.09	0.02	0.00	0.02	0.21	0.02	0.00	0.12	0.38	0.00	0.00
	N	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	4
	S.D	0.05	0.20	0.18	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.42	0.032	0.00	0.13	0.44	0.00	0.00
Agree	Mean	0.09	0.16	0.10	0.04	0.01	0.03	0.22	0.10	0.03	0.16	0.08	0.00	0.00
	N	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
	S.D	0.15	0.22	0.15	0.07	0.01	0.06	0.29	0.13	0.04	0.22	0.24	0.00	0.00
S.Agree	Mean	0.06	0.11	0.05	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.24	0.04	0.01	0.1	0.24	0.00	0.00
	N	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20
	S.D	0.13	0.20	0.11	0.03	0.01	0.06	0.35	0.07	0.03	0.24	0.37	0.00	0.00
Total	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.09	0.02	0.01	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.01
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.32	0.06	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.01	0.09
REQ6														
S.Disagree	Mean	0.73	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.22	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60	60
	S.D	0.44	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.03	0.38	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00

 Table B.7: Probability for JPSS Response (continued)

			Mean Represented Value Point											
		3	4	4.17	4.33	4.5	4.83	5	5.17	5.33	5.83	6	6.17	7
S.Agree	Mean	0.06	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.07	0.02	0.01	0.20	0.59	0.00	0.01
	N	512	512	512	512	512	512	512	512	512	512	512	512	512
	S.D	0.22	0.07	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.22	0.05	0.01	0.36	0.47	0.01	0.10
Total	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.09	0.02	0.01	0.18	0.53	0.00	0.01
	N	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572	572
	S.D	0.33	0.07	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.25	0.05	0.01	0.34	0.48	0.01	0.09

 Table B.7: Probability for JPSS Response (continued)

Appendix C

Search and Rescue Case Study Additional Data

Abbreviations	Description
AAIB	Air Accident Investigation Board
ACC	Assistant Chief Constable
ACCOLC	Access Overload Control Scheme
АСРО	Association of Chief Police Officers
ACPO(TAM)	Association of Chief Police Officers (Terrorism and Allied Matters)
ACPO(S)	Association of Chief Police Officers in Scotland
AIO	Ambulance Incident Officer
AJP	Allied Joint Publication
APA	Association of Police Authorities
АРСМ	Aircraft Post Crash Management
ARAD	Agriculture and Rural Affairs Department (Welsh Assembly)
ARCC	Aeronautical Rescue Coordination Centre
ASA	Ambulance Services Association
ATCC	Air Traffic Control Centre
AWE	Atomic Weapons Establishment
Bde	Brigade
BCRC	British Cave Rescue Council
BCU	Basic Command Unit
BFL	British Fishery Limits
ВНА	Body Holding Area
BNFL	British Nuclear Fuels Ltd

Table C.1: SAR Abbrevations

BRT	Brigade Reinforcement Team
BSFO	British Sea Fishery Officer
ВТР	British Transport Police
CBRN	Chemical, Biological, Radiological and Nuclear
СВ	Casualty Bureau
CCA	Civil Contingencies Act
CCC	Civil Contingencies Committee
CCRF	Civil Contingency Reaction Force
CCS	Civil Contingencies Secretariat
CDM	Chief of Defence Materiel
Cdrs	Commanders
CDS	Chief of the Defence Staff
CEMG	Central Emergency Management Group
CEPU	Central Emergency Planning Unit
CESO	Chief Environment and Safety Officer
CFOA	Chief Fire Officers' Association
CINCAIR	Commander in Chief Air Command
CINCLAND	Commander in Chief Land Command
CINCFLEET	Commander in Chief Fleet Command
CMD	Conventional Munitions Disposal
CMG	Crisis Management Group
CNC	Civil Nuclear Constabulary
COBR	Cabinet Office Briefing Room
СОМАН	Control of Major Accident Hazards
CPRB	Counter Pollution and Response Branch
CPSO	Counter Pollution and Salvage Officer

СРТ	Contingency Planning Team
CRF	Commander Regional Forces
CSIA	Central Sponsor for Information Assurance (Cabinet Office)
CST	Command Support Team
СТ	Counter Terrorism
C&W	Cable and Wireless
C2	Command & Control
D & D	Distress and Diversion
DA	Devolved Administration
DAFNI	Department of Agriculture and Fisheries Northern Ireland
DARDNI	Department of Agriculture and Rural Development Northern Ireland
DBERR	Department of Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform
DCA	Defence Critical Asset
DCDS(C)	Deputy Chief of the Defence Staff (Commitments)
DCLG	Department for Communities and Local Government
DCMO	Defence Crisis Management Organisation
DCMS	Department of Culture, Media and Sport
D CT & UK Ops	Directorate Counter Terrorism and UK Operations
Defra	Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
DEPC	Department for Environment, Planning and Countryside (WAG)
DfES	Department for Education and Science
DFID	Department for International Development
DfT	Department for Transport
DoH	Department of Health
DSTL	Defence Science and technology Laboratory
DWP	Department for Work and Pensions

EA	Environment Agency
ECN	Emergency Communications Network
EM	Emergency Mortuary
EOD	Explosive Ordnance Disposal
EP	Emergency Planning
EPIC	Emergency Procedures Information Centre
ETV	Emergency Towing Vessel
FCO	Foreign and Commonwealth Office
FCP	Forward Control Point
FLC	Front Line Command
FOSNNI	Flag Officer Scotland Northern England and Northern Ireland
FRAGO	Fragmentary Order
FSA	Food Standards Agency
FTRS	Full Time Reserve Service
GCHQ	Government Communications Headquarters
GDS	Government Decontamination Service
GLA	Greater London Authority
GLO	Government Liaison Officer
GLT	Government Liaison Team
GMDSS	Global Maritime Distress and Safety System
GNN	Government News Network
GO	Government Office
GOBCP	Government Office Business Continuity Plan
GOR	Government Office for the Regions
GTPS	Government Telephone Preference Scheme
HAZMAT	Hazardous Material

HAC	Humanitarian Assistance Centre
HEMS	Helicopter Emergency Medical Service
HMG	Her Majesty's Government
HMIC	Her Majesty's Inspector of Constabulary
HMICS	HM Inspectorate of Constabulary for Scotland
HMRC	HM Revenue and Customs
НО	Home Office
HPA	Health Protection Agency
HPS	Health Protection Scotland
HQ	Headquarters
HQ AIR	Headquarters Air Command
HQ LAND	Headquarters Land Command
HSE	Health and Safety Executive
ICP	Incident Control Point
IED	Improvised Explosive Device
IEDD	Improvised Explosive Device Disposal
IEM	Integrated Emergency Management
IMO	International Maritime Organisation
ISDN	Integrated Services Digital Networkr
JESCC	Joint Emergency Services Control Centre
JCP	Joint Contingency Plan
JIG	Joint Intelligence Group
JLP	Joint Logistic Plan
JOA	Joint Operations Area
JOP	Joint Operational Plan
JPG	Joint Planning Guide

JRLO	Joint Regional Liaison Officer
JSCG	Joint Service Coordination Group
JSEODOC	Joint Service EOD Operations Centre
JTAC	Joint Terrorism Analysis Centre
LESLP	London Emergency Services Liaison Panel
LFEPA	London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority
LGD	Lead Government Department
LO	Liaison Officer
LRA	Local resilience Area
LRAG	Local Risk Assessment Guidance
LRF	Local Resilience Forum
MACA	Military Aid to the Civil Authorities
MACC	Military Aid to the Civil Community
МАСР	Military Aid to the Civil Power
MAGD	Military Aid to other Government Departments
MAIB	Marine Accident Investigation Board
MCA	Maritime and Coastguard Agency
МСТ	Maritime Counter Terrorism
MDAT	Major Disaster Advisory Team
MDP	Ministry of Defence Police
MEDEVAC	Medical Evacuation
MEF	Media Emergency Forum
MHD	Military Home Defence
MIO	Medical Incident Officer
MIRG	Maritime Incident Response Group
MOD	Ministry of Defence

MPS	Metropolitan Police Service
MRC	Mountain Rescue Council of England and Wales
MRCC	Maritime Rescue Coordination Centre
MRC	of S Mountain Rescue Committee of Scotland
MRSC	Maritime Rescue Sub-Centre
MRT	Mountain Rescue Team
MSMO	Military Support to the Mounting of Operations
MT	Military Task
NARO	Nuclear Accident Response Organisation
NAW	National Assembly for Wales
NBC	Naval Base Commander
NCIS	National Criminal Intelligence Service
NCS	National Crime Squad
NHS	National Health Service
NIAS	Northern Ireland Ambulance Service
NIFRS	Northern Ireland Fire and Rescue Service
NIO	Northern Ireland Office
NIOBR	Northern Ireland Briefing Room
NISCC	National Infrastructure Security Coordination Centre
NPIA	National Policing Improvement Agency
NRC	Naval Regional Commander
NRO	Naval regional Officer
NRPB	National Radiological Protection Board
NSID	National Security International Development.
NSID	(PSR) NSID Sub-committee Protective Security Resilience
NVASEC	National Voluntary Aid Society Emergency Committee

ODSec	Defence & Overseas Secretariat
OEI	Offshore Energy Installation
OFMDFM	Office of the First Minister and Deputy First Minister
OGD	Other Government Department(s)
OSCT	Office of Security and Counter Terrorism
РСВ	Police Casualty Bureau
РСТ	Primary Care Trust
PJHQ	Permanent Joint Headquarters
PMLO	Police Military Liaison Officer
PNICC	Police National Information and Coordination Centre
POL	Petrol, Oil and Lubricants
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
PSNI	Police Service of Northern Ireland
PSTN	Public Switch Telephone Network
PSU	Police Support Unit
RAFRLO	RAF Regional Liaison Officer
RAMP	Reception Arrangements for Military Patients
RAYNET	Radio Amateurs Emergency Network
RCC	Rescue Coordination Centre
RCCC	Regional Civil Contingencies Committee
RCDM	Royal Centre for Defence Medicine
RCU	Regional Coordination Unit
RDS	Radio Data System
REPPIR	Radiation Emergency Preparedness and Public Information Regulations
RMEF	Regional Media Emergency Forum
RIMNET	Radioactive Incident Monitoring Network

RNC	Regional Nominated Coordinator
RNLI	Royal National Lifeboat Institution
RNRLO	Royal Navy Regional Liaison Officer
ROE	Rules of Engagement
RRF	Regional Resilience Forum
RRT	Regional Resilience Team
SACP	Scene Access Control Point
SAG	Safety Advisory Group
SAR	Search and Rescue
SARDA	Search and Rescue Dog Association
SCG	Strategic-Coordinating Group
SE	Scottish Executive
SECC	Scottish Emergency Coordinating Committee
SEDD	Scottish Executive Development Department
SEEAT	Scottish Executive Emergency Action Team
SEETLLD	Scottish Executive, Enterprise, Transport and Lifelong Learning Depart-
	ment
SEER	Scottish Executive Emergency Room
SEERAD	Scottish Executive Environment and Rural Affairs Department
SEFCSD	Scottish Executive Finance and Central Services Department
SEJD	Scottish Executive Justice Department
SEPA	Scottish Environment Protection Agency
SFPA	Scottish Fishery Protection Agency
SHA	Strategic Health Authority
SIO	Senior Investigating Officer
SJC(UK)	Standing Joint Commander (UK)

SME	Subject Matter Expert
SOCA	Serious Organised Crime Agency
SOSREP	Secretary of State's Representative
SPICC	Scottish Police Information and Coordination Centre
SRR	Search and Rescue Region
STAC	Science Technical Advisory Cell
SUA	Suppression of Unlawful Acts
TLACP	Training and Logistics Assistance to the Civil Police
UKAEA	United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority
UKAEAC	United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority Constabulary
UKFSSART	United Kingdom Fire Service Search and Rescue Team
UNCLOS	United Nations Convention on Law of the Sea
US&R	Urban Search and Rescue
USAF	United States Air Force
VAS	Voluntary Aid Societies
VSCPF	Voluntary Sector Civil Protection Forum
WAG	Welsh Assembly Government
WBRG	Welsh Borders Resilience Group
WCCC	Wales Civil Contingencies Committee
WMEF	Welsh Media Emergency Forum
WRAG	Wales Risk Assessment Group
WRF	Wales Resilience Forum
WRVS	Women's Royal Voluntary Service



Figure C.1: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF OV-5b Sample Diagram View

Correlations									
			DEQ1	DEQ3	DEQ5	LEQ1	REQ5		
Spearman's rho	DEQ1	Correlation Coefficient	1.00	0.06	0.78	0.20	0.22		
		Sig. (2-tailed)		0.13	0.00	0.00	0.00		
		N	590	590	590	590	590		
	DEQ3	Correlation Coefficient	0.06	1.00	0.02	0.23	0.12		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.13		0.64	0.00	0.00		
		N	590	590	590	590	590		
	DEQ5	Correlation Coefficient	0.78	0.02	1.00	0.12	0.16		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.64		0.00	0.00		
		N	590	590	590	590	590		
	LEQ1	Correlation Coefficient	0.20	0.23	0.12	1.00	0.70		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.00		0.00		
		N	590	590	590	590	590		
	REQ5	Correlation Coefficient	0.22	0.12	0.16	0.69	1.00		
		Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00			
		N	590	590	590	590	590		

Table C.2: SAR Correlations Matrix



Figure C.2: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF SV-4 Sample Diagram View



Figure C.3: Search and Rescue (SAR) DoDAF CONOP Element Counts for Command and Control Signal



Figure C.4: SAR DEQ Mean Histogram






Figure C.6: SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Mean



Figure C.7: SAR LEQ Mean Histogram







Figure C.9: SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Mean



Figure C.10: SAR REQ Mean Histogram







Figure C.12: SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Mean



Figure C.13: SAR DEQ Median Histogram







Figure C.15: SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot DEQ Median



Figure C.16: SAR LEQ Median Histogram







Figure C.18: SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot LEQ Median



Figure C.19: SAR REQ Median Histogram







Figure C.21: SAR Detrended Normal Q-Q Plot REQ Median

Parameter Estimates													
		Estimate	Std. Error	Wald	df	Sig.	95% Confidence Interval						
							Lower Bound	Upper Bound					
Threshold	[DEQ_Mean = 1.00]	9.11	0.78	136.60	1	0.00	7.58	10.63					
	[DEQ_Mean = 2.00]	10.17	0.82	154.92	1	0.00	8.57	11.77					
	[DEQ_Mean = 2.67]	10.31	0.82	157.88	1	0.00	8.70	11.91					
	[DEQ_Mean = 3.00]	10.54	0.83	162.97	1	0.00	8.92	12.15					
	[DEQ_Mean = 3.33]	12.60	0.91	191.67	1	0.00	10.82	14.39					
	[DEQ_Mean = 3.67]	12.86	0.93	191.67	1	0.00	11.04	14.68					
	[DEQ_Mean = 3.83]	13.44	0.98	187.59	1	0.00	11.52	15.37					
	[DEQ_Mean = 4.00]	13.51	0.99	186.93	1	0.00	11.57	15.44					
	[DEQ_Mean = 4.33]	14.45	1.09	174.41	1	0.00	12.30	16.59					
	[DEQ_Mean = 4.50]	15.16	1.16	171.10	1	0.00	12.89	17.44					
	[DEQ_Mean = 4.67]	15.57	1.19	172.44	1	0.00	13.25	17.90					
	[DEQ_Mean = 4.83]	15.80	1.20	173.99	1	0.00	13.45	18.15					
	[DEQ_Mean = 5.00]	16.00	1.21	175.71	1	0.00	13.63	18.36					
	[DEQ_Mean = 5.33]	16.61	1.23	182.75	1	0.00	14.20	19.01					
	[DEQ_Mean = 5.67]	18.20	1.26	207.02	1	0.00	15.65	20.59					
	[DEQ_Mean = 5.83]	18.27	1.26	209.91	1	0.00	15.80	20.74					
	[DEQ_Mean = 6.00]	25.28	1.60	248.88	1	0.00	22.14	28.42					
	[DEQ_Mean = 6.33]	35.25	15.95	4.89	1	0.03	4.00	66.52					
Location	DEQ1	1.01	0.09	118.12	1	0.00	0.83	1.20					
	DEQ3	3.66	0.50	53.87	1	0.00	2.68	4.64					
	DEQ5	1.32	0.10	175.68	1	0.00	1.12	1.51					
	LEQ1	0.24	0.06	14.32	1	0.00	0.11	0.36					
	REQ5	-0.29	0.05	28.03	1	0.00	-0.40	-0.18					
		Link funct	ion: Log	it.									

 Table C.3: SAR Parameter Estimates

Table C.4: Probability for SAR Response

		Mean Represented Value Point																		
		1	2	2.67	3	3.33	3.67	3.83	4	4.33	4.5	4.67	4.83	5	5.33	5.67	5.83	6	6.33	7
DEQ1																				
S. Disagree	Mean	0.76	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.11	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92	92
	S.D.	0.36	0.05	0.01	0.02	0.19	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
S. Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.13	0.02	0.73	0.02	0.00
	N	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498	498
	S.D.	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.09	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.07	0.01	0.23	0.10	0.06
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.11	0.02	0.62	0.01	0.00
	N	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590
	S.D.	0.31	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.34	0.09	0.06
DEQ3																				
S. Disagree	Mean	0.13	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.11	0.02	0.62	0.00	0.00
	N	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578	578
	S.D.	0.31	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.34	0.00	0.00
SW. Disagree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.37	0.60	0.00
	N	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.04	0.01	0.29	0.34	0.00
S. Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.00
	N	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.11	0.02	0.62	0.01	0.00
	N CD	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590
	3.D.	0.31	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.11	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.34	0.09	0.00
DEOF																				
S. Disagree	Mean	0.73	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.11	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00
5. Disagree	N	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95	95
	SD.	0.40	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.19	0.02	0.05	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.13	0.00	0.00
SW. Disagree	Mean	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.09	0.03	0.09	0.01	0.21	0.18	0.09	0.04	0.03	0.08	0.09	0.00	0.03	0.00	0.00
	N	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2
	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
SW. Agree	Mean	0.06	0.09	0.02	0.03	0.28	0.02	0.04	0.00	0.05	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.06	0.14	0.01	0.09	0.00	0.00
	N	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34	34
	S.D.	0.05	0.08	0.01	0.02	0.22	0.02	0.03	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.07	0.17	0.01	0.11	0.00	0.00
Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.08	0.31	0.04	0.45	0.00	0.00
	N	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8	8
	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.11	0.00	0.00
S. Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.12	0.02	0.79	0.02	0.00
	N	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451	451
	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.14	0.10	0.07
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.11	0.011	0.62	0.01	0.00
	N	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590
	S.D.	0.31	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.34	0.09	0.06
LEQ1																				
S. Disagree	Mean	0.15	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.10	0.02	0.60	0.00	0.00
	N	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475	475
	S.D.	0.34	0.04	0.01	0.01	0.13	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.35	0.03	0.00
SW. Disagree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.33	0.64	0.00
	N	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6	6
Agrees	S.D. Moon	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.27	0.33	0.00
Agree	N	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12	12
	SD.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.08	0.02	0.04	0.00	0.06	0.04	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.06	0.13	0.01	0.35	0.22	0.00
S. Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.14	0.02	0.73	0.01	0.02
	N	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96	96
	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.08	0.01	0.21	0.08	0.14
Total	Mean	0.12	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.11	0.02	0.62	0.01	0.00
	N	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590	590
	S.D.	0.31	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.34	0.09	0.06
REQ5																				
S. Disagree	Mean	0.16	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.08	0.01	0.62	0.01	0.00
	N	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453	453
	S.D.	0.35	0.035	0.01	0.01	0.13	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.37	0.06	0.05
SW. Disagree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.17	0.03	0.74	0.00	0.00
	N	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
SW. Agree	Mean	0.14	0.18	0.03	0.05	0.43	0.03	0.05	0.00	0.04	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	N	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
. .	S.D.	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.61	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.51	0.00	0.00
Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.06	0.28	0.04	0.54	0.00	0.00
	N CD	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
S 1	5.D. Marr	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.10	0.02	0.61	0.04	0.01
5. Agree	Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.19	0.03	0.61	125	0.01
	N CD	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125	125
Tatal	S.D. Mean	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.10	0.01	0.22	0.13	0.09
10121	N	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500	500
	SD	0.31	0.03	0.01	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.34	0.09	0.06
1	0.0.	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.12	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.05	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.04	0.07	0.00

Glossary

- Acquiescence Bias a tendency to agree rather than disagree, in human factor decision making [242] *on page(s):* 47
- Architecture Framework defines the structure and minimal required content of architecture descriptions as well as the range of activities that go into creating and using an architecture description. Architectural frameworks incorporate a broad consensus on best practices for system modeling [243] on page(s): 20
- **Bus** architecture is one where the modules are not connected to one another, but rather all independently to a single module [171] *on page(s):* 137, 181
- **Data-Centric** refers to an architecture where data is the primary and permanent asset, and applications come and go [244] [72] *on page(s)*: 36
- **diagrammatics** A plan, sketch, drawing, or outline designed to demonstrate or explain how something works or to clarify the relationship between the parts of a whole [245] *on page(s):* 161, 201
- **MBE** is a software and systems development paradigm that emphasizes the application of visual modeling principles and best practices throughout the System Development Life Cycle [246] *on page(s):* ii
- **MBSE** is the formalized application of modeling to support system requirements, design, analysis, verification and validation activities beginning in the conceptual design phase and continuing throughout development and later life cycle phases [246] *on page(s):* ii
- **mission thread** A sequence of end-to-end actions and events that are presented as a series of stages and that are used to execute one or more capabilities that are supported by the architectural design [158] *on page(s):* 71

- **Model** Model is a approximation representation, or idealization of selected aspects of the structure, behavior, operation or other characteristics of a real-world process, concept, or system [247] *on page(s):* 8
- **Multicollinerarity** The term occurs when high intercorrelations among two or more independent variables in a regression model [128] *on page(s):* 61
- **Multiple-Domain Matrix** A multiple-domain matrix allows whole systems consisting of multiple domains, each having multiple elements, connected by various relationship types [228] *on page(s)*: 136, 180
- **Psychometric** refers to the study of physiological analysis associated with human factor decision trait and understanding mental measurements [248] [249] *on page(s)*: 47
- **Quality Management** The term quality management is conceptually established as practices, principles and techniques facilitating customer focus, continuous improvement and teamwork and product quality [250] [251] *on page(s):* 48
- **Realized** The term means to become fully aware of or understand clearly what the system is to perform in the model [73] *on page(s)*: 112, 155
- **SysML** is a general-purpose architecture modeling language for Systems Engineering applications [73] *on page(s):* 1
- **System** A system can for example include hardware, software, personnel and activities [252] *on* page(s): ii
- **System Architecture or System Model** A system architecture is the composite of the design architectures for products and their lifecycle processes. A design system Model is defined as an arrangement of design elements that provides the design solution for a product or a life cycle process [253] *on page(s):* 13

- **System of Systems** is viewed as a complex large-scale system which entails interdisciplinary problems [254] *on page(s):* 19
- **Systems Engineering** Systems engineering is defined by the International Council on Systems Engineering (INCOSE) as an interdisciplinary approach and means to enable the realization of successful systems. Systems engineering is both a technical and a management process. [255] *on page(s):* 11
- **View** A view is a representation of a whole system from the perspective of related concerns [243] *on page(s):* 13
- Viewpoint template, pattern or specification for constructing a view [243] on page(s): 33

Acronyms

- **AIAA** American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics on page(s): 4
- **API** Application Programming Interface on page(s): 50, 51, 84, 86
- **BDD** Block Definition Diagram *on page(s)*: 16, 103, 146
- **BPMN** Business Process Modeling Notation on page(s): 81
- **C4ISR** Command, Control, Communications, Computers, Intelligence, Surveillance, and Reconnaissance *on page(s):* 34
- **CDR** Critical Design Review on page(s): 80
- CONOP Concept of Operations *on page(s):* iii, x, xi, 6, 24, 26, 27, 33, 36, 38, 39, 43–47, 49–51, 57, 69–73, 75, 77, 78, 80, 81, 84, 86, 94, 95, 97, 98, 103–106, 108–113, 117, 121, 122, 124–127, 129, 130, 133–141, 145, 149–156, 160, 161, 164, 166, 168–171, 173–194, 196, 211, 239
- **DAS** Defense Acquisition System *on page(s)*: 35
- **DoD** Department of Defense *on page(s)*: 5, 6, 21, 28, 34–36, 195, 197
- DoDAF Department of Defense Architecture Framework *on page(s):* ii, iii, x, xi, 1–8, 12–15, 17–21, 24–27, 33–36, 38, 39, 42–51, 53, 55–57, 66, 69–73, 75–79, 81–84, 86, 94, 95, 97–106, 108–113, 117, 118, 121, 122, 124–127, 129–156, 160, 161, 163–166, 168–171, 173–194, 196, 197, 199, 200, 202, 203, 209–211, 219, 237–239
- **DQAP** DoDAF Quality Analysis Profile on page(s): 44, 45, 53, 55, 70, 81, 82, 92
- DQCF DoDAF Quality Conceptual Framework *on page(s):* iii, x, 25, 28, 32, 39–43, 49–53, 70, 76, 81, 82, 86, 87, 93–95, 97, 98, 108, 109, 115, 117, 121, 133, 134, 136, 140, 141, 151, 154, 157, 160, 165, 178, 180, 184–187, 189, 191, 195–198

DQV DoDAF Quality View on page(s): 52

DSL Domain Specific Language on page(s): 71, 82

DSM Design Structure Matrix on page(s): 75–77, 198

EPL Extensible Programming Languages on page(s): 84

GAO Government Accountability Office on page(s): 5, 9, 133, 189

GBSD Ground Based Strategic Deterrent on page(s): 195

GPS Global Positioning System on page(s): 108

GUID Globally Unique Identifier on page(s): 93, 111, 154

HCR High-Performance Computing Resources on page(s): 198

IBD Internal Block Diagram on page(s): 16, 103, 146

IDE Integrated Development Environment on page(s): 34, 51

IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers on page(s): 4

INCOSE International Council on Systems Engineering on page(s): 4, 48, 72, 80, 250

JCIDS Joint Capabilities Integration and Development System on page(s): 35, 49

JPSS Joint Polar Satellite System *on page(s):* iii, x, xi, 50, 98–118, 120–129, 131–140, 177, 186–190, 194, 196, 209–217, 219

KMO Kaizer-Meyer-Olkin *on page(s):* 54, 58, 63, 64, 113, 121, 156, 166, 187, 192

KPP Key Performance Parameters on page(s): 106, 107

MB Model-Based on page(s): 5

MBSE Model-Based Systems Engineering *on page(s):* ii, iii, 1–5, 7–12, 14–17, 19–22, 24–27, 29, 30, 32, 33, 35, 42, 44, 45, 48, 50, 51, 70, 82, 84–86, 104, 106, 186, 195, 197, 198

MDL Minimum Description Length on page(s): 75–77, 139, 183, 186, 190, 194

MDS Modularity Design Structure on page(s): 77, 78, 134, 136–139, 178, 180–183, 190, 194

MLR Multinomial Logistic Regression on page(s): 66, 127, 170

NASA National Aeronautics and Space Administration *on page(s):* iii, 15, 19, 24, 29, 48, 98, 186, 198

NDIA National Defense Industrial Association on page(s): 79, 80, 197

NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration on page(s): iii, 98, 107, 186

NPOESS National Polar-orbiting Operational Environmental Satellite System *on page(s)*: 98

- **OLR** Ordinal Logistic Regression *on page(s):* 57, 62, 64, 66–68, 127–130, 133, 135, 170, 172–175, 177, 179, 188, 189, 193, 196
- **OMG** Object Management Group on page(s): 35, 71, 82, 84
- **PCA** Principal Components Analysis *on page(s):* 57, 63, 64, 66, 114, 116–119, 121, 135, 159–161, 165, 166, 179, 188, 192
- **PDR** Preliminary Design Review on page(s): 80
- **PPBE** Planning, Programming, Budgeting, and Execution on page(s): 35
- **QbD** Quality By Design *on page(s):* ii, iii, x, xi, 2, 24, 27, 39, 43, 44, 51, 56, 70, 73, 95, 97, 108, 109, 140, 151, 152, 184–186, 219
- QCA Quality Control Attribute on page(s): 44, 45, 51, 53, 73

- **QCC** Quality Characteristic Categories *on page(s):* 46, 47, 52, 53, 57, 71, 73, 75, 81, 83, 94, 108, 109, 112, 114, 117, 119, 120, 124, 130–136, 151, 156, 157, 160, 168, 175, 178–180, 185–189, 191, 197, 199
- **QTPP** Quality Target Product Profile on page(s): 44
- **RKV** Redesigned Kill Vehicle on page(s): 33
- S-NPP Suomi National Polar-orbiting Partnership on page(s): 98
- **SAR** Search and Rescue *on page(s):* iii, x–xii, 50, 130, 141–164, 166–184, 191–194, 196, 237–245
- **SFR** System Functional Review on page(s): 80
- SMD Stored Mission Data *on page(s):* iii, xi, 50, 98, 101, 103–105, 108, 110, 112, 113, 118, 125, 133, 135, 137, 140, 181, 186, 187, 189–191, 211
- **SME** Subject Matter Expert *on page(s)*: 15, 18, 47, 49, 53, 72, 83, 84
- **SoS** System of Systems on page(s): iii, 12, 19, 20
- **SPSS** Statistical Package for the Social Sciences on page(s): 94, 127, 170
- **SRR** System Requirements Review on page(s): 80
- SysML Systems Modeling Language on page(s): iii, x, 13, 16, 19, 30, 32–34, 36, 44–46, 49, 51, 56, 57, 70, 71, 81, 82, 98, 106, 117, 119, 124, 131, 133, 134, 141, 161–163, 168, 169, 175–177, 185, 189, 193, 196, 200–202
- **TOGAF** The Open Group Architecture Framework on page(s): 81
- **TPM** Technical Performance Measurements on page(s): 106

- UML Unified Modeling Language on page(s): iii, 1, 13, 30, 32–34, 36, 44–46, 49, 51, 56, 57, 70, 71, 81–84, 98, 106, 119, 124, 131, 133, 134, 141, 161–163, 168, 176, 177, 185, 189, 193, 196, 200–202
- **UPDM** Unified Profile for DoDAF and MoDAF on page(s): 81
- **UUID** Universally Unique Identifier on page(s): 93, 111, 154
- **VIF** Variance Inflation Factors *on page(s):* 61, 62, 64, 116–119, 121, 135, 159–166, 178, 179, 192
- **XML** Extensible Markup Language *on page(s)*: 71, 86

Bibliography

- J. M. Juran, Juran on Quality by Design: The New Steps for Planning Quality into Goods and Services. New York, NY, USA: Free Press, 1992.
- J. M. Couretas, "Cyber systems design," in *An Introduction to Cyber Analysis and Targeting*.
 Springer International Publishing, Jan. 2022, pp. 173–195, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-88559-5_8.
- [3] S. Kaisler and F. Armour, "15 years of enterprise architecting at HICSS: revisiting the critical problems," in *Proceedings of the 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 2017, doi: 10.24251/hicss.2017.585.
- [4] *The DoDAF architecture framework version* 2.02, U.S. Department of Defense Std., Aug.
 2010, url: https://dodcio.defense.gov/Library/DoD-Architecture-Framework/.
- [5] A. R. Miller and D. R. Herber, "Digital engineering transformation of requirements analysis within model-based systems engineering," in *World Conference of the Society for Industrial and Systems Engineering*, Sep. 2021.
- [6] A. Madni and S. Purohit, "Economic analysis of model-based systems engineering," Systems, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 12, Feb. 2019, doi: 10.3390/systems7010012.
- [7] P. Starnell, Defense acquisition system. An executive summary of DODD 5000.1, DODI 5000.2, and DOD manual 5000.2., The Analytic Science Corporation (TASC) Std., Jul. 1991, doi: 10.21236/ada338554.
- [8] A. Kossiakoff, S. M. Biemer, S. J. Seymour, and D. A. Flanigan, *Systems Engineering: Principles and Practice*, 3rd ed. Wiley, 2020.
- [9] (2020, Aug.) What is principal component analysis (PCA) and how it is used? Sartorius. url: https://www.sartorius.com/en/knowledge/science-snippets/what-is-principalcomponent-analysis-pca-and-how-it-is-used-507186.

- [10] "Functional completeness and stability," in *Practical Software and Systems Measurement Continuous Iterative Development Measurement Specifications*, R. Scheurer and D. Miller, Eds. PSM/NDIA/INCOSE, to be published.
- [11] UML Profiling and DSL, MagicDraw, 2011, url: https://www.magicdraw.com/files/ manuals/UML.
- [12] E. Tabane, N. Lindelani, and P. Mvelase, "Classroom of the future realization in the industrialization era: towards 4.0 learning," in *Smart Education and e-Learning 2021*, V. L. Uskov, R. J. Howlett, and L. C. Jain, Eds. Springer Singapore, 2021, pp. 263–272, doi: 10.1007/978-981-16-2834-4_22.
- [13] D. Denyer and D. Tranfield, "Using qualitative research synthesis to build an actionable knowledge base," *Management Decision*, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 213–227, Feb. 2006, doi: 10. 1108/00251740610650201.
- [14] M. Baczkowicz and A. Gwiazda, "Optimizing parameters of a technical system using quality function deployment method," *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, vol. 95, no. 1, p. 012119, Nov. 2015, doi: 10.1088/1757-899x/95/1/012119.
- [15] C. A. Bjørshol, E. Søreide, T. H. Torsteinbø, K. Lexow, O. B. Nilsen, and K. Sunde, "Quality of chest compressions during 10min of single-rescuer basic life support with different compression: ventilation ratios in a manikin model," *Resuscitation*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 95–100, Apr. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2007.11.009.
- J. Navas, S. Bonnet, J.-L. Voirin, and G. Journaux, "Models as enablers of agility in complex systems engineering," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 339–355, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2020.00726.x.
- [17] P. Brouse and C. P. Jacobson, "11.3.3 behavioral models and improved quality in architecture-centric engineering," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 1373–1383, Jun. 2011, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2011.tb01291.x.

- [18] P. D. Shah, "Modular open systems approach (MOSA) and its impact on the US defense acquisition methods and programs," Ph.D. dissertation, The George Washington University, Jan. 2021, url: https://scholarspace.library.gwu.edu/etd/9w032376t.
- [19] D. Snyder. (2021, Jan.) Federal contract spending trends: five years in five charts. Bloomberg Government. url: https://about.bgov.com/news/federal-contract-spending-fivetrends-in-five-charts-2/.
- [20] M. J. Vinarcik, "Economical modeling: minimizing effort, maximizing modeling return on investment (ROI)," in *No Magic World Symposium 2016*, 2016, url: https://vimeopro.com/ nomagic/no-magic-world-symposium-2016-presentations/video/170588353.
- [21] IEEE, 15288-2015 ISO/IEC/IEEE International Standard Systems and software engineering – System life cycle processes, IEEE Std., 2015, doi: 10.1109/ieeestd.2015.7106435.
- [22] S. W. Mitchell, "Transitioning the SWFTS program combat system product family from traditional document-centric to model-based systems engineering," *Systems Engineering*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 313–329, Jun. 2014, doi: 10.1002/sys.21271.
- [23] D. D. Walden, G. J. Roedler, K. J. Forsberg, R. D. Hamelin, and T. M. Shortell, Eds., INCOSE Systems Engineering Handbook: A Guide for System Life Cycle Processes and Activities. John Wiley & Sons, 2015.
- [24] E. R. Carroll and R. J. Malins, "Systematic literature review: how is model-based systems engineering justified?." Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, NM, USA, Tech. Rep. SAND2016-2607, Mar. 2016, doi: 10.2172/1561164.
- [25] D. S. Alberts, J. J. Garstka, R. E. Hayes, and D. A. Signori, "Understanding information age warfare," Booz Allen & Hamilton, Tech. Rep., 2001.
- [26] C. Kobryn and C. Sibbald, "1.3.1 modeling DoDAF compliant architectures the telelogic approach for complying with the DoD architectural framework," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 95–125, Jul. 2005, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2005.tb00656.x.

- [27] L. K. Griffin, "Analysis and comparison of DoDAF and Zachman frameworks for use as the architecture for the United States coast guard's patrol costal (WPC)," Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Sep. 2005, url: https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA439312.
- [28] R. Valerdi, M. Dabkowski, and I. Dixit, "Reliability improvement of major defense acquisition program cost estimates-mapping DoDAF to COSYSMO," *Systems Engineering*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 530–547, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1002/sys.21327.
- [29] M. Hue, "An analysis of SE and MBSE concepts to support defence capability acquisition,"
 DSTO Defence Science and Technology Organisation, Tech. Rep. DSTO-TR-3039, Sep. 2014.
- [30] A. Monzón, J. L. Fernández, and J. A. de la Puente, "Application of deadlock risk evaluation of architectural models," *Software: Practice and Experience*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 1137–1163, Sep. 2012, doi: 10.1002/spe.1118.
- [31] P. Noxolo, "Subjectivity," in *International Encyclopedia of Geography*. John Wiley & Sons, Mar. 2017, pp. 1–5, doi: 10.1002/9781118786352.wbieg0621.
- [32] I. Gräßler, C. Oleff, and J. Hentze, "Role model of model-based systems engineering application," in DS 94: Proceedings of the Design Society: 22nd International Conference on Engineering Design (ICED19), vol. 1097, no. 1, Jul. 2021, pp. 1265–1274, doi: 10.1017/dsi.2019.132.
- [33] D. S. Gelosh, M. Heisey, K. Nidiffer, J. R. Snoderly, and R. Beasley, "Version 1.0 of the new INCOSE competency framework," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 1778–1786, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2018.00583.x.
- [34] M. E. Derro and C. R. Williams, "Behavioral competencies of highly regarded systems engineers at NASA," in 2009 IEEE Aerospace conference. IEEE, Mar. 2009, doi: 10. 1109/aero.2009.4839712.

- [35] L. S. Metzger and L. R. Bender, "MITRE systems engineering competency model," Sep. 2017, version 1.13E.
- [36] D. W. Hubbard and R. Seiersen, *How to Measure Anything in Cybersecurity Risk*. John Wiley & Sons, 2016.
- [37] D. Kahneman and A. Tversky, "Subjective probability: A judgment of representativeness," *Cognitive Psychology*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 430–454, Jul. 1972, doi: 10.1016/0010-0285(72) 90016-3.
- [38] R. E. Giachetti, "Making the case for quality metrics for conceptual models in systems engineering," in 2017 12th System of Systems Engineering Conference (SoSE). IEEE, Jun. 2017, pp. 1–5, doi: 10.1109/sysose.2017.7994940.
- [39] H.-W. Jung, S.-G. Kim, and C.-S. Chung, "Measuring software product quality: a survey of ISO/IEC 9126," *IEEE Software*, vol. 21, no. 05, pp. 88–92, Sep. 2004, doi: 10.1109/ms. 2004.1331309.
- [40] ISO/IEC, ISO/IEC 9126. Software engineering product quality, ISO/IEC Std., 2001.
- [41] ISO/IEC 25010:2011, systems and software engineering systems and software quality requirements and evaluation (SQuaRE) system and software quality models, ISO/IEC Std., Mar. 2011.
- [42] M. Sarfaraz, B. J. Sauser, and E. W. Bauer, "Using system architecture maturity artifacts to improve technology maturity assessment," *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 8, pp. 165–170, 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2012.01.034.
- [43] E. Y. Nakagawa, M. Gonçalves, M. Guessi, L. B. R. Oliveira, and F. Oquendo, "The state of the art and future perspectives in systems of systems software architectures," in *Proceedings* of the First International Workshop on Software Engineering for Systems-of-Systems, 2013, pp. 13–20, doi: 10.1145/2489850.2489853.

- [44] N. Chiriac, K. Hölttä-Otto, D. Lysy, and E. S. Suh, "Level of modularity and different levels of system granularity," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 133, no. 10, Oct. 2011, doi: 10.1115/1.4005069.
- [45] T. Edgington, B. Choi, K. Henson, T. S. Raghu, and A. Vinze, "Adopting ontology to facilitate knowledge sharing," *Communications of the ACM*, vol. 47, no. 11, pp. 85–90, Nov. 2004, doi: 10.1145/1029496.1029499.
- [46] J. Bosch and L. Lundberg, "Software architecture engineering quality attributes," *Journal of Systems and Software*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 183–186, Jun. 2003, doi: 10.1016/s0164-1212(02)00075-4.
- [47] A. Engel and T. R. Browning, "2.1.2 designing systems for adaptability by means of architecture options," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 237–258, Jul. 2006, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2006.tb02740.x.
- [48] E. S. Suh and G. Kott, "Reconfigurable parallel printing system design for field performance and service improvement," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 132, no. 3, Mar. 2010, doi: 10.1115/1.4000961.
- [49] L. Bass, P. Clements, and R. Kazman, *Software Architecture in Practice*. Addison-Wesley Professional, 2003.
- [50] D. L. Parnas, "On the criteria to be used in decomposing systems into modules," *Communications of the ACM*, vol. 15, no. 12, pp. 1053–1058, Dec. 1972, doi: 10.1145/361598. 361623.
- [51] T. Nelson, J. Borky, and R. Sega, "System of systems quality attribute balancing," in 2019 IEEE Aerospace Conference. IEEE, Mar. 2019, pp. 1–10, doi: 10.1109/aero.2019.8742110.
- [52] F. Buschmann, D. Ameller, C. P. Ayala, J. Cabot, and X. Franch, "Architecture quality revisited," *IEEE Software*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 22–24, Jul. 2012, doi: 10.1109/ms.2012.77.

- [53] S. L. Cornford, D. Kotsifakis, S. Beckman, M. S. Feather, and J. W. Evans, "NASA quality assurance in an MBSE world," in 2020 Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium (RAMS). IEEE, Jan. 2020, pp. 1–6, doi: 10.1109/rams48030.2020.9153683.
- [54] D. B. Jepperson, "Using model based systems engineering and the systems modeling language to develop space mission area architectures," Master's thesis, Naval Postgraduate School, Sep. 2013, url: http://hdl.handle.net/10945/37644.
- [55] T. Nelson, J. M. Borky, and R. M. Sega, "System-of-systems quality attribute-based architectural alternatives," *IEEE Systems Journal*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 3844–3854, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.1109/jsyst.2019.2935984.
- [56] J. Bankauskaite, A. Morkevicius, and R. Butleris, "Early quality evaluation of system of systems architecture within trade study process," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 220858–220868, 2020, doi: 10.1109/access.2020.3043036.
- [57] E. Ovaska, A. Evesti, K. Henttonen, M. Palviainen, and P. Aho, "Knowledge based qualitydriven architecture design and evaluation," *Information and Software Technology*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 577–601, Jun. 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.infsof.2009.11.008.
- [58] O. M. Group, Semantics of a foundational subset for executable UML models, Object Management Group Std. Version 1.5, Jun. 2021, url: https://www.omg.org/spec/FUML/ About-FUML/.
- [59] Acquisition category (ACAT). url: https://acqnotes.com/acqnote/acquisitions/acquisitioncategory.
- [60] P. Moore. (2012, Nov.) Growing cost of rework creates multiple problems. Engineering News Record. url: https://www.enr.com/articles/2338.
- [61] F. P. Biery, "The effectiveness of weapon system acquisition reform efforts," *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 637–664, 1992, doi: 10.2307/3324960.

- [62] S. Watkins, "Perry urges sweeping acquisition reforms to emulate commercial world," *Inside the Pentagon*, vol. 9, no. 12, pp. 6–8, Mar. 1993, url: http: //www.jstor.org/stable/43989226.
- [63] K. Benson. (2009, Mar.) Reforming weapon systems acquisition. Center for American Progress. url: https://www.americanprogress.org/article/reforming-weapon-systemsacquisition/.
- [64] C. Müller-Bloch and J. Kranz, "A framework for rigorously identifying research gaps in qualitative literature reviews," in *Proceedings of the 36th International Conference on Information Systems*, Dec. 2015.
- [65] C. Preye Robert, "Understanding the concept of knowledge gap and knowledge expansion: A theoretical perspective," *Research Journali's Journal of Management*, vol. 7, pp. 78–92, Oct. 2020.
- [66] J. Rowley, "Using case studies in research," *Management Research News*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 16–27, Jan. 2002, doi: 10.1108/01409170210782990.
- [67] R. K. Yin, *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*, 5th ed. Sage Publishing, 2009.
- [68] W. Tellis, "Application of a case study methodology," *The Qualitative Report*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 1–19, Sep. 1997, doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/1997.2015.
- [69] P. Baxter and S. Jack, "Qualitative case study methodology: study design and implementation for novice researchers," *The Qualitative Report*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 544–559, Jan. 2008, doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/2008.1573.
- [70] R. Etemaadi, K. Lind, R. Heldal, and M. R. V. Chaudron, "Quality-driven optimization of system architecture: Industrial case study on an automotive sub-system," *Journal of Systems and Software*, vol. 86, no. 10, pp. 2559–2573, Oct. 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2013.05.109.

- [71] NASA Systems Engineering Handbook. National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 2016, no. NASA SP-2016-6105 Rev2.
- [72] G. Zhan, B. Ge, M. Li, and K. Yang, "A data-centric approach for model-based systems engineering," *Journal of Systems Science and Information*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 549–560, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1515/jssi-2015-0549.
- [73] S. Friedenthal, A. Moore, and R. Steiner, *A Practical Guide to SysML*, 3rd ed. Elsevier, 2015, doi: 10.1016/C2013-0-14457-1.
- [74] "INCOSE evaluation: systems modeling language (SysML)," Dec. 2005.
- [75] Z.-G. Tao, Y.-F. Luo, C.-X. Chen, M.-Z. Wang, and F. Ni, "Enterprise application architecture development based on DoDAF and TOGAF," *Enterprise Information Systems*, vol. 11, no. 5, pp. 627–651, Jul. 2017, doi: 10.1080/17517575.2015.1068374.
- [76] W. Rumbaugh. (2019, Nov.) A new generation of homeland missile defense interceptors. Center for Strategic & International Studies. url: https://www.csis.org/analysis/new-generation-homeland-missile-defense-interceptors.
- [77] T. Weilkiens, *Systems Engineering with SysML/UML*. Morgan Kaufmann, 2011.
- [78] L. Boggero, P. D. Ciampa, and B. Nagel, "An MBSE architectural framework for the agile definition of system stakeholders, needs and requirements," in *AIAA AVIATION 2021 Forum*, no. AIAA 2021-3076, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.2514/6.2021-3076.
- [79] IEEE, IEEE guide for information technology system definition concept of operations (ConOps) document, IEEE Std., Dec. 1998, doi: 10.1109/ieeestd.1998.89424.
- [80] J. D. Smith, D. H. Li, and M. R. Rafferty, "The implementation research logic model: a method for planning, executing, reporting, and synthesizing implementation projects," *Implementation Science*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 84–84, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.1186/s13012-020-01041-8.

- [81] F. Davidoff, M. Dixon-Woods, L. Leviton, and S. Michie, "Demystifying theory and its use in improvement," *BMJ Quality & Safety*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 228–238, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2014-003627.
- [82] S. C. Funnell and P. J. Rogers, Purposeful Program Theory: Effective Use of Theories of Change and Logic Models. John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- [83] M. Davies, "Concept mapping, mind mapping and argument mapping: what are the differences and do they matter?" *Higher Education*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 279–301, Nov. 2011, doi: 10.1007/s10734-010-9387-6.
- [84] D. Emsley, "Different interpretations of a "fixed" concept: Examining Juran's cost of quality from an actor-network perspective," *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 375–397, Mar. 2008, doi: 10.1108/09513570810863978.
- [85] J. A. Defeo, Juran's Quality Handbook: The Complete Guide to Performance Excellence,
 7th ed. New York, NY, USA: McGraw-Hill Education, 2017.
- [86] S. Bisgaard, "Quality management and Juran's legacy," *Quality Engineering*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 390–401, Sep. 2008, doi: 10.1080/08982110802317398.
- [87] M. Lowenborg. (2014, Oct.) QUALITY-BY-DESIGN quality-by-design: The good, the bad, the inevitable. Drug Development & Delivery. url: https://drug-dev.com/quality-bydesign-quality-by-design-the-good-the-bad-the-inevitable/.
- [88] F. Vanek, P. Jackson, and R. Grzybowski, "Systems engineering metrics and applications in product development: A critical literature review and agenda for further research," *Systems Engineering*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 107–124, 2008, doi: 10.1002/sys.20089.
- [89] ISO/IEC/IEEE international standard systems and software engineering-measurement process, IEEE Std., Apr. 2017, doi: 10.1109/ieeestd.2017.7907158.

- [90] B. A. Nejmeh and W. E. Riddle, "The PERFECT approach to experience-based process evolution," in *Advances in Computers*. Elsevier, 2006, vol. 66, pp. 173–238, doi: 10.1016/ s0065-2458(05)66005-6.
- [91] S. Anil, V. Manikanta, and A. R. Pallakury, "Unravelling the influence of subjectivity on ranking of CMIP6 based climate models: A case study," *International Journal of Climatol*ogy, vol. 41, no. 13, pp. 5998–6016, Nov. 2021, doi: 10.1002/joc.7164.
- [92] C. C. Clogg and E. S. Shihadeh, *Statistical Models for Ordinal Variables*. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications, 1994.
- [93] Z. He, F. T. S. Chan, and W. Jiang, "A quantum framework for modelling subjectivity in multi-attribute group decision making," *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, vol. 124, pp. 560–572, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.cie.2018.08.001.
- [94] D. Hubbard and D. Evans, "Problems with scoring methods and ordinal scales in risk assessment," *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 2:1–2:10, May 2010, doi: 10.1147/jrd.2010.2042914.
- [95] J. Annett, "Subjective rating scales: science or art?" *Ergonomics*, vol. 45, no. 14, pp. 966–987, Nov. 2002, doi: 10.1080/00140130210166951.
- [96] R. Garland, "A comparison of three forms of the semantic differential," *Marketing Bulletin*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 19–24, 1990.
- [97] G. Albaum, "The Likert scale revisited," *Market Research Society. Journal.*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 1–21, Mar. 1997, doi: 10.1177/147078539703900202.
- [98] Á. Rocha, "Framework for a global quality evaluation of a website," Online Information Review, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 374–382, Jun. 2012, doi: 10.1108/14684521211241404.
- [99] O. Friborg, M. Martinussen, and J. H. Rosenvinge, "Likert-based vs. semantic differentialbased scorings of positive psychological constructs: A psychometric comparison of two

versions of a scale measuring resilience," *Personality and Individual Differences*, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 873–884, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.08.015.

- [100] M. Norris, M. G. Aman, M. O. Mazurek, J. F. Scherr, and E. M. Butter, "Psychometric characteristics of the aberrant behavior checklist in a well-defined sample of youth with autism spectrum disorder," *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, vol. 62, pp. 1–9, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2019.02.001.
- [101] J. Stoklasa, T. Talášek, and J. Stoklasová, "Semantic differential for the twenty-first century: scale relevance and uncertainty entering the semantic space," *Quality & Quantity*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 435–448, May 2019, doi: 10.1007/s11135-018-0762-1.
- [102] P. Wiseman. (2016, May) 20 hours or 10,000 hours: which one make you subject matter expert? Alliance Calibration. url: https://www.alliancecalibration.com/blog/20-hours-or-10000-hours-what-does-it-take-to-become-a-subject-matter-expert.
- [103] "United states code, 2006 edition, supplement 5, title 5 government organization and employees," Jan. 2012.
- [104] J. Martin, M. Elg, I. Gremyr, and A. Wallo, "Towards a quality management competence framework: exploring needed competencies in quality management," *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, vol. 32, no. 3-4, pp. 359–378, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1080/14783363.2019.1576516.
- [105] D. Emery and M. W. Maier, *The Art of Systems Architecting*. Boca Raton, FL, USA: CRC Press, 2004.
- [106] F. Furman, A. Christensen, C. Fillinger, J. McLaughlin, and T. Britt, "Systems engineering of unmanned DoD systems: following the joint capabilities integration and development system/defense acquisition system process to develop an unmanned ground vehicle system," Naval Postgraduate School, Tech. Rep., Dec. 2015, url: https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/AD1009275.

- [107] O. Casse, SysML in Action with Cameo Systems Modeler. London: Elsevier, 2017, doi: 10.1016/c2016-0-00866-5.
- [108] R. Likert, "A technique for the measurement of attitudes," Archives of Psychology, 1932.
- [109] G. Norman, "Likert scales, levels of measurement and the "laws" of statistics," Advances in Health Sciences Education, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 625–632, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1007/s10459-010-9222-y.
- [110] R. Göb, C. McCollin, and M. F. Ramalhoto, "Ordinal methodology in the analysis of likert scales," *Quality & Quantity*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 601–626, Mar. 2007, doi: 10.1007/s11135-007-9089-z.
- [111] G. M. Sullivan and A. R. Artino, "Analyzing and interpreting data from likert-type scales," *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 541–542, Dec. 2013, doi: 10. 4300/jgme-5-4-18.
- [112] P. I. Louangrath, "Reliability and validity of survey scales," *International Journal of Research & Methodology in Social Science*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 50–62, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.5281/zenodo.1322695.
- [113] A. Joshi, S. Kale, S. Chandel, and D. Pal, "Likert scale: explored and explained," *British Journal of Applied Science & Technology*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 396–403, Jan. 2015, doi: 10. 9734/bjast/2015/14975.
- [114] J. Dawes, "Do data characteristics change according to the number of scale points used? an experiment using 5-point, 7-point and 10-point scales," *International Journal of Market Research*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 61–104, Jan. 2008, doi: 10.1177/147078530805000106.
- [115] D. Enzmann, W. B. Schaufeli, P. Janssen, and A. Rozeman, "Dimensionality and validity of the burnout measure," *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, vol. 71, no. 4, pp. 331–351, Dec. 1998, doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1998.tb00680.x.

- [116] J. Clements. (2020, Sep.) Principal components analysis explained. Towards Data Science. url: https://towardsdatascience.com/principal-components-analysis-explained-53f0639b2781.
- [117] T. J. Hastie and R. J. Tibshirani, *Generalized Additive Models*. Chapman and Hall/CRC, 2017.
- [118] J.-W. Park and M.-S. Jung, "A note on determination of sample size for a likert scale," *Communications for Statistical Applications and Methods*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 669–673, 2009, doi: 10.5351/CKSS.2009.16.4.669.
- [119] S. Y. Y. Chyung, K. Roberts, I. Swanson, and A. Hankinson, "Evidence-based survey design: the use of a midpoint on the likert scale," *Performance Improvement*, vol. 56, no. 10, pp. 15–23, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.1002/pfi.21727.
- [120] J. F. Lawless, *Statistical Models and Methods for Lifetime Data*. John Wiley & Sons, Nov. 2011, doi: 10.1002/9781118033005.
- [121] J. Lee, "Statistics, descriptive," in *International Encyclopedia of Human Geography*. Elsevier, 2020, pp. 13–20, doi: 10.1016/b978-0-08-102295-5.10428-7.
- [122] H.-Y. Kim, "Statistical notes for clinical researchers: assessing normal distribution (2) using skewness and kurtosis," *Restorative Dentistry & Endodontics*, vol. 38, no. 1, p. 52, 2013, doi: 10.5395/rde.2013.38.1.52.
- [123] V. Schoder, A. Himmelmann, and K. P. Wilhelm, "Preliminary testing for normality: some statistical aspects of a common concept," *Clinical and Experimental Dermatology*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 757–761, Nov. 2006, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2230.2006.02206.x.
- [124] S. S. Shapiro and M. B. Wilk, "An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples)," *Biometrika*, vol. 52, no. 3/4, p. 591, Dec. 1965, doi: 10.2307/2333709.

- [125] P. Royston, "Approximating the Shapiro-Wilk W-test for non-normality," Statistics and Computing, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 117–119, Sep. 1992, doi: 10.1007/bf01891203.
- [126] J. S. Long and J. Freese, Regression Models for Categorical Dependent Variables Using Stata, 3rd ed. Stata Press, 2014.
- [127] J. I. Marden, "Positions and QQ plots," *Statistical Science*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 606–614, Nov. 2004, doi: 10.1214/08834230400000512.
- [128] A. Hayes. (2022, Jan.) Multicollinearity. Investopedia. url: https://www.investopedia.com/ terms/m/multicollinearity.asp.
- [129] M. Tsagris and N. Pandis, "Multicollinearity," American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, vol. 159, no. 5, pp. 695–696, May 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.ajodo. 2021.02.005.
- [130] L. Zhang, D. Lu, and X. Wang, "Measuring and testing interdependence among random vectors based on Spearman's *ρ* and Kendall's *τ*," *Computational Statistics*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 1685–1713, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1007/s00180-020-00973-5.
- [131] I. T. Jolliffe, *Principal Component Analysis*, 2nd ed. Springer-Verlag, 2002, doi: 10.1007/ b98835.
- [132] H. Akoglu, "User's guide to correlation coefficients," *Turkish Journal of Emergency Medicine*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 91–93, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.tjem.2018.08.001.
- [133] D. J. Bartholomew, F. Steele, J. Galbraith, and I. Moustaki, *Analysis of Multivariate Social Science Data*. CRC Press, 2008.
- [134] L. R. Fabrigar, D. T. Wegener, R. C. MacCallum, and E. J. Strahan, "Evaluating the use of exploratory factor analysis in psychological research," *Psychological Methods*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 272–299, Sep. 1999, doi: 10.1037/1082-989x.4.3.272.

- [135] C. Michalopoulou, "Likert scales require validation before application another cautionary tale," *Bulletin of Sociological Methodology/Bulletin de Méthodologie Sociologique*, vol. 134, no. 1, pp. 5–23, Mar. 2017, doi: 10.1177/0759106317693786.
- [136] J. Bruin. (2011, Feb.) newtest: command to compute new test. UCLA: Statistical Consulting Group. url: https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/stata/ado/analysis/.
- [137] R. Pramoditha. (2021, Apr.) 11 dimensionality reduction techniques you should know in 2021. Towards Data Science. url: https://towardsdatascience.com/11-dimensionalityreduction-techniques-you-should-know-in-2021-dcb9500d388b.
- [138] D. Liu, T. Li, and P. Hu, "A new rough sets decision method based on PCA and ordinal regression," in *Rough Sets and Current Trends in Computing*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008, pp. 349–358, doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-88425-5_36.
- [139] P. Allsion. (2012, Sep.) When can you safely ignore multicollinearity? Statistical Horizons. url: https://statisticalhorizons.com/multicollinearity.
- [140] H. Abdi and L. J. Williams, "Principal component analysis," WIREs Computational Statistics, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 433–459, 2010, doi: 10.1002/wics.101.
- [141] B. D. Hill, "The sequential Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin procedure as an alternative for determining the number of factors in common-factor analysis: A Monte Carlo simulation," Ph.D. dissertation, Oklahoma State University, Jul. 2011, url: https://hdl.handle.net/11244/7431.
- [142] J. Madsen and R. Tabanera, "Bartlett's test applied to variance component models," Scandinavian Journal of Statistics, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 609–616, Sep. 2003.
- [143] B. Peterson and F. E. Harrell, "Partial proportional odds models for ordinal response variables," *Applied Statistics*, vol. 39, no. 2, p. 205, 1990, doi: 10.2307/2347760.
- [144] J. W. Osborne, *Regression & Linear Modeling: Best Practices and Modern Methods*. Sage Publications, 2016.

- [145] M. Mu, A. Mauthe, G. Tyson, and E. Cerqueira, "Statistical analysis of ordinal user opinion scores," in 2012 IEEE Consumer Communications and Networking Conference (CCNC). IEEE, Jan. 2012, pp. 331–336, doi: 10.1109/ccnc.2012.6181112.
- [146] C. R. Rao, "Karl Pearson chi-square test the dawn of statistical inference," in *Goodness-of-Fit Tests and Model Validity*. Birkhäuser Boston, 2002, pp. 9–24, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4612-0103-8_2.
- [147] C. J. Petrucci, "A primer for social worker researchers on how to conduct a multinomial logistic regression," *Journal of Social Service Research*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 193–205, Mar. 2009, doi: 10.1080/01488370802678983.
- [148] X.-J. Xie, J. Pendergast, and W. Clarke, "Increasing the power: A practical approach to goodness-of-fit test for logistic regression models with continuous predictors," *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 2703–2713, Jan. 2008, doi: 10.1016/j.csda.2007.09.027.
- [149] T. J. Smith and C. M. McKenna, "A comparison of logistic regression pseudo r² indices," *Multiple Linear Regression Viewpoints*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 17–29, 2013.
- [150] B. G. Tabachnick and L. S. Fidell, Using Multivariate Statistics, 5th ed. Pearson, 2007.
- [151] V. Voinov, "A note on Wald's type chi-squared tests of fit," *Communications in Statistics Theory and Methods*, vol. 44, no. 21, pp. 4622–4630, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1080/03610926. 2013.768668.
- [152] B. R. Frieden, *Physics from Fisher Information*. Cambridge University Press, 1998, doi: 10.1017/cbo9780511622670.
- [153] T. S. Rocco and M. S. Plakhotnik, "Literature reviews, conceptual frameworks, and theoretical frameworks: terms, functions, and distinctions," *Human Resource Development Review*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 120–130, Feb. 2009, doi: 10.1177/1534484309332617.

- [154] S. B. Merriam, A Guide to Research for Educators and Trainers of Adults, 2nd ed. Krieger Publishing Co., 1995.
- [155] J. K. Gershenson, G. J. Prasad, and Y. Zhang, "Product modularity: Definitions and benefits," *Journal of Engineering Design*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 295–313, Sep. 2003, doi: 10.1080/0954482031000091068.
- [156] K. T. Ulrich and S. D. Eppinger, *Product Design and Development*. McGraw Hill, 2004, ch. Product architecture, pp. 163–186.
- [157] F. M. Dambietz, C. Rennpferdt, M. Hanna, and D. Krause, "Using MBSE for the enhancement of consistency and continuity in modular product-service-system architectures," *Systems*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. 63, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.3390/systems9030063.
- [158] M. J. Gagliardi, W. Wood, and T. Morrow, "Introduction to the mission thread workshop," 2013, doi: 10.1184/R1/6574841.V1.
- [159] F. M. Seiler, M. Hanna, L.-N. Schwede, F. Laukotka, and D. Krause, "MBSE zur unterstützung der produktentwicklung von modularen produktarchitekturen," in *Produktentwicklung und Konstruktionstechnik*. Springer, 2020, pp. 111–134.
- [160] B. Liu and X. Wu, "Mission reliability analysis of missile defense system based on DODAF and Bayesian networks," in 2011 International Conference on Quality, Reliability, Risk, Maintenance, and Safety Engineering. IEEE, Jun. 2011, pp. 777–780, doi: 10.1109/icqr2mse.2011.5976725.
- [161] C. Y. Baldwin and K. B. Clark, *Design Rules*. Cambridge, MA, USA: MIT Press, 2000.
- [162] W. Reim, V. Parida, and D. Örtqvist, "Product–service systems (PSS) business models and tactics a systematic literature review," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 97, pp. 61–75, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.07.003.

- [163] C. Rennpferdt, E. Greve, and D. Krause, "The impact of modular product architectures in PSS design: a systematic literature review," *Procedia CIRP*, vol. 84, pp. 290–295, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.procir.2019.04.197.
- [164] C. Rennpferdt and D. Krause, "Life phases modularisation of product-service systems," *Proceedings of the Design Society*, vol. 1, pp. 1967–1976, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1017/pds. 2021.458.
- [165] M. S. S. Larsen, A.-L. Andersen, K. Nielsen, and T. D. Brunoe, "Modularity in productservice systems: literature review and future research directions," in *IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology*, 2018, pp. 150–158, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-99704-9_19.
- [166] D. Lempia, B. Schindel, T. Hrabik, S. McGill, and M. Graber, "Using visual diagrams and patterns for consistent and complete requirements," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 415–429, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2016.00169.x.
- [167] R. S. Carson, "Implementing structured requirements to improve requirements quality," *IN-COSE International Symposium*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 54–67, Oct. 2015, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2015.00048.x.
- [168] ISO/IEC/IEEE international standard systems and software engineering life cycle processes requirements engineering, IEEE Std., Nov. 2011, doi: 10.1109/ieeestd.2018.
 8559686.
- [169] Requirements Working Group, *Guide for writing requirements*, INCOSE Std., Apr. 2012.
- [170] A. Fornito, A. Zalesky, and E. Bullmore, "Node degree and strength," in *Fundamentals of Brain Network Analysis*. Elsevier, 2016, pp. 115–136, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-407908-3.00004-2.

- [171] K. Hölttä-Otto, N. A. Chiriac, D. Lysy, and E. S. Suh, "Comparative analysis of coupling modularity metrics," *Journal of Engineering Design*, vol. 23, no. 10-11, pp. 790–806, Jul. 2012, doi: 10.1080/09544828.2012.701728.
- [172] T. W. Simpson, T. Marion, O. de Weck, K. Ho"ltta"-Otto, M. Kokkolaras, and S. B. Shooter,
 "Platform-based design and development: current trends and needs in industry," in *Volume 1: 32nd Design Automation Conference, Parts A and B.* ASMEDC, Jan. 2006, pp. 801– 810, doi: 10.1115/detc2006-99229.
- [173] M. Sosa, J. Mihm, and T. Browning, "Degree distribution and quality in complex engineered systems," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 133, no. 10, Oct. 2011, doi: 10.1115/1.4004973.
- [174] T.-L. Yu, A. A. Yassine, and D. E. Goldberg, "An information theoretic method for developing modular architectures using genetic algorithms," *Research in Engineering Design*, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 91–109, Aug. 2007, doi: 10.1007/s00163-007-0030-1.
- [175] K. Benoit. (2011, Mar.) Linear regression models with logarithmic transformations. London School of Economics. url: https://kenbenoit.net/assets/courses/ME104/logmodels2.pdf.
- [176] E. Lesaffre, D. Rizopoulos, and R. Tsonaka, "The logistic transform for bounded outcome scores," *Biostatistics*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 72–85, Apr. 2006, doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/kxj034.
- [177] Y.-H. Chang and C.-H. Yeh, "A new airline safety index," *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 369–383, May 2004, doi: 10.1016/s0191-2615(03) 00047-x.
- [178] S. Bozóki, L. Csató, and J. Temesi, "An application of incomplete pairwise comparison matrices for ranking top tennis players," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol. 248, no. 1, pp. 211–218, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.ejor.2015.06.069.
- [179] A. Legarra, I. Aguilar, and I. Misztal, "A relationship matrix including full pedigree and genomic information," *Journal of Dairy Science*, vol. 92, no. 9, pp. 4656–4663, Sep. 2009, doi: 10.3168/jds.2009-2061.
- [180] (2012) DoDAF journal archives. U.S. Department of Defense. url: https://dodcio.defense. gov/Library/DoD-Architecture-Framework/dodaf20_journal_archives/.
- [181] A. H. Tilstra, C. Seepersad, and K. L. Wood, "Analysis of product flexibility for future evolution based on design guidelines and a high-definition design structure matrix," in *Volume 5: 35th Design Automation Conference, Parts A and B.* ASMEDC, Jan. 2009, doi: 10.1115/detc2009-87118.
- [182] J. B. Corbets, C. J. Willy, and J. E. Bischoff, "Evaluating system architecture quality and architecting team performance using information quality theory," *IEEE Systems Journal*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 1139–1147, Jun. 2018, doi: 10.1109/jsyst.2017.2647980.
- [183] Software development and documentation, Department of Defense Std. MIL-STD-498, Dec. 1994.
- [184] A. Loconsole and J. Borstler, "An industrial case study on requirements volatility measures," in 12th Asia-Pacific Software Engineering Conference (APSEC'05), 2005, doi: 10.1109/ apsec.2005.38.
- [185] M. Peña and R. Valerdi, "Characterizing the impact of requirements volatility on systems engineering effort," *Systems Engineering*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 59–70, Aug. 2015, doi: 10. 1111/sys.21288.
- [186] G. Booch, I. Jacobson, and J. Rumbaugh, *The Unified Modeling Language User Guide*. Reading, MA, USA: Addison-Wesley, 1999.
- [187] T. W. Olle, Information Systems Methodologies: A Framework for Understanding. Addison-Wesley, 1990.

- [188] D. Mažeika and R. Butleris, "Integrating security requirements engineering into MBSE: profile and guidelines," *Security and Communication Networks*, vol. 2020, pp. 1–12, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1155/2020/5137625.
- [189] M. Dahchour, "Definition and application of metaclasses," in *Database and Expert Systems Applications*, 2001, pp. 32–41.
- [190] H. Muhammad and R. Ierusalimschy, "C APIs in extension and extensible languages," *Journal of Universal Computer Science*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 839–853, Jan. 2007.
- [191] B. Flanagan and H. Ogata, "Integration of learning analytics research and production systems while protecting privacy," in 25th International Conference on Computers in Education, 2017, pp. 333–338.
- [192] P. Hopkin, Fundamentals of Risk Management. Kogan Page, 2017.
- [193] S. Vyas, "Joint polar satellite system (JPSS) ground system concept of operations," NASA/GSFC JPSS Program Configuration Management Office, Greenbelt, MD, USA, Tech. Rep. 474-00054E, 2019.
- [194] J. Foust. (2017, Jan.) JPSS-1 launch date slips again. SpaceNews. url: https: //spacenews.com/jpss-1-launch-date-slips-again/.
- [195] J. L. Hayden and A. Jeffries, "On using SysML, DoDAF 2.0 and UPDM to model the architecture for the NOAA's joint polar satellite system (JPSS) ground system (GS)," in *12th International Conference on Space Operations*, Jun. 2012.
- [196] R. Oosthuizen and C. Venter, "Implementing UPDM to develop command and control systems," in 21st International Command and Control Research and Technology Symposium, 2016.

- [197] A. G. Romero, K. Schneider, and M. G. V. Ferreira, "Semantics in space systems architectures," *Innovations in Systems and Software Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 27–40, Dec. 2015, doi: 10.1007/s11334-015-0267-1.
- [198] "JPSS level 1 requirements," NASA/GSFC JPSS Program Configuration Management Office, Greenbelt, MD, USA, Tech. Rep., 2019.
- [199] J. Crane, R. Morgenstern, and E. Parrott, "Vision for cross-center MSBE collaboration on the gateway program," 2020 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.1109/ aero47225.2020.9172809.
- [200] H. Yang, C. Zhan, H. Wu, C. Cui, and R. Hu, "Research on modeling of aircraft-level highlift system architecture based on SysML," *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, vol. 1827, no. 1, p. 012096, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/1827/1/012096.
- [201] D. Joannou and R. Kalawsky, "A novel "resilience viewpoint" to aid in engineering resilience in systems of systems (SoS)," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 835–849, Jul. 2018, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2018.00519.x.
- [202] Z. Fang, X. Zhou, and A. Song, "Architectural models enabled dynamic optimization for system-of-systems evolution," *Complexity*, vol. 2020, pp. 1–14, Feb. 2020, doi: 10.1155/ 2020/7534819.
- [203] R. Morgenstern, J. Hayden, and A. Jeffries, *Defining the Complex JPSS Ground System in Pieces Using DoDAF 2.0 as Implemented with UPDM*. AIAA SPACE 2012 Conference & Exposition, 2012, doi: 10.2514/6.2012-5256.
- [204] G. Mineart, "Joint polar satellite system (JPSS) program lexicon," NASA/GSFC JPSS Program Configuration Management Office, Greenbelt, MD, USA, Tech. Rep. 470-00041, Revision C, Jan. 2016.

- [205] ISO/IEC 9834-2014 Information technology Procedures for the operation of object identifier registration authorities — Part 8: Generation of universally unique identifiers (UUIDs) and their use in object identifiers, ISO Std., 2014.
- [206] I. Etikan, S. A. Musa, and R. S. Alkassim, "Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling," *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 1–4, 2016, doi: 10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11.
- [207] R. V. Hogg, J. McKean, and A. T. Craig, *Introduction to Mathematical Statistics*. Pearson Education, 2005.
- [208] M. J. Blanca, J. Arnau, D. López-Montiel, R. Bono, and R. Bendayan, "Skewness and kurtosis in real data samples," *Methodology*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 78–84, May 2013, doi: 10. 1027/1614-2241/a000057.
- [209] C.-H. Wu, "An empirical study on the transformation of likert-scale data to numerical scores," *Applied Mathematical Sciences*, vol. 1, no. 58, pp. 2851–2862, 2007.
- [210] S.-O. Leung, "A comparison of psychometric properties and normality in 4-, 5-, 6-, and 11-point likert scales," *Journal of Social Service Research*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 412–421, Jul. 2011, doi: 10.1080/01488376.2011.580697.
- [211] E. Huizingh, Applied Statistics with SPSS. SAGE Publications, 2007, doi: 10.4135/ 9781446249390.
- [212] N. M. Razali and Y. B. Wah, "Power comparisons of shapiro-wilk, kolmogorov-smirnov, lilliefors and anderson-darling tests," *Journal of Statistical Modeling and Analytics*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 21–33, 2011.
- [213] A. Alin, "Multicollinearity," Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 370–374, Mar. 2010, doi: 10.1002/wics.84.

- [214] R. X. Liu, J. Kuang, Q. Gong, and X. L. Hou, "Principal component regression analysis with SPSS," *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, vol. 71, no. 2, pp. 141–147, Jun. 2003, doi: 10.1016/s0169-2607(02)00058-5.
- [215] A. Aljandali, Multivariate Methods and Forecasting with IBM® SPSS® Statistics. Springer International Publishing, 2017, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-56481-4.
- [216] R. M. O'brien, "A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors," *Quality & Quantity*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 673–690, Mar. 2007, doi: 10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6.
- [217] Y. Zhang, G. Hoepfner, J. Berroth, G. Pasch, and G. Jacobs, "Towards holistic system models including domain-specific simulation models based on SysML," *Systems*, vol. 9, no. 4, p. 76, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.3390/systems9040076.
- [218] N. K. Malhotra, *Marketing Research: An Applied Orientation*, 5th ed. Pearson, 2007.
- [219] V. G. Goud and V. S. Puranik, "A multidimensional subjective scale development for exploring the application of change management practices to implement privatization policy," *IOSR Journal of Economics and Finance*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 27–39, 2016.
- [220] N. U. Hadia, N. Abdullah, and I. Sentosa, "An easy approach to exploratory factor analysis: marketing perspective," *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 215– 215, Jan. 2016, doi: 10.5901/jesr.2016.v6n1p215.
- [221] J. Pallant, SPSS Survival Manual, 6th ed. Routledge, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.4324/ 9781003117452.
- [222] D. Cozzolino, A. Power, and J. Chapman, "Interpreting and reporting principal component analysis in food science analysis and beyond," *Food Analytical Methods*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 2469–2473, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1007/s12161-019-01605-5.
- [223] M. Uchiyama, C. Egusa, A. Hobo, R. Irisawa, M. Yamazaki, and R. Tsuboi, "Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors in patients with rapidly progressive alopecia areata," *Journal*

of the American Academy of Dermatology, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 1163–1173, Dec. 2012, doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2012.06.006.

- [224] M. Sorine, Q. Zhang, T.-M. Laleg, and E. Crepeau, "Parsimonious representation of signals based on scattering transform," *IFAC Proceedings Volumes*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 12430– 12435, 2008, doi: 10.3182/20080706-5-kr-1001.02104.
- [225] A. Field, *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics*. Sage Publications, 2018.
- [226] D. Sharpe, "Chi-square test is statistically significant: now what?" *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, vol. 20, no. 1, p. 8, 2015, doi: 10.7275/tbfa-x148.
- [227] "Polar weather satellites," United States Government Accountability Office, Report to the Committee on Science, Space, and Technology, House of Representatives GAO-16-359, May 2016.
- [228] K. R. McCord, "Managing the integration problem in concurrent engineering," Master's thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, May 1993.
- [229] V. Srinivasan and A. D. Shocker, "Estimating the weights for multiple attributes in a composite criterion using pairwise judgments," *Psychometrika*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 473–493, Dec. 1973, doi: 10.1007/bf02291490.
- [230] "Operations in the UK: the defence contribution to resilience," Ministry of Defence The Development, Concepts and Doctrine Centre, Tech. Rep., Sep. 2007.
- [231] G. Coppini, E. Jansen, G. Turrisi, S. Creti, E. Y. Shchekinova, N. Pinardi, R. Lecci, I. Carluccio, Y. V. Kumkar, A. D'Anca, G. Mannarini, S. Martinelli, P. Marra, T. Capodiferro, and T. Gismondi, "A new search-and-rescue service in the Mediterranean Sea: a demonstration of the operational capability and an evaluation of its performance using real case scenarios," *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 16, no. 12, pp. 2713–2727, Dec. 2016, doi: 10.5194/nhess-16-2713-2016.

- [232] W. Xiong, P. H. A. J. M. van Gelder, and K. Yang, "A decision support method for design and operationalization of search and rescue in maritime emergency," *Ocean Engineering*, vol. 207, p. 107399, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.oceaneng.2020.107399.
- [233] N. Jia, Y. You, Y. Lu, Y. Guo, and K. Yang, "Research on the search and rescue systemof-systems capability evaluation index system construction method based on weighted supernetwork," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 97401–97425, 2019, doi: 10.1109/access.2019. 2929235.
- [234] C. Cai, J. Chen, and J. Lei, "A system modeling method of AUV swarms based on UPDM," in 2019 IEEE International Conference on Signal Processing, Communications and Computing (ICSPCC), Sep. 2019, pp. 1–4, doi: 10.1109/icspcc46631.2019.8960714.
- [235] J. Liesen and V. Mehrmann, "Matrices," in *Springer Undergraduate Mathematics Series*.
 Springer International Publishing, 2015, pp. 37–53, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-24346-7_4.
- [236] R. S. Carson, E. Aslaksen, G. Caple, P. Davies, R. Gonzales, R. Kohl, and A.-E.-K. Sahraoui, "5.1.3 requirements completeness," *INCOSE International Symposium*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 930–944, Jun. 2004, doi: 10.1002/j.2334-5837.2004.tb00546.x.
- [237] R. M. O'Brien, "The use of Pearson's with ordinal data," American Sociological Review, vol. 44, no. 5, p. 851, Oct. 1979, doi: 10.2307/2094532.
- [238] Y. Jabareen, "Building a conceptual framework: philosophy, definitions, and procedure," *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 49–62, Dec. 2009, doi: 10.1177/160940690900800406.
- [239] (2020, Sep.) Northrop Grumman will lead a nationwide team to deliver the ground based strategic deterrent program. Northrop Grumman. url: https://news.northropgrumman.com/ news/releases/northrop-grumman-awarded-contract-to-replace-aging-icbm-system.
- [240] A. T. Jebb, V. Ng, and L. Tay, "A review of key likert scale development advances: 1995–2019," *Frontiers in Psychology*, vol. 12, May 2021, doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.637547.

- [241] A. M. Hein, R. Karban, T. Weilkiens, M. Zamparelli, and R. Hauber, "Cookbook for MBSE with SysML," pp. 95–96, Jan. 2011, doi: 10.13140/2.1.4291.2324.
- [242] K. C. Scherr, C. J. Normile, S. J. Bierstetel, A. S. Franks, and I. Hawkins, "Knowingly but naively: The overpowering influence of innocence on interrogation rights decision-making." *Law and Human Behavior*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 26–36, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.1037/lhb0000265.
- [243] ISO/IEC/IEEE 42010:2011(e) (revision of ISO/IEC 42010:2007 and IEEE std 1471-2000), IEEE Std., Dec. 2011.
- [244] D. McComb. (2016, Sep.) The data-centric revolution: data-centric vs. data-driven. The Data Administration Newsletter. url: https://tdan.com/the-data-centric-revolution-datacentric-vs-data-driven/20288.
- [245] American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, "Diagrammatic."
- [246] (2003, May) SysML open source project what is SysML? who created it? SysML.org. url: https://sysml.org/.
- [247] *ISO/IEC/IEEE international standard systems and software engineering–vocabulary*, IEEE Std., 2010, doi: 10.1109/ieeestd.2017.8016712.
- [248] D. Borsboom and D. Molenaar, "Psychometrics," in *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*, N. J. Smelser and P. B. Baltes, Eds. Elsevier, 2015, pp. 418–422, doi: 10.1016/b978-0-08-097086-8.43079-5.
- [249] A. R. Jensen, "Psychometric g: definition and substantiation," in *The general factor of intelligence: how general is it?*, R. J. Sternberg and E. L. Grigorenko, Eds. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers, 2002, pp. 39–53.
- [250] J. W. Dean and D. E. Bowen, "Management theory and total quality: improving research and practice through theory development," *The Academy of Management Review*, vol. 19, no. 3, p. 392, Jul. 1994, doi: 10.2307/258933.

- [251] R. Sousa and C. A. Voss, "Quality management re-visited: a reflective review and agenda for future research," *Journal of Operations Management*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 91–109, Jan. 2002, doi: 10.1016/s0272-6963(01)00088-2.
- [252] A. Reichwein and C. J. J. Paredis, "Overview of architecture frameworks and modeling languages for model-based systems engineering," in *Volume 2: 31st Computers and Information in Engineering Conference, Parts A and B*, vol. 2. ASMEDC, Jan. 2011, doi: 10.1115/detc2011-48028.
- [253] ISO/IEC/IEEE International Standard Systems and Software Engineering-Life Cycle Management-Part 5: Software Development Planning, IEEE Std., Jun. 2017, doi: 10.1109/ IEEESTD.2017.7955095.
- [254] M. Jamshidi and A. P. Sage, Eds., System of Systems Engineering: Innovations for the 21st Century, ser. Wiley Series in Systems Engineering and Management. John Wiley & Sons, 2008, doi: 10.1002/9780470403501.
- [255] A. Caplinskas and O. Vasilecas, "Application of system engineering methods in information systems curricula development," in *Constructing the Infrastructure for the Knowledge Economy*, H. Linger, J. Fisher, W. Wojtkowski, W. G. Wojtkowski, J. Zupančič, K. Vigo, and J. Arnold, Eds. Springer US, 2004, pp. 649–660, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-4852-9_50.